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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This report contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties, such as statements related to future events, business strategy, future performance, future
operations, backlog, financial position, estimated revenues and losses, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management. All statements other than statements of
historical fact may be forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are often, but not always, identified by the use of words such as “seek,” “anticipate,” “plan,”
“continue,” “estimate,” “expect,” “may,” “will,” “project,” “predict,” “potential,” “target,” “intend,” “could,” “might,” “should,” “believe,” “outlook” and similar expressions
or their negative. Forward-looking statements should not be read as a guarantee of future performance or results, and will not necessarily be accurate indications of the times at,
or by, which such performance or results will be achieved. Forward-looking statements are based on management’s belief, based on currently available information, as to the
outcome and timing of future events. These statements involve estimates, assumptions, known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results
or events to differ materially from those expressed in such forward-looking statements. When evaluating forward-looking statements, you should consider the risk factors and
other cautionary statements described below under the heading “Risk Factors.” We believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements contained in this
report are reasonable, but no assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct. Important factors that could cause actual results or events to differ
materially from those expressed in forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to:
•

declines in public infrastructure construction and reductions in government funding, including the funding by transportation authorities and other state and local
agencies;

•

risks related to our operating strategy;

•

competition for projects in our local markets;

•

risks associated with our capital-intensive business;

•

government inquiries, requirements and initiatives, including those related to funding for public infrastructure construction, land usage, environmental, health and safety
matters, and governmental contracting requirements and other laws and regulations;

•

unfavorable economic conditions and restrictive financing markets;

•

our ability to successfully identify, manage and integrate acquisitions;

•

our ability to obtain sufficient bonding capacity to undertake certain projects;

•

our ability to accurately estimate the overall risks, requirements or costs when we bid on or negotiate contracts that are ultimately awarded to us;

•

the cancellation of a significant number of contracts or our disqualification from bidding for new contracts;

•

risks related to adverse weather conditions;

•

our substantial indebtedness and the restrictions imposed on us by the terms thereof;

•

our ability to maintain favorable relationships with third parties that supply us with equipment and essential supplies;

•

our ability to retain key personnel and maintain satisfactory labor relations;

•

property damage and other claims and insurance coverage issues;

•

the outcome of litigation or disputes, including employment-related, workers’ compensation and breach of contract claims;

•

risks related to our information technology systems and infrastructure, including cybersecurity incidents; and

•

our ability to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting.

These factors are not necessarily all of the important factors that could cause actual results or events to differ materially from those expressed in forward-looking statements.
Other unknown or unpredictable factors could also cause actual results or events to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements. Our future results
will depend upon various other risks and uncertainties, including those described under the heading “Risk Factors.” All forward-looking statements attributable to us are
qualified in their entirety by this cautionary statement. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date hereof. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forwardlooking statements after the date on which any such statement is made, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.
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PART I
Item 1. Business
Overview
We are a leading infrastructure company that specializes in the construction and maintenance of roadways across Alabama, Florida, Georgia, North Carolina and South
Carolina. Through our wholly owned subsidiaries, we provide a variety of products and services to both public and private infrastructure projects, with an emphasis on
highways, roads, bridges, airports, and commercial and residential developments. Consistent with our vertical integration strategy, our primary operations consist of (i)
manufacturing and distributing hot mix asphalt (“HMA”) for both internal use and sales to third parties in connection with construction projects, (ii) paving activities, including
the construction of roadway base layers and application of asphalt pavement, (iii) site development, including the installation of utility and drainage systems, (iv) mining
aggregates, such as sand and gravel, that are used as raw materials in the production of HMA, and (v) distributing liquid asphalt cement for both internal use and sales to third
parties in connection with HMA production.
The Company was formed as a Delaware corporation in 2007 as a holding company for its wholly owned subsidiary, Construction Partners Holdings, Inc., to facilitate an
acquisition growth strategy in the HMA paving and construction industry.
As used in this report, the terms “Company,” “we” and “us” refer to Construction Partners, Inc. and its subsidiaries, except when the context requires that those terms mean only
the parent company or a particular subsidiary.
2019 Fiscal Year Developments
•

Acquisitions of Asphalt Manufacturing and Paving Companies. In February 2019, we acquired an HMA and ready-mixed concrete business located in Okeechobee,
Florida. This transaction allowed us to serve new markets in south central Florida through an expanded geographic presence in the state. In July 2019, we acquired an
HMA manufacturing plant and paving company located near Gadsden, Alabama that complemented our existing operations in northeast Alabama.

•

Acquisition and Operation of Liquid Asphalt Terminal. In February 2019, we acquired a liquid asphalt terminal located in Panama City, Florida. The acquisition supports
our vertical integration strategy by facilitating our procurement, storage and distribution of a key input for the production of HMA. Through the terminal, we supply
liquid asphalt to a number of our HMA plants in the southern portion of our geographic footprint, including Florida, Alabama and Georgia. We also are able to blend onsite certain emulsions and polymer-modified asphalt required by some of our project contracts. To date, sales of liquid asphalt to third parties have not been material.

•

Amendment to Credit Agreement. In August 2019, we entered into an amendment to our existing Credit Agreement with BBVA USA (formerly known as Compass
Bank) dated June 30, 2017, as amended (the “BBVA Credit Agreement”). Among other things, the amendment: (i) reduced the baseline interest rate payable on both the
term loan and the revolving facility components of the credit relationship; (ii) established a four-tier escalating interest rate tied to our leverage ratio; (iii) reduced the
fees for letters of credit issued on our behalf and for unused balances on our revolving credit facility; (iv) reduced by half the quarterly principal repayments under the
term loan; and (v) amended certain financial covenants. No additional borrowings were made under the BBVA Credit Agreement in connection with the amendment. For
more information about the BBVA Credit Agreement and the amendment, see Note 11 - Debt to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report.

•

Secondary Offering of Class A Common Stock. In September 2019, certain stockholders of the Company (the “Selling Stockholders”) completed an underwritten
secondary offering (the “Secondary Offering”) of 5,000,000 shares of our Class A common stock at a public offering price of $14.25 per share. The Company did not
receive any proceeds from the sale of shares by the Selling Stockholders and, pursuant to a registration rights agreement with the Selling Stockholders, incurred
approximately $0.7 million in expenses in connection with the Secondary Offering. For more information about the Secondary Offering, see Note 12 - Equity to our
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report.

Our Industry
We operate in the large and growing highway and road construction industry and specifically within the asphalt paving materials and services segment. Asphalt paving mix is
the most common roadway material used today due to its cost effectiveness, durability and reusability, and minimized traffic disruption during paving, as compared to concrete.
Recent growth in our industry has been driven by federal, state and local Department of Transportation (“DOT”) budgets, which annually earmark amounts for transportation
and infrastructure spending. The federal Fixing America’s Surface Transportation Act (the “FAST Act”), which was signed into law in 2015, provides long-term funding for
surface transportation infrastructure planning and investment. Among other things, the FAST Act authorized $305 billion in federal expenditures over fiscal years 2016 through
2020 for highway, motor vehicle safety, public transportation, motor carrier safety, hazardous materials safety, rail, and research, technology, and statistics programs. In
addition to the FAST Act, certain states within our markets have in recent years approved legislation that will increase funding of transportation
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construction for local road, bridge and transit projects. The non-discretionary nature of highway and road construction services and materials supports stable and consistent
industry growth.
Projects and Customers
We provide construction products and services to both public and private infrastructure projects, with an emphasis on highways, roads, bridges, airports, and commercial and
residential sites in the southeastern United States. We provide a wide range of large sitework construction, including site development, paving, and utility and drainage systems
construction, and supply the HMA required for the projects. Our projects consist of both new construction and maintenance services. Publicly and privately funded projects
accounted for approximately 69.3% and 30.7% of our fiscal 2019 construction contract revenues, respectively. Our public customers include federal agencies, state DOTs and
local municipalities. Our private clients include commercial and residential developers and local businesses.
Our largest customers are state DOTs. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, the Alabama DOT and the North Carolina DOT accounted for 13.8% and 13.1% of our
revenues, respectively. Other than these customers, no other customer accounted for more than 10% of our revenues for such periods, and projects performed for all DOTs
accounted for 40.4% of our revenues. Our 25 largest projects accounted for 22.5% of our revenues for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019.
Types of Contracts
Our public customer contracts are primarily fixed unit price contracts. Pricing on a fixed unit price contract is typically based on approved quantities. Our private customer
contracts are primarily fixed total price contracts, also known as lump sum contracts, which require that the total amount of work be performed for a single price. We also
occasionally enter into design-build contracts, which generally are performed under fixed total price contracts. For the majority of our customer contracts, we receive our final
payment upon completion and final acceptance of the services that we were contracted to perform and delivery of the necessary contract closing documents, and our obligations
to the owner are complete at that point. For some contracts, we are required to furnish a warranty on our construction. These warranties, when required, are usually one year in
length, but can extend up to three years according to the owners’ specifications. Historically, warranty claims have not been material to our business.
Contract Management
We identify potential contracts through a variety of sources, including: (i) subscriber services that consolidate and alert us to contracts open for bidding; (ii) posted solicitations
by federal, state and local governmental entities through agency websites, disclosure of long-term infrastructure plans or advertising and other general solicitations; (iii) our
business development efforts; and (iv) communications with other participants in our industry. We consider several factors that can create variability in contract performance
and our financial results compared to our bid assumptions and methodologies on a contract. As a result, after determining the potential contracts that are available, we decide
which contracts to pursue based on a non-exclusive list of factors, which include relevant skills required by the contract, the contract size and duration, availability of our
personnel and equipment, size and makeup of our current contract backlog, our competitive advantages and disadvantages, our prior experience, the contracting agency or
customer, the source of contract funding, the geographic location, the likely competition, the construction risks, the gross margin opportunities, the penalties or incentives and
the type of contract.
To ensure the completeness and accuracy of our original bid analysis, the bid preparation for potential projects typically involves three phases.
•

Phase One: We review the plans and specifications of the project so that we can identify (i) the various types of work involved and related estimated materials, (ii) the
contract duration and schedule, and (iii) any unique or risky aspects of the project.

•

Phase Two: We estimate the cost and availability of labor, materials and equipment, subcontractors and the project team required to complete the contract in accordance
with the plans, specifications and construction schedule. Substantially all of our estimates are made on a per-unit basis for each bid item, with the typical contract
containing 50 to 200 bid items.

•

Phase Three: Management conducts a detailed review of the estimate. This review includes an analysis of assumptions regarding (i) cost, approach, means and methods
of completing the project, (ii) staffing and productivity and (iii) risk. After concluding this detailed review of the cost estimate, management determines the appropriate
profit margin to calculate the total bid amount. This profit amount varies according to management’s perception of the degree of difficulty of the contract, the existing
competitive climate, and the size and makeup of our contract backlog. Throughout this process, we work closely with our project managers so that all issues concerning a
contract, including any risks, can be better understood and addressed as appropriate.

To ensure that subcontracting costs used in submitting bids for construction contracts do not change, we obtain firm quotations from our subcontractors before submitting a bid.
Also, to mitigate the risk of material price changes, we obtain “not to exceed” quotations

3

Table of Contents
from our suppliers, which, for projects of longer duration, usually contain price escalator provisions. These quotations typically include quantity guarantees that are tied to our
prime contract. We have no obligation for materials or subcontract services beyond those required to complete the respective contracts that we are awarded for which quotations
have been provided.
After a contract has been awarded and during the construction phase, we monitor our progress by comparing actual costs incurred and quantities completed to date with
budgeted amounts and the project schedule. Monthly, we review our estimate of total forecasted revenue, cost and expected profit for each contract.
During the normal course of some projects, we or our customer may initiate modifications or changes to the original contract to reflect, among other things, changes in
quantities, specifications or design, method or manner of performance, facilities, materials, site conditions and period for completion of the work. Generally, the scope and price
of these modifications are documented in a “change order” to the original contract and reviewed, approved and paid for in accordance with the normal change order provisions
of the contract. Occasionally, we are asked to perform extra or change order work as directed by the customer even if the customer has not agreed in advance on the scope or
price of the work to be performed. This process may result in disputes over whether the work performed is beyond the scope of the work included in the original contract plans
and specifications or, even if the customer agrees that the work performed qualifies as extra work, the price that the customer is willing to pay for the extra work. These disputes
may not be settled to our satisfaction. Even when the customer agrees to pay for the extra work, we may be required to fund the cost of such work for an extended period of time
until the change order is approved and funded by the customer. In addition, any delay caused by the extra work may adversely impact the timely scheduling of other work on the
contract (or on other contracts) and our ability to meet contract milestone dates. Historically, we have been successful at managing the impacts caused by change orders, and
change orders have not had a material adverse effect on our business.
Most of our contracts with governmental agencies provide for termination at the convenience of the customer, with requirements to pay us for work performed through the date
of termination. The termination of a government contract for the convenience of the customer is an extremely rare occurrence. Many of our contracts contain provisions that
require us to pay liquidated damages if specified completion schedule requirements are not met. Historically, we have not been materially adversely affected by liquidated
damages provisions.
We act as prime contractor on most of our construction projects. As prime contractor, we are responsible for the performance of the entire contract, including subcontract work.
To manage the risk of non-performance by our subcontractors, we typically require the subcontractor to furnish a bond or other type of security to guarantee its performance
and/or we retain payments in accordance with contract terms until their performance is complete. Disadvantaged business enterprise regulations require us to use our good faith
efforts to subcontract a specified portion of contract work done for governmental agencies to certain types of disadvantaged contractors or suppliers.
Contract Backlog
At September 30, 2019, our contract backlog was $531.6 million, compared to $594.4 million at September 30, 2018. Contract backlog is a financial measure that generally
reflects the dollar value of work that the Company expects to perform in the future. Although contract backlog is not a term recognized under generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States (“GAAP”), it is a common measure used in our industry. We generally include a construction project in our contract backlog at the time it is
awarded and to the extent we believe funding is probable. Our backlog consists of uncompleted work on contracts in progress and contracts for which we have executed a
contract but have not commenced the work. For uncompleted work on contracts in progress, we include (i) executed change orders, (ii) pending change orders for which we
expect to receive confirmation in the ordinary course of business and (iii) claims that we have made against our customers for which we have determined we have a legal basis
under existing contractual arrangements and as to which we consider collection to be probable. Backlog of uncompleted work on contracts in progress was $481.1 million and
$528.4 million at September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Our backlog also includes low bid/no contract jobs, which consist of (i) public bid jobs for which we were the low bidder and no contract has been executed and (ii) private
work jobs for which we have been notified that we are the low bidder or have been given a notice to proceed, but no contract has been executed. Low bid/no contract backlog
was $50.5 million and $66.0 million at September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. At September 30, 2019, we expect approximately 82% of our contract backlog will be
completed during the next 12 months.
Certain customer contracts contain options that are exercisable at the discretion of our customer to award additional work to us, without requiring us to go through an additional
competitive bidding process. In addition, some customer contracts also contain task orders that are signed under master contracts pursuant to which we perform work only when
the customer awards specific task orders to us. Awarded contracts that include unexercised contract options and unissued task orders are included in contract backlog to the
extent that such options are exercised or the issuance of such task orders is probable.
Substantially all of the contracts in our contract backlog, as well as unexercised contract options and unissued task orders, may be canceled or modified at the election of the
customer. Historically, we have not experienced material amounts of contract cancellations
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or modifications. Many projects are added to our contract backlog and completed within the same fiscal year and therefore may not be reflected in our beginning or year-end
contract backlog. Contract backlog does not include external sales of HMA, aggregates, and liquid asphalt cement.
Insurance and Bonding
We maintain general and excess liability, property, workers’ compensation and medical insurance, all in amounts consistent with industry practice.
In the ordinary course of our business, we are required to provide various types of surety bonds that provide an additional measure of security to the customer for our
performance under certain public and private sector contracts. Our ability to obtain surety bonds depends on our capitalization, working capital, past performance, management
expertise and external factors, including the capacity of the overall surety market. Surety companies consider such factors in light of the amount of our contract backlog that we
have bonded and their underwriting standards. The capacity of the surety market is subject to market-based fluctuations driven primarily by the level of surety industry losses
and the degree of surety market consolidation.
Competition
We compete against multiple competitors in all of the markets in which we operate. Competition is constrained in our industry because participants are limited by the distance
that materials can be efficiently transported, resulting in a fragmented market with thousands of participants nationwide, many of which are local or regional operators. Our
competitors typically range from small, family-owned companies focused on a single material, product or market to multinational corporations that offer a wide array of
construction materials, products and paving and related services. We believe that we are well-positioned to compete effectively in the markets in which we operate.
Seasonality
The activity of our business fluctuates due to seasonality because our business is primarily conducted outdoors. Therefore, seasonal changes and other weather-related
conditions, in particular extended snowy, rainy or cold weather in the winter, spring or fall and major weather events, such as hurricanes, tornadoes, tropical storms and heavy
snows, can adversely affect our business and operations through a decline in both the use of our products and the demand for our services. In addition, construction materials
production and shipment levels follow activity in the construction industry, which typically occurs in the spring, summer and fall. Warmer and drier weather during our third
and fourth fiscal quarters typically result in higher activity and revenues during those quarters. Our first and second fiscal quarters typically have lower levels of activity due to
adverse weather conditions. Our third fiscal quarter varies greatly with spring rains and wide temperature variations. A cool, wet spring increases drying time on projects, which
can delay sales in the third fiscal quarter, while a warm, dry spring may facilitate earlier project commencement dates.
Sources and Availability of Raw Materials
We purchase raw materials, including, but not limited to, diesel fuel, liquid asphalt, other petroleum-based resources, sand and rock from numerous sources. With few
exceptions, we do not enter into long-term agreements to purchase raw materials. We receive quotes from suppliers, most with a “not to exceed” price for the quoted product
over the life of a project. In the HMA production process, components of a mix include virgin aggregates, such as sand and rock, liquid asphalt, and reclaimed asphalt pavement
(“RAP”). We are able to internally supply RAP, a byproduct of asphalt resurfacing projects, to all of our HMA plants, and virgin aggregates in some of our market areas. The
majority of our HMA plants sit in or near suppliers’ rock quarries, thereby reducing the hauling cost of material to our plant. The price and availability of raw materials may
vary from year to year due to market conditions and production capacities. We do not expect a lack of availability of any raw materials over the next 12 months.
Government and Environmental Regulations
Our operations are subject to stringent and complex federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the environmental, health and safety aspects of our operations or
otherwise relating to environmental protection. These laws and regulations impose numerous obligations and limitations on our operations, including:
•

requirements to obtain a permit or other approval before conducting regulated activities;

•

restrictions on the types, quantities and concentration of materials that can be released into the environment;

•

limitation or prohibition of activities on certain lands lying within wilderness, wetlands, and other protected areas;

•

requirements to comply with specific health and safety criteria addressing worker protection; and

•

the imposition of substantial liabilities for pollution resulting from our operations.
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Such federal laws include (i) the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Pollution Prevention Act and the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and
Liability Act, governing solid and hazardous waste management, (ii) the Clean Air Act and the Clean Water Act, protecting air and water resources, and (iii) the Emergency
Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act and Toxic Substances Control Act, governing the management of hazardous materials, in addition to analogous state laws.
Numerous governmental authorities, such as the Environmental Protection Agency and corresponding state agencies, have the power to enforce compliance with these laws and
regulations and the permits issued under them. Such enforcement actions often involve difficult and costly compliance measures or corrective actions. Failure to comply with
these laws and regulations may result in the assessment of sanctions, including administrative, civil or criminal penalties, compensatory damages, the imposition of
investigatory or remedial obligations, and the issuance of orders limiting or prohibiting some or all of our operations. In addition, we may experience delays in obtaining, or be
unable to obtain, required permits, which may delay or interrupt our operations and limit our growth and revenue.
Certain environmental laws impose strict liability (i.e., no showing of “fault” is required) as well as joint and several liability for costs required to remediate and restore sites
where hazardous substances, hydrocarbons or solid wastes have been stored or released. We may be required to remediate contaminated properties currently or formerly owned
or operated by us, regardless of whether such contamination resulted from the conduct of others or from the consequences of our own actions that complied with applicable
laws at the time those actions were taken. In connection with certain acquisitions, we could assume, or be required to provide indemnification against, environmental liabilities
that could expose us to material losses. Furthermore, the existence of contamination at properties we own, lease or operate could result in increased operational costs or
restrictions on our ability to use those properties as intended, including for mining purposes.
In certain instances, citizen groups also have the ability to bring legal proceedings against us if we are not in compliance with environmental laws, or to challenge our ability to
receive environmental permits that we need to operate. In addition, claims for damages to persons or property, including natural resources, may result from the environmental,
health and safety impacts of our operations. Our insurance may not cover all environmental risks and costs or may not provide sufficient coverage if an environmental claim is
made against us. Moreover, public interest in the protection of the environment has increased dramatically in recent years. The trend of more expansive and stringent
environmental legislation and regulations applied to the construction industry could continue, resulting in increased costs of doing business and consequently affecting
profitability.
We have incurred, and may in the future incur, significant capital and operating expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations. To the extent that laws are enacted or
other governmental action is taken that restricts our operations or imposes more stringent and costly operating, waste handling, disposal and cleanup requirements, our business,
prospects, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
We regularly monitor and review our operations, procedures, and policies for compliance with our operating permits and related laws and regulations. We believe that our
operations and facilities, whether owned or leased, are in substantial compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations and that any existing non-compliance is not
likely to have a material adverse effect on our operations or financial condition.
Industrial operations, including equipment maintenance and storage, asphalt manufacturing and processing, underground storage tank usage, and other storage and use of
hazardous materials and petroleum products, have been and/or are conducted at our facilities for, in some cases, more than 50 years. While we have conducted our operations in
substantial compliance with applicable environmental laws, we have, from time to time, identified contamination associated with these activities at certain of our facilities. We
have incurred costs for the investigation and remediation of hazardous substances and petroleum products identified at several facilities, and investigation and remediation
activities are ongoing at others. We may also become subject to similar liabilities in connection with prior and future acquisitions. We do not believe that liabilities associated
with known or potential contamination at any of our facilities will have a material adverse effect on our operations or financial condition.
Employees
As of September 30, 2019, we employed 628 salaried employees and 1,661 hourly employees. The total number of hourly personnel is subject to the volume of projects in
progress and fluctuates on a seasonal basis. During fiscal year 2019, the number of hourly employees ranged from 1,483 to 1,661 employees and averaged 1,558 employees.
We are not subject to any collective bargaining agreements with respect to any of our employees. We believe that we have strong relationships with our employees.
Our business is dependent upon a readily available supply of management, supervisory and field personnel. Attracting, training and retaining key personnel has been and will
remain critical to our success. Through the use of our management information systems, on-the-job training, and educational seminars, employees are trained to understand the
importance of project execution. We place additional focus on training related to estimating, project management and project cost control. Our crews typically specialize in a
specific phase of construction, such as grading or paving, with each crew member assigned to a specific task in order to maximize daily production. A core tenet of our
organizational philosophy is to promote from within and offer advancement opportunities at all levels of employment, which helps us retain talented employees. Moreover, we
proactively recruit additional talent in both conventional and creative manners to fill open positions when promoting internally is not an option. Like others in our industry, we
experience some
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recurring employee turnover; however, we historically have been able to attract sufficient numbers of personnel to support the growth of our operations. Nonetheless, we
continue to face competition for experienced workers in all of our markets.
We place a great emphasis on the safety of the public, our customers and our employees. To that end, we conduct extensive safety training programs, which have allowed us to
maintain a high safety level at our worksites. All newly-hired employees undergo an initial safety orientation, and for certain types of projects and processes, we conduct
specific hazard training programs. Our project foremen and superintendents conduct on-site safety meetings, and our full-time safety inspectors make random site safety
inspections and perform assessments. In addition, certain operational employees are required to complete a safety course approved by the Occupational Safety and Health
Administration (“OSHA”) or the Mine Safety and Health Administration (“MSHA”), as applicable. Moreover, we promote a culture of safety by encouraging employees to
immediately correct and report all unsafe conditions.
Website Information
The Company maintains a website at www.constructionpartners.net. Certain corporate governance information, filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”) and other information of potential interest to our stockholders are available free of charge through the “Investors” page of the Company’s website. These include, for
example, our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). These documents are made available as soon as reasonably practicable after
they are filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. Information on, or accessible through, the Company’s website is not part of or incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
We have included the website address only as an inactive textual reference and do not intend for it to be an active link to the website. We will provide electronic or paper copies
of our periodic and current reports to stockholders free of charge upon written request to: Construction Partners, Inc., Attention: Corporate Secretary, 290 Healthwest Drive,
Suite 2, Dothan, Alabama 36303.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.
An investment in our Class A common stock involves risks. You should carefully read and consider the following risks, as well as all of the other information contained in this
report, before making an investment decision. Our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected by any of these risks. As a
result, the trading price of our Class A common stock could decline, and you could lose all or part of your investment. The risks described below are not the only ones facing
us. Additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently consider immaterial also may adversely affect us.
Risks Related to our Business
A significant slowdown or decline in economic conditions, particularly in the southeastern United States, could adversely impact our results of operations.
We currently operate in Alabama, Florida, Georgia, North Carolina and South Carolina. A significant slowdown or decline in economic conditions or uncertainty regarding the
economic outlook in the United States generally, or in any of these states particularly, could result in reduced demand for infrastructure projects, which could materially
adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and liquidity. Demand for infrastructure projects depends on the overall condition of the national and local
economies, the need for new or replacement infrastructure, the priorities placed on various projects funded by governmental entities and federal, state and local government
spending levels. In particular, low tax revenues, credit rating downgrades, budget deficits and financing constraints, including timing and amount of federal funding and
competing governmental priorities, could negatively impact the ability of government agencies to fund existing or new public infrastructure projects. For example, during the
most recent recession, decreases in tax revenues reduced funding for infrastructure projects. In addition, any instability in the financial and credit markets could negatively
impact our customers’ ability to pay us on a timely basis, or at all, for work on projects already in progress, could cause our customers to delay or cancel construction projects in
our contract backlog and/or could create difficulties for customers to obtain adequate financing to fund new construction projects, including through the issuance of municipal
bonds.
Our business is dependent on federal, state and local government spending for public infrastructure construction, and reductions in government funding could adversely
affect our results of operations.
During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, we generated approximately 69.3% of our construction contract revenues from publicly funded construction projects at the
federal, state and local levels. As a result, if publicly funded construction decreases due to reduced federal, state or local funding or otherwise, our financial condition, results of
operations and liquidity could be materially adversely affected.
Federal highway bills provide spending authorizations that represent maximum amounts. Each year, Congress passes an appropriation act establishing the amount that can be
used for particular programs. The annual funding level is generally tied to receipts of highway user taxes placed in the Highway Trust Fund (as defined in the FAST Act). Once
Congress passes the annual appropriation, the federal government distributes funds to each state based on formulas or other procedures. States generally must spend these funds
on the
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specific programs outlined in the federal legislation. In recent years, the Highway Trust Fund has faced insolvency as outlays have outpaced revenues. Annual shortfalls have
been addressed primarily by short-term measures, including the transfer of funds from the General Fund (as defined in the FAST Act) into the Highway Trust Fund. As a result,
we cannot be assured of the existence, timing or amount of future federal highway funding. Any reduction in federal highway funding, particularly in the amounts allocated to
Alabama, Florida, Georgia, North Carolina and South Carolina, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
Each state funds its infrastructure spending from specially allocated amounts collected from various taxes, typically fuel taxes and vehicle fees, as well as from voter-approved
bond programs. Shortages in state tax revenues can reduce the amount spent on state infrastructure projects. Delays in state infrastructure spending can adversely affect our
business. Many states have experienced state-level funding pressures caused by lower tax revenues and an inability to finance approved projects. Prior to the FAST Act, states
took on a larger role in funding sustained infrastructure investment. Recently, many states have again taken on a significantly larger role in funding infrastructure investment,
including initiating special-purpose taxes and increased fuel taxes.
While the current administration has announced an infrastructure stimulus plan, we cannot predict the impact, if any, that it or other proposed changes in law and regulations
may have on our business.
We derive a significant portion of our revenues from state DOTs. The loss of our ability to competitively bid for certain projects or successfully contract with state DOTs
could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Our largest customers are state DOTs. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, the Alabama DOT and the North Carolina DOT accounted for 13.8% and 13.1% of our
revenues, respectively, and projects performed for all DOTs accounted for 40.4% of revenues. We believe that we will continue to rely on state DOTs for a substantial portion of
our revenues for the foreseeable future. The loss or reduction of our ability to competitively bid for certain projects or successfully contract with a state DOT could have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operation and liquidity. See Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies, Concentration of Risks, to the consolidated
financial statements for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019 included elsewhere in this report, for information relating to concentrations of revenues by type of customer
and for a description of our largest customers.
Government contracts generally are subject to a variety of governmental regulations, requirements and statutes, the violation or alleged violation of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business.
During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, approximately 69.3% of our construction contract revenues were derived from contracts funded by federal, state and local
governmental agencies. Our contracts with these governmental agencies are generally subject to specific procurement regulations, contract provisions and a variety of
socioeconomic requirements relating to their formation, administration, performance and accounting and often include express or implied certifications of compliance. Further,
government contracts typically provide for termination at the convenience of the customer with requirements to pay us for work performed through the date of termination. We
may be subject to claims for civil or criminal fraud for actual or alleged violations of these various governmental regulations, requirements or statutes. In addition, we may also
be subject to qui tam litigation brought by private individuals on behalf of the government under the federal False Claims Act, which could include claims for treble damages.
Further, if we fail to comply with any of these various governmental regulations, requirements or statutes, or if we have a substantial number of accumulated OSHA, MSHA or
other workplace safety violations, our existing government contracts could be terminated, and we could be suspended from government contracting or subcontracting, including
federally funded projects at the state level. Even if we have not violated these various governmental regulations, requirements or statutes, allegations of violations or defending
qui tam litigation could harm our reputation and require us to incur material costs to defend any such allegations or lawsuits. Should one or more of these events occur, it could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and liquidity.
If we do not comply with certain federal or state laws, we could be suspended or debarred from government contracting, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business.
Various laws to which our operations are subject, including the Davis-Bacon Act (regulating wages and benefits), the Walsh-Healy Public Contracts Act (prescribing a
minimum wage and regulating overtime and working conditions), Executive Order 11246 (establishing equal employment opportunity and affirmative action requirements) and
the Drug-Free Workplace Act, provide for mandatory suspension and/or debarment of contractors in certain circumstances involving statutory violations. In addition, the
Federal Acquisition Regulation and various state statutes provide for discretionary suspension and/or debarment in certain circumstances, including as a result of being
convicted of, or being found civilly liable for, fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain or performing a public contract or subcontract. The
scope and duration of any suspension or debarment may vary depending upon the facts of a particular case and the statutory or regulatory grounds for debarment. Any
suspension or debarment from government contracting could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.
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If we are unable to accurately estimate the overall risks, revenues or costs on our projects, we may incur contract losses or achieve lower profits than anticipated.
Pricing on a fixed unit price contract is based on approved quantities irrespective of our actual costs, and contracts with a fixed total price require that the work be performed for
a single price irrespective of our actual costs. We only generate profits on fixed unit price and fixed total price contracts when our revenues exceed our actual costs, which
requires us to accurately estimate our costs, to control actual costs and to avoid cost overruns. If our cost estimates are too low or if we do not perform the contract within our
cost estimates, then cost overruns may cause us to incur a loss or cause the contract not to be as profitable as we expected. The costs incurred and profit realized, if any, on our
contracts can vary, sometimes substantially, from our original projections due to a variety of factors, including, but not limited to:
•

the failure to include materials or work in a bid, or the failure to estimate properly the quantities or costs needed to complete a fixed total price contract;

•

delays caused by weather conditions or otherwise failing to meet scheduled acceptance dates;

•

contract or project modifications or conditions creating unanticipated costs that are not covered by change orders;

•

changes in the availability, proximity and costs of materials, including liquid asphalt cement, aggregates and other construction materials, as well as fuel and lubricants
for our equipment;

•

to the extent not covered by contractual cost escalators, variability in, and our inability to predict, the costs of diesel fuel, liquid asphalt and cement;

•

the availability and skill level of workers;

•

the failure by our suppliers, subcontractors, designers, engineers or customers to perform their obligations;

•

fraud, theft or other improper activities by our suppliers, subcontractors, designers, engineers, customers or our own personnel;

•

mechanical problems with our machinery or equipment;

•

citations issued by a government authority, including OSHA or MSHA citations;

•

difficulties in obtaining required government permits or approvals;

•

changes in applicable laws and regulations;

•

uninsured claims or demands from third parties for alleged damages arising from the design, construction or use and operation of a project of which our work is part; and

•

public infrastructure customers seeking to impose contractual risk-shifting provisions that result in increased risks to us.

These and other factors may cause us to incur losses, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.
Because our industry is capital-intensive and we have significant fixed and semi-fixed costs, our profitability is sensitive to changes in volume.
The property, plants and equipment needed to produce our products and provide our services can be very expensive. We must spend a substantial amount of capital to purchase
and maintain such property, plants and equipment. Although we believe our current cash balance, along with our projected internal cash flows and available financing sources,
will provide sufficient cash to support our currently anticipated operating and capital needs, if we are unable to generate sufficient cash to purchase and maintain the property,
plants and equipment necessary to operate our business, we may be required to reduce or delay planned capital expenditures or to incur additional indebtedness. In addition, due
to the level of fixed and semi-fixed costs associated with our business, particularly at our HMA production facilities, volume decreases could have a material adverse effect on
our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.
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The cancellation of a significant number of contracts, our disqualification from bidding for new contracts and the unpredictable timing of new contracts could have a
material adverse effect on our business.
We could be prohibited from bidding on certain government contracts if we fail to maintain qualifications required by those entities. In addition, government contracts typically
can be canceled at any time, with us receiving payment only for the work completed. The cancellation of an unfinished contract, or our disqualification from the bidding
process, could result in lost revenues and cause our equipment to be idled for a significant period of time until other comparable work becomes available. In addition, the timing
of project awards is unpredictable and outside of our control. Project awards, including expansions of existing projects, often involve complex and lengthy negotiations and
competitive bidding processes.
The success of our business depends, in part, on our ability to execute on our acquisition strategy, to successfully integrate acquired businesses and to retain key employees
of acquired businesses.
Since our inception, we have acquired and integrated 20 complementary businesses, which have contributed to a significant portion of our growth. We continue to evaluate
strategic acquisition opportunities that have the potential to support and strengthen our business, including acquisitions in states in the southeastern United States, as part of our
ongoing growth strategy. We expect to evaluate, negotiate and enter into acquisition transactions on an ongoing basis in the future. We expect to regularly make non-binding
acquisition proposals, and we may enter into non-binding, confidential letters of intent from time to time in the future. We cannot predict the timing or size of any future
acquisitions. To successfully acquire a significant target, we may need to raise additional equity and/or incur additional indebtedness, which could increase our leverage level.
There can be no assurance that we will enter into definitive agreements with respect to any contemplated transaction or that any contemplated transaction will be completed. The
investigation of acquisition candidates and the negotiation, drafting and execution of relevant agreements, disclosure documents and other instruments require substantial
management time and attention and costs for accountants, attorneys and others. If we fail to complete any acquisition for any reason, including events beyond our control, the
costs incurred up to that point for the proposed acquisition likely would not be recoverable.
Acquisitions typically require integration of the acquired company’s estimation, project management, finance, information technology, risk management, purchasing and fleet
management functions. We may be unable to successfully integrate an acquired business into our existing business, and an acquired business may not be as profitable as we had
expected or at all. Our inability to successfully integrate new businesses in a timely and orderly manner could increase costs, reduce profits or generate losses. Factors affecting
the successful integration of an acquired business include, but are not limited to, the following:
•

we may become liable for certain liabilities of an acquired business, whether or not known to us, which could include, among others, tax liabilities, product and other
tort liabilities, breach of contract claims, environmental liabilities, permitting and regulatory compliance issues and liabilities for employment practices;

•

we may not be able to retain local managers and key employees who are important to the operations of an acquired business;

•

substantial attention from our senior management and the management of an acquired business may be required, which could decrease the time that they have to service
and attract customers;

•

we may not effectively utilize new equipment that we acquire through acquisitions;

•

the complete integration of an acquired company depends, to a certain extent, on the full implementation of our financial and management information systems, business
practices and policies; and

•

we may actively pursue a number of opportunities simultaneously and we may encounter unforeseen expenses, complications and delays, including difficulties in
employing sufficient staff and maintaining operational and management oversight.

Acquisitions involve risks that the acquired business will not perform as expected and that our expectations concerning the value, strengths and weaknesses of the acquired
business will prove incorrect. In addition, potential acquisition targets may be in states in which we do not currently operate, which could result in unforeseen operating
difficulties and difficulties in coordinating geographically dispersed operations, personnel and facilities. In addition, if we enter into new geographic markets, we may be subject
to additional and unfamiliar legal and regulatory requirements.
We cannot guarantee that we will achieve synergies and cost savings in connection with future acquisitions. Many of the businesses that we previously acquired, and businesses
that we may acquire in the future, could have unaudited financial statements that are prepared by management and are not independently reviewed or audited. We cannot
guarantee that such financial statements would not be materially different if such statements were independently reviewed or audited. We cannot guarantee that we will
continue to acquire businesses at valuations consistent with our prior acquisitions or that we will complete future acquisitions at all. We cannot guarantee that there will be
attractive acquisition opportunities at reasonable prices, that financing will be available or that we can successfully integrate acquired businesses into our existing operations. In
addition, our results of operations from these acquisitions
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could, in the future, result in impairment charges for any of our intangible assets, including goodwill or other long-lived assets, particularly if economic conditions worsen
unexpectedly. Our inability to effectively manage the integration of our completed and future acquisitions could prevent us from realizing expected rates of return on an
acquired business and could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.
We may lose business to competitors that underbid us, and we may be unable to compete favorably in our highly competitive industry.
Most of our project awards are determined through a competitive bidding process in which price is the determining factor. Because of the high cost of transporting HMA, our
ability to win a project award is often influenced by the distance between a work site and our HMA plants. We compete against multiple competitors in all of the markets in
which we operate, most of which are local or regional operators. Some of our competitors are larger than we are, are vertically integrated and/or have similar or greater financial
resources than we do. As a result, our competitors may be able to bid at lower prices than we can due to the location of their plants or as a result of their size or vertical
integration advantages. Government funding for public infrastructure projects is limited, thus contributing to competition for the limited number of public projects available. An
increase in competition may result in a decrease in new project awards to us at acceptable profit margins. In addition, in the event of a downturn in private residential and
commercial construction, the competition for available public infrastructure projects could intensify, which could materially and adversely impact our financial condition,
results of operations or liquidity.
We may be unable to obtain or maintain sufficient bonding capacity, which could materially adversely affect our business.
A significant number of our contracts require performance and payment bonds. Our ability to obtain performance and payment bonds primarily depends upon our capitalization,
working capital, past performance, management expertise, reputation and certain external factors, including the overall capacity of the surety market. If we are unable to renew
or obtain a sufficient level of bonding capacity in the future, we may be precluded from bidding on certain projects or successfully contracting with certain customers. In
addition, even if we are able to successfully renew or obtain performance or payment bonds, we may be required to post letters of credit in connection with such bonds, which
could negatively affect our liquidity and results of operations.
It is standard for sureties to issue or continue bonds on a project-by-project basis, and they can decline to do so at any time or require the posting of additional collateral as a
condition thereto. Events that adversely affect the insurance and bonding markets generally may result in bonding becoming more difficult or costly to obtain in the future. If
we were to experience an interruption or reduction in the availability of our bonding capacity as a result of these or any other reasons, or if bonding costs were to increase, we
may be unable to compete for certain projects that require bonding, which would materially and adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.
Our business is seasonal and subject to adverse weather conditions, which can adversely impact our business.
Our construction operations occur outdoors. As a result, seasonal changes and adverse weather conditions can adversely affect our business operations through a decline in both
the use and production of HMA, a decline in the demand for our construction services and alterations and delays in our construction schedules. Adverse weather conditions,
such as extended snowy, rainy or cold weather in the winter, spring or fall can reduce demand for our products and reduce sales or render our contracting operations less
efficient, resulting in under-utilization of crews and equipment and lower contract profitability. Major weather events, such as hurricanes, tornadoes, tropical storms and heavy
snows, could also adversely affect our revenues and profitability.
We depend on information technology, and our systems and infrastructure face certain risks, including cybersecurity risks and data leakage risks.
We are dependent on information technology systems and infrastructure that could be damaged or interrupted by a variety of factors. Any significant breach, breakdown,
destruction or interruption of these systems by employees, others with authorized access to our systems or unauthorized persons has the potential to negatively affect our
operations. There is also a risk that we could experience a business interruption, theft of information or reputational damage as a result of a cyber attack, such as the infiltration
of a data center, or data leakage of confidential information either internally or at our third-party providers. Although we have invested in the protection of our data and
information technology to reduce these risks and periodically test the security of our information systems network, there can be no assurance that our efforts will prevent
breakdowns or breaches in our systems that could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.
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Design-build contracts subject us to the risk of design errors and omissions.
Design-build contracts are used as a method of project delivery that provides the owner with a single point of responsibility for both design and construction. We generally
subcontract design responsibility to architectural and engineering firms. However, in the event of a design error or omission that causes damages, there is a risk that the
subcontractor and/or its errors and omissions insurance would not be able to absorb the full amount of the liability incurred. In this case, we may be responsible for the liability,
resulting in a potentially material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity.
From time to time, we enter into joint venture contracts to perform certain projects, and these arrangements expose us to certain risks and uncertainties that are outside of
our control.
From time to time, we perform construction projects as part of a joint venture, under which our relationship to the other joint venture partners is governed by a written contract.
Participation in these arrangements exposes us to risks and uncertainties, including the risk that if our partners fail to perform under joint and several liability contracts, we could
be liable for completion of the entire contract. In addition, if our partners are not able or willing to provide their share of capital investment to fund the operations of the venture,
there could be unanticipated costs to complete the project, or we could be liable for financial penalties or liquidated damages. In the event that we are not the controlling partner
in the joint venture, we may have limited control over the decisions made with respect to the project. The occurrence of any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect
on our financial position, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity.
Our continued success requires us to hire, train and retain qualified personnel and subcontractors in a competitive industry.
The success of our business depends on our ability to attract, train and retain qualified, reliable personnel, including, but not limited to, our executive officers and key
management personnel. In addition, we rely on engineers, project management personnel, and other employees and qualified subcontractors who possess the necessary and
required experience and expertise to perform their respective services at a reasonable and competitive rate. Competition for these and other experienced personnel is intense,
and it may be difficult to attract and retain qualified individuals with the requisite expertise and within the time frame demanded by our customers. In certain geographic areas,
for example, we may not be able to satisfy the demand for our services because of our inability to successfully hire, train and retain qualified personnel. Also, it could be
difficult to replace personnel who hold credentials that may be required to perform certain government projects and/or who have significant government contract experience.
As some of our executives and other key personnel approach retirement age, we must provide for smooth transitions, which may require that we devote time and resources to
identify and integrate new personnel into vacant leadership roles and other key positions. If we are unable to attract and retain a sufficient number of skilled personnel or
effectively implement appropriate succession plans, our ability to pursue projects and our strategic plan may be adversely affected, the costs of executing both our existing and
future projects may increase, and our financial performance may decline.
In addition, the cost of providing our services, including the extent to which we utilize our workforce, affects our profitability. For example, the uncertainty of contract award
timing can present difficulties in matching our workforce size with our contracts. If an expected contract award is delayed or not received, we could incur costs resulting from
excess staff or redundancy of facilities that could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We depend on third parties for equipment and supplies essential to operate our business.
We rely on third parties to sell or lease properties, plants and equipment to us and to provide us with supplies, including liquid asphalt cement, aggregates and other construction
materials (such as stone, gravel and sand), necessary for our operations. We cannot assure you that our favorable working relationships with our suppliers will continue in the
future. In addition, there have historically been periods of supply shortages in our industry.
The inability to purchase or lease the properties, plants or equipment that are necessary for our operations could severely impact our business. If we lose our supply contracts
and receive insufficient supplies from third parties to meet our customers’ needs, or if our suppliers experience price increases or disruptions to their business, such as labor
disputes, supply shortages or distribution problems, our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.
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We consume natural gas, electricity, diesel fuel, liquid asphalt and other petroleum-based resources that are subject to potential reliability issues, supply constraints and
significant price fluctuations.
In our production and distribution processes, we consume significant amounts of natural gas, electricity, diesel fuel, liquid asphalt and other petroleum-based resources. The
availability and pricing of these resources are subject to market forces that are beyond our control, such as unavailability due to refinery turnarounds, higher prices charged for
petroleum-based products, and other factors. Furthermore, we are vulnerable to any reliability issues experienced by our suppliers, which also are beyond our control. Our
suppliers contract separately for the purchase of such resources, and our sources of supply could be interrupted if our suppliers are unable to obtain these materials due to higher
demand or other factors that interrupt their availability. Additionally, increases in the costs of fuel and other petroleum-based products utilized in our operations, particularly
increases following a bid based on lower costs for such products, could result in a lower profit, or a loss, on a contract. Variability in the supply and prices of these resources
could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.
Our contract backlog is subject to reductions in scope and cancellations and therefore could be an unreliable indicator of our future earnings.
At September 30, 2019, our contract backlog was $531.6 million, compared to $594.4 million at September 30, 2018. Our contract backlog generally consists of construction
projects for which we either have an executed contract or commitment with a client or have submitted the current low bid. Contract backlog does not include external sales of
HMA, aggregates, and liquid asphalt cement. Moreover, our contract backlog reflects our expected revenues from the contract, commitment or bid, which is often subject to
revision over time. We cannot guarantee that the revenues projected in our contract backlog will be realized or, if realized, will be profitable. Projects reflected in our contract
backlog may be affected by project cancellations, scope adjustments, time extensions or other changes. Such changes may adversely affect the revenues and profit we ultimately
realize on these projects.
Failure of our subcontractors to perform as expected could have a negative impact on our results.
We rely on third-party subcontractors to perform some of the work on many of our contracts, but we are ultimately responsible for the successful completion of their work.
Although we seek to require bonding or other forms of guarantees from our subcontractors, we are not always able to obtain such bonds or guarantees. In situations where we
are unable to obtain a bond or guarantee, we may be responsible for the failures on the part of our subcontractors to perform as anticipated, resulting in a potentially adverse
impact on our cash flows and liquidity. In addition, if the total costs of a project exceed our original estimates, we could experience reduced profits or a loss for that project,
which could have an adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity.
The construction services industry is highly schedule-driven, and our failure to meet the schedule requirements of our contracts could adversely affect our reputation
and/or expose us to financial liability.
In some instances, including in the case of many of our fixed unit price contracts, we guarantee that we will complete a project by a certain date. Any failure to meet the
contractual schedule or satisfy the completion requirements set forth in our contracts could subject us to responsibility for costs resulting from the delay, generally in the form
of contractually agreed-upon liquidated damages, liability for our customer’s actual costs arising out of our delay, reduced profits or a loss on that project, and/or damage to our
reputation, any of which could have a material adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity.
An inability to secure sufficient aggregate reserves could have a negative impact on our future results of operations.
Strict governmental regulations and the limited number of properties containing useful aggregate reserves have made it increasingly challenging and costly to obtain sufficient
aggregates to support our business, both with respect to internal use and third-party sales. If we are unable to obtain adequate reserves to support our business, then our
financial position, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity may be adversely affected.
Force majeure events, such as natural disasters and terrorist attacks, and unexpected equipment failures could negatively impact our business, which may affect our
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
Force majeure events, such as terrorist attacks or natural disasters, have impacted, and could continue to negatively impact, the United States economy and the markets in which
we operate. As an example, from time to time, we face unexpected severe weather conditions, evacuation of personnel and curtailment of services, increased labor and material
costs or shortages, inability to deliver materials, equipment and personnel to work sites in accordance with contract schedules and loss of productivity. We seek to include
language in our contracts with private customers that grants us certain relief in connection with force majeure events, and we attempt to mitigate the potential impact arising
from force majeure events in both public and private customer contracts. However, the extra costs incurred as a result of these events may not be reimbursed by our customers,
and we remain obligated to perform our services after most extraordinary events, subject to any relief that may be available pursuant to a force majeure clause.

13

Table of Contents
Additionally, our manufacturing processes depend on critical pieces of equipment, such as our HMA plants. This equipment, on occasion, may be out of service as a result of
unanticipated failures or damage. Any significant interruption in production capability may require us to make significant capital expenditures to remedy problems or damage
and cause us to lose revenues due to lost production time.
These force majeure events may affect our operations or those of our customers or suppliers and could impact our revenues, production capability and ability to complete
contracts in a timely manner.
A failure to obtain or maintain adequate insurance coverage could adversely affect our results of operations.
We have obtained and maintain insurance coverage as part of our overall risk management strategy and pursuant to requirements contained in our financing agreements and in a
majority of our contracts to maintain specific types and amounts of coverage. Although we have been able to obtain reasonably priced insurance coverage to meet our
requirements in the past, there is no assurance that we will be able to do so in the future. For example, catastrophic events can result in decreased coverage limits, more limited
coverage, and increased premium costs or deductibles. If we are unable to obtain adequate insurance coverage, we may not be able to procure certain contracts, which could
materially adversely affect our financial position, results of operations, cash flows or liquidity.
We could incur material costs and losses as a result of claims that our products do not meet regulatory requirements or contractual specifications.
We provide our customers with products designed to comply with building codes or other regulatory requirements, as well as any applicable contractual specifications,
including, but not limited to, durability, compressive strength and weight-bearing capacity. If our products do not satisfy these requirements and specifications, material claims
may arise against us, our reputation could be damaged and, if any such claims are for an uninsured, non-indemnified or product-related matter, then resolution of such claim
against us could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.
We are, and may continue to be, involved in routine litigation and government inquiries in the ordinary course of business.
Due to the nature of our business, we are, and may continue to be, involved in routine litigation or subject to other disputes or claims related to our business activities, including,
among other things, workers compensation claims, employment-related disputes and liability issues or breach of contract or tortious conduct in connection with the performance
of services and provision of materials. We and our affiliates are also subject to government inquiries in the ordinary course of business seeking information concerning our
compliance with government construction contracting requirements and various laws and regulations, the outcome of which cannot be predicted with certainty. The outcomes of
these inquiries and legal proceedings are not expected to have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations on an individual basis, although adverse
outcomes in a significant number of such ordinary course inquiries and legal proceedings could, in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and
results of operations.
Environmental laws and regulations and any changes to, or liabilities arising under, such laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition, results of operations and liquidity.
Our operations are subject to stringent and complex federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the discharge of materials into the environment or otherwise relating
to environmental protection and public health and safety. These laws and regulations impose numerous obligations applicable to our operations, including requirements to
obtain a permit or other approval before conducting regulated activities; restrictions on the types, quantities and concentration of materials that can be released into the
environment; limitations on activities on certain lands lying within wilderness, wetlands, and other protected areas; and assessments of substantial liabilities for pollution
resulting from our operations. For example, a number of governmental bodies have finalized, proposed or are contemplating legislative and regulatory actions to reduce
emissions of greenhouse gases, such as monitoring, reporting and emissions control requirements for certain large sources of greenhouse gases and greenhouse gas cap-andtrade programs. Because we emit greenhouse gases through the manufacture of HMA products and through the combustion of fossil fuels as part of our mining and road
construction services, any such laws and regulations applicable to jurisdictions in which we operate could require us to incur costs to reduce greenhouse gas emissions associated
with our operations.
We may be required to remediate contaminated properties currently or formerly owned or operated by us or third-party facilities that received waste generated by our
operations, regardless of whether such contamination resulted from our own actions or those of others and whether such actions complied with applicable laws at the time they
were taken. In connection with certain acquisitions, we could assume, or be required to provide indemnification against, environmental liabilities that could expose us to
material losses. Furthermore, the existence of contamination at properties that we own, lease or operate could result in increased operational costs or restrictions on our ability to
use those properties as intended, including for mining purposes.
Numerous government authorities, such as the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) and analogous state agencies, have the power to enforce compliance with
these laws and the permits issued under them. Such enforcement actions often involve difficult

14

Table of Contents
and costly compliance measures or corrective actions. Certain environmental laws impose strict liability (i.e., no showing of “fault” is required) or joint and several liability for
costs required to remediate and restore sites where hazardous substances, hydrocarbons or solid wastes have been stored or released. Failure to comply with these laws and
regulations may result in the assessment of sanctions, including administrative, civil or criminal penalties, compensatory damages, the imposition of investigatory or remedial
obligations, and the issuance of orders limiting or prohibiting some or all of our operations. In addition, we may experience delays in obtaining, or be unable to obtain, required
permits, which may delay or interrupt our operations and limit our growth and revenue.
In certain instances, citizen groups also have the ability to bring legal proceedings against us if we are not in compliance with environmental laws, or to challenge our ability to
receive environmental permits that we need to operate. In addition, claims for damages to persons or property, including natural resources, may result from the environmental,
health and safety impacts of our operations. Our insurance may not cover all environmental risks and costs or may not provide sufficient coverage if an environmental claim is
made against us. Moreover, public interest in the protection of the environment has increased dramatically in recent years. The trend of more expansive and stringent
environmental legislation and regulations applied to our industry could continue, resulting in increased costs of doing business and, consequently, affecting profitability.
Our operations are subject to special hazards that may cause personal injury or property damage, subjecting us to liabilities and possible losses that may not be covered by
insurance.
Operating hazards inherent in our business, some of which may be outside of our control, can cause personal injury and loss of life, damage to or destruction of property, and
environmental damage. We maintain insurance coverage in amounts and against risks that we believe are consistent with industry practice, but this insurance may be inadequate
or unavailable to cover all losses or liabilities we may incur in our operations. Our insurance policies are subject to varying levels of deductibles. Losses up to our deductible
amounts are accrued based upon our estimates of the ultimate liability for claims incurred and an estimate of claims incurred but not reported. However, liabilities subject to
insurance are difficult to estimate due to unknown factors, including the severity of an injury, the determination of our liability in proportion to other parties, the number of
unreported incidents and the effectiveness of our safety programs. If we were to experience insurance claims or costs above our estimates, we may be required to use working
capital to satisfy these claims rather than for maintaining or expanding our operations.
Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition and prevent us from fulfilling our obligations.
Each of our subsidiaries is party to the BBVA Credit Agreement. The BBVA Credit Agreement, as amended October 1, 2019, provides for a $54.7 million term loan (the “Term
Loan”) and a $30.0 million revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”). We guarantee the obligations under the Term Loan and the Revolving Credit Facility. A
significant portion of our cash flow will be required to pay interest and principal on our outstanding indebtedness, and we may be unable to generate sufficient cash flow from
operations, or have future borrowings available, to enable us to repay our indebtedness or to fund other liquidity needs. Among other consequences, this level of indebtedness
could:
•

require us to use a significant percentage of our cash flow from operations for debt service and the repayment obligations, and any such cash flow would not be available
for other purposes;

•

limit our ability to borrow money or issue equity to fund our working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and debt service requirements;

•

cause our interest expense to increase if there is a general increase in interest rates, because a portion of our indebtedness bears interest at floating rates;

•

limit our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business and future business opportunities;

•

cause us to be more highly leveraged than some of our competitors, which may place us at a competitive disadvantage;

•

make us more vulnerable to a downturn in our business or the economy; and

•

limit our ability to exploit business opportunities.

Despite our substantial indebtedness, we and our subsidiaries may still be able to incur additional debt. This could reduce our ability to satisfy our current obligations and
further exacerbate the risks to our financial condition described above.
At September 30, 2019, we had $44.7 million outstanding under the Term Loan and $5.0 million outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility. In addition, we and our
subsidiaries may be able to incur significant additional indebtedness in the future, and we may do so, among other reasons, to fund acquisitions as part of our growth strategy.
Although the BBVA Credit Agreement contains restrictions on our ability to incur additional indebtedness, these restrictions are subject to a number of qualifications and
exceptions, and we could incur substantial additional indebtedness in compliance with these restrictions.
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The BBVA Credit Agreement restricts our ability to engage in some business and financial transactions.
The BBVA Credit Agreement contains a number of covenants that limit our and our subsidiaries’ ability to: incur additional indebtedness or guarantees; create liens on assets;
change our or our subsidiaries’ fiscal year; enter into sale and leaseback transactions; enter into certain restrictive agreements; engage in mergers or consolidations; participate in
partnerships and joint ventures; sell assets; incur additional liens; pay dividends or distributions and make other restricted payments; make investments, loans or advances; repay
or amend the terms of subordinated indebtedness; make acquisitions; enter into certain operating leases; enter into certain hedge transactions; amend material contracts; and
engage in certain transactions with affiliates.
The BBVA Credit Agreement also requires us to maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio and a consolidated leverage ratio and contains certain customary representations and
warranties, affirmative covenants and events of default (including, among others, an event of default upon a change of control). If an event of default occurs, the lenders under
the BBVA Credit Agreement will be entitled to accelerate amounts due thereunder and take other actions permitted to be taken by a secured creditor. If our indebtedness is
accelerated, we cannot be certain that we will have sufficient funds available to pay the accelerated indebtedness or that we will have the ability to refinance the accelerated
indebtedness on terms favorable to us or at all.
We may need to raise additional capital in the future for working capital, capital expenditures and/or acquisitions, and we may not be able to do so on favorable terms or at
all, which could impair our ability to operate our business or achieve our growth objectives.
Our ongoing ability to generate cash is important for funding our continuing operations, making acquisitions and servicing our indebtedness. To the extent that existing cash
balances and cash flow from operations, together with borrowing capacity under our Revolving Credit Facility, are insufficient to make investments or acquisitions or provide
needed working capital, we may require additional financing from other sources. Our ability to obtain such additional financing in the future will depend in part on prevailing
market conditions, as well as conditions in our business and our operating results. Furthermore, if global economic, political or other market conditions adversely affect the
financial institutions that provide credit to us, it is possible that our ability to draw upon our Revolving Credit Facility may be impacted. If adequate funds are not available, or
are not available on acceptable terms, we may not be able to make certain investments, take advantage of acquisitions or other opportunities, or respond to competitive
challenges, each of which could have a material adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity.
We may be unable to identify and contract with qualified “disadvantaged business enterprises” to perform as subcontractors, which could cause us to breach certain
contracts with governmental customers.
Some of our contracts with governmental agencies contain minimum “disadvantaged business enterprise” (“DBE”) participation clauses, which require us to maintain a
requisite level of DBE participation. If we fail to obtain or maintain the required level of DBE participation, we could be held responsible for breach of contract. Such a breach
could impair our ability to bid on future projects and could require us to pay monetary damages. To the extent that we are responsible for monetary damages, the total costs
of the project could exceed our original estimates, we could experience reduced profits or a loss for that project and there could be a material adverse impact to our financial
position, results of operations, cash flows or liquidity.
Failure to maintain safe work sites could result in significant losses, which could materially affect our business and reputation.
Because our employees and others are often in close proximity with mechanized equipment, moving vehicles, chemical substances and dangerous manufacturing processes, our
construction and maintenance sites are potentially dangerous workplaces. Therefore, safety is a primary focus of our business and is critical to our reputation and performance.
Many of our customers require that we meet certain safety criteria to be eligible to bid on contracts, and some of our contract fees or profits are subject to satisfying safety
criteria. Unsafe work conditions also can increase employee turnover, which increases project costs and therefore our overall operating costs. If we fail to implement effective
safety procedures, our employees could be injured, and we could be exposed to investigations and possible litigation. Our failure to maintain adequate safety standards through
our safety programs could also result in reduced profitability or the loss of projects or clients, and could have a material adverse impact on our financial position, results of
operations, cash flows or liquidity.
We may be required to record an impairment charge if we determine that goodwill recorded in connection with prior acquisitions has become impaired, and this
determination requires us to make significant judgments and assumptions about the future that are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties.
At September 30, 2019 and 2018, we had $38.5 million and $32.9 million, respectively, of goodwill recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We assess goodwill for
impairment annually or more often if required. Our assessments involve a number of estimates and assumptions that are inherently subjective and require significant judgment
regarding highly uncertain matters that are subject to change. The use of different assumptions or estimates could materially affect the determination as to whether or not an
impairment has occurred. In addition, if future events are less favorable than what we assumed or estimated in our impairment analysis, we may be required to record an
impairment charge, which could have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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Our earnings are affected by the application of accounting standards and our critical accounting policies, which involve subjective judgments and estimates by our
management. Our actual results could differ from the estimates and assumptions used to prepare our consolidated financial statements.
The accounting standards that we use in preparing our financial statements are often complex and require us to make significant estimates and assumptions in interpreting and
applying those standards. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported values of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. We
make critical estimates and assumptions involving accounting matters, including with respect to revenue recognition, contracts receivable including retainage, valuation of longlived assets and goodwill, income taxes, accrued insurance costs and share-based payments and other equity transactions. These estimates and assumptions involve matters that
are inherently uncertain and require us to make subjective and complex judgments. If we used different estimates and assumptions or used different ways to determine these
estimates, our financial results could differ, which could have a material negative impact on our financial condition and reported results of operations. For more information
about our critical accounting policies and use of estimates, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical Accounting
Policies and Estimates.”
Accounting for our revenues and costs involves significant estimates that may result in material adjustments, which could result in a charge against our earnings.
As further described in “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” under Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,
accounting for our contract-related revenues and costs, as well as other expenses, requires management to make a variety of significant estimates and assumptions. Although we
believe we have the experience and processes to enable us to formulate appropriate assumptions and produce reasonably dependable estimates, these assumptions and estimates
may change significantly in the future and could result in the reversal of previously recognized revenues and profit. Such changes could have a material adverse effect on our
financial position and results of operations.
Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock
The dual class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with SunTx Capital Partners (“SunTx”) and its affiliates, which limits your
ability to influence corporate matters.
Our Class B common stock has ten votes per share, and our Class A common stock has one vote per share. As of December 11, 2019, our outstanding Class B common stock,
held almost exclusively by SunTx, its affiliates and certain members of management, represented approximately 85.4% of the total voting power of our outstanding common
stock. Because of the ten-to-one voting ratio between our Class B common stock and our Class A common stock, the holders of our Class B common stock collectively control
a majority of the combined voting power of our common stock and therefore control the outcome of all matters submitted to our stockholders. This concentrated control limits
or precludes your ability to influence corporate matters for the foreseeable future.
Future transfers of shares of our Class B common stock generally will result in those shares converting into shares of our Class A common stock, subject to limited exceptions,
such as certain transfers to permitted transferees. The conversion of shares of our Class B common stock into our Class A common stock will have the effect, over time, of
increasing the relative voting power of each remaining share of Class B common stock.
We have incurred, and expect to continue to incur, substantial costs as a result of being a public company, which may significantly affect our financial condition.
As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company, including costs associated with our public company
reporting requirements. We also incur costs associated with corporate governance requirements, including requirements under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “SarbanesOxley Act”) and the Dodd-Frank Act of 2010 and rules implemented by the SEC. These rules and regulations have increased our legal and financial compliance costs and have
made some activities more time-consuming and costly. For example, as a result of becoming a publicly traded company, we were required to adopt policies regarding internal
controls and disclosure controls and procedures, including the preparation of reports on internal control over financial reporting. These rules and regulations have made, and
may continue to make, it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced policy limits and
coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. As a result, it may be more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified individuals to serve
on our board of directors or as executive officers.
After we are no longer an “emerging growth company” under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the “JOBS Act”), we expect to incur significant additional expenses and
devote substantial management effort toward ensuring compliance with those requirements applicable to companies that are not emerging growth companies, including
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“Section 404”).
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For so long as we are an “emerging growth company,” we will not be required to comply with certain disclosure requirements that are applicable to other public
companies, and the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies could make our Class A common stock less attractive to investors.
As an “emerging growth company” (as defined in the JOBS Act), we have taken, and intend to continue to take, advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting
requirements that are applicable to other public companies, including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404,
reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a non-binding
advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We cannot predict whether investors will find
our Class A common stock less attractive because we rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our Class A common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less
active trading market for our Class A common stock, and our Class A common stock price may be more volatile.
We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest to occur of (i) the last day of the fiscal year during which our total revenues equals or exceeds $1.07 billion, (ii)
September 30, 2023, the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of our initial public offering (“IPO”), (iii) the date on which we have, during the previous
three-year period, issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities and (iv) the date on which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer” under the Exchange
Act.
If we are unable to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, investors could lose confidence in our consolidated financial statements and our Company,
which could have a material adverse effect on our stock price.
In the course of preparing financial statements for prior fiscal years, our management detected material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, related
primarily to the design and operation of our information technology general controls and overall closing and financial reporting controls. During our two most recent fiscal
years, we have designed and implemented a number of internal controls and other remedial measures that we believe will provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of our financial reporting and the preparation of our financial statements in accordance with GAAP. A failure to maintain effective internal controls could result in a material
misstatement of our consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected on a timely basis, which could cause investors to lose confidence in our financial
information or cause the trading price of our Class A common stock to decline. Our independent registered public accounting firm has not assessed the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting and, under the JOBS Act, will not be required to provide an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting for so long as we qualify as an emerging growth company, which may increase the risk that weaknesses or deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting
go undetected.
We have incurred, and expect to continue to incur, significant costs related to certain requirements of Section 404 to which we became subject in the 2019 fiscal year. If we
are unable to timely comply with such requirements, our profitability, stock price, results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.
We are required to comply with certain provisions of Section 404, which requires that we document and test our internal control over financial reporting and issue
management’s assessment of our internal control over financial reporting beginning with our fiscal year ended September 30, 2019. Section 404 also requires that our
independent registered public accounting firm opine on those internal controls when we cease to qualify for an exemption from the requirement to provide auditors’ attestation
on internal controls afforded to emerging growth companies under the JOBS Act. The out-of-pocket costs, the diversion of management’s attention from running the day-to-day
operations and operational changes caused by the need to comply with the requirements of Section 404 have been significant, and we expect to continue to incur substantial
costs in connection with our compliance efforts.
If we fail to comply with the requirements of Section 404, or if we or our auditors identify and report any material weaknesses, the accuracy and timeliness of the filing of our
annual and quarterly reports may be materially adversely affected and could cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could have a
negative effect on the trading price of our Class A common stock. In addition, a material weakness in the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting could
result in an increased chance of fraud and the loss of customers, reduce our ability to obtain financing, subject us to investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities and
require additional expenditures to comply with these requirements, each of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.
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If the price of our Class A common stock fluctuates significantly, your investment could lose value.
Prior to our IPO in May 2018, there was no public market for our Class A common stock. Although our Class A common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, we
cannot guarantee that an active public market will be maintained for our Class A common stock. If an active public market for our Class A common stock is not maintained, the
trading price and liquidity of our Class A common stock will be materially and adversely affected. If there is a thin trading market or “float” for our Class A common stock, the
market price for our Class A common stock may fluctuate significantly more than the stock market as a whole. Without a large float, our Class A common stock is less liquid
than the securities of companies with broader public ownership and, as a result, the trading prices of our Class A common stock may be more volatile. In addition, in the absence
of an active public trading market, investors may be unable to liquidate their investment in our Company at the times or prices they desire. In addition, the stock market is
subject to significant price and volume fluctuations, and the price of our Class A common stock could fluctuate widely in response to several factors, including, but not limited
to: our quarterly or annual operating results; investment recommendations by securities analysts following our business or our industry; additions or departures of key
personnel; changes in the business, earnings estimates or market perceptions of our competitors; our failure to achieve operating results consistent with securities analysts’
projections; changes in industry, general market or economic conditions; and announcements of legislative or regulatory change.
The stock market has experienced substantial price and volume fluctuations in recent years that have significantly affected the quoted prices of the securities of many
companies, including companies in our industry. The changes often appear to occur without regard to specific operating performance. The price of our Class A common stock
could fluctuate based upon factors that have little or nothing to do with our Company, and these fluctuations could materially reduce the price for our Class A common stock.
Future sales, or the perception of future sales, by us or our existing stockholders in the public market could cause the market price for our Class A common stock to
decline.
As of December 11, 2019, we had outstanding a total of 32,705,418 shares of our Class A common stock and 19,076,327 shares of our Class B common stock that are
convertible by the holders thereof at any time into an equal number of shares of our Class A common stock. The sale of shares of our Class A common stock, or the perception
of future sales by us or our existing stockholders, could harm the prevailing market price of shares of our Class A common stock. These sales, or the possibility that these sales
may occur, also might make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that we deem appropriate.
During the 2019 fiscal year, we filed a registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) with respect to the issuance of up to $250
million in aggregate amount of various securities (including Class A common stock) by us and the sale of up to 19,225,000 shares of Class A common stock by SunTx. As of
December 11, 2019, we had not issued any securities under the registration statement, and 13,475,000 shares of Class A common stock remained available for future sale by
SunTx under the registration statement. In addition, shares held by our affiliates, including our directors, executive officers and SunTx, may also be sold in compliance with
various exemptions from registration.
In connection with the Secondary Offering in September 2019, we, our directors and executive officers and SunTx agreed with the underwriters, subject to certain exceptions,
not to dispose of or hedge any common stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of such common stock until January 18, 2020. Upon the expiration of
these agreements, 32,816,078 shares of our common stock will be eligible for resale. In addition, pursuant to a registration rights agreement, SunTx and certain other
stockholders will continue to have the right, subject to certain conditions, to require us to register the sale of their shares of common stock under the Securities Act. By
exercising their registration rights and selling a large number of shares, these stockholders could cause the prevailing market price of our Class A common stock to decline. As
of December 11, 2019, in addition to the 13,475,000 registered but unsold shares of Class A common stock held by SunTx, a total of 18,845,417 shares of our outstanding
common stock were subject to potential future registration under the registration rights agreement. Registration of these shares would result in such shares becoming freely
tradable upon effectiveness of the registration statement. As restrictions on resale end or if the stockholders who are parties to the registration rights agreement exercise their
registration rights, the market price of the shares of our Class A common stock could drop significantly if the holders of these shares sell them or are perceived by the market as
intending to sell them. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to raise additional funds through future offerings of our Class A common stock or other securities.
In the future, we may also issue shares of Class A common stock in connection with an offering or acquisition, and the number of shares issued could constitute a material
portion of the then-outstanding shares of Class A common stock. Any such issuance would result in dilution to holders of our Class A common stock.
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Affiliates of SunTx control us, and their interests may conflict with ours or yours in the future.
As of December 11, 2019, affiliates of SunTx beneficially owned approximately 41.2% of our Class A common stock and approximately 82.9% of our Class B common stock,
representing 76.8% of the combined voting power of our common stock. Each share of our Class B common stock has ten votes per share, and each share of our Class A
common stock has one vote per share. As a result, affiliates of SunTx have the ability to elect all of the members of our board of directors and thereby control our policies and
operations, including the appointment of management, future issuances of our Class A common stock or other securities, the payment of dividends, if any, on our Class A
common stock, the incurrence of debt by us, amendments to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, and our entry into
extraordinary transactions. This concentration of voting control could deprive you of an opportunity to receive a premium for your shares of our Class A common stock as part
of a sale of our Company and ultimately might affect the market price of our Class A common stock. In addition, we have engaged, and expect to continue to engage, in related
party transactions involving SunTx and certain companies they control. As a result, the interests of affiliates of SunTx may not in all cases be aligned with your interests.
In addition, SunTx may have an interest in pursuing acquisitions, divestitures and other transactions that, in its judgment, could enhance its investment, even though such
transactions might involve risks to you. For example, SunTx could cause us to make acquisitions that increase our indebtedness or cause us to sell revenue-generating assets.
SunTx is in the business of making investments in companies and may from time to time acquire and hold interests in businesses that compete directly or indirectly with us. Our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that none of SunTx, any of its affiliates or any director who is not employed by us or his or her affiliates will have
any duty to refrain from engaging, directly or indirectly, in the same business activities or similar business activities or lines of business in which we operate. SunTx also may
pursue acquisition opportunities that may be complementary to our business, and, as a result, those acquisition opportunities may not be available to us.
So long as SunTx and its affiliates continue to beneficially own a sufficient number of shares of our Class B common stock, they will continue to be able to effectively control
our decisions. For example, if our Class B common stock amounted to 15% of our outstanding common stock, such Class B common stock (held almost exclusively by SunTx,
its affiliates and certain members of management) would collectively represent approximately 63.8% of the overall voting power of our common stock based on the number of
shares of Class A and Class B common stock outstanding at December 11, 2019. Shares of our Class B common stock may be transferred to an unrelated third party if holders
of a majority of the shares of our Class B common stock owned by SunTx and its affiliates have consented to such transfer in writing in advance.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, if they adversely change their recommendations regarding our Class A common
stock or if our operating results do not meet their expectations, the price of our Class A common stock could decline.
The trading market for our Class A common stock is influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or our business. If one or more
of these analysts cease coverage of our Company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause the price or
trading volume of our Class A common stock to decline. Moreover, if one or more of the analysts who cover our Company downgrades our Class A common stock or if our
operating results do not meet their expectations, the price of our Class A common stock could decline.
We may issue preferred stock with terms that could adversely affect the voting power or value of our Class A common stock.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue, without the approval of our stockholders, one or more classes or series of preferred stock having
such designations, preferences, limitations and relative rights, including preferences over our Class A common stock with respect to dividends and distributions, as our board of
directors may determine. The terms of one or more classes or series of preferred stock could adversely impact the voting power or value of our Class A common stock. For
example, we might grant holders of preferred stock the right to elect some number of our directors in all events or upon the happening of specified events or the right to veto
specified transactions. Similarly, the repurchase or redemption rights or liquidation preferences we might assign to holders of preferred stock could affect the residual value of
our Class A common stock.
Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws and Delaware corporate law make it more difficult to effect a change
in control of our Company, which could adversely affect the price of our Class A common stock.
Certain provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws and Delaware corporate law could delay or prevent a change in
control of our Company, even if that change would be beneficial to our stockholders. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws
contain provisions that may make acquiring control of our Company difficult, including:
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•

a dual class common stock structure, which currently provides SunTx and its affiliates and the other holders of our Class B common stock with the ability to control the
outcome of matters requiring stockholder approval, so long as they continue to beneficially own a sufficient number of shares of our Class B common stock, even if they
own significantly less than 50% of the shares of our outstanding common stock;

•

a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms;

•

provisions regulating the ability of our stockholders to nominate directors for election or to bring matters for action at annual meetings of our stockholders;

•

limitations on the ability of our stockholders to call a special meeting;

•

the ability of our board of directors to adopt, amend or repeal bylaws, and the requirement that the affirmative vote of holders representing at least 66 2/3% of the voting
power of all outstanding shares of capital stock be obtained for stockholders to amend our amended and restated bylaws;

•

the requirement that the affirmative vote of holders representing at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all outstanding shares of capital stock be obtained to remove
directors;

•

the requirement that the affirmative vote of holders representing at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all outstanding shares of capital stock be obtained to amend our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation; and

•

the authorization given to our board of directors to issue and set the terms of preferred stock without the approval of our stockholders.

These provisions also could discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other stockholders to elect directors and take other corporate actions. As a result,
these provisions could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders, which may limit the price that investors are willing
to pay in the future for shares of our Class A common stock.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation designates courts in the State of Delaware (or, if no state court located within the State of Delaware has jurisdiction,
the federal district court for the District of Delaware) as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders,
which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that, subject to limited exceptions, state courts within the State of Delaware (or, if no state court located within
the State of Delaware has jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware) will be the sole and exclusive forum for any: (i) derivative action or proceeding
brought on our behalf; (ii) action asserting a claim of breach of fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees to us or our stockholders; (iii) action
asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law; or (iv) action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the
internal affairs doctrine. In addition, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that if any action specified above (each is referred to herein as a covered
proceeding), is filed in a court other than a court located within the State of Delaware (each is referred to herein as a foreign action), the claiming party will be deemed to have
consented to (i) the personal jurisdiction of state and federal courts located within the State of Delaware in connection with any action brought in any such court to enforce the
exclusive forum provision described above and (ii) having service of process made upon such claiming party in any such enforcement action by service upon such claiming
party’s counsel in the foreign action as agent for such claiming party. These provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds
favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and employees.
Alternatively, if a court were to find these provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation inapplicable to, or unenforceable in respect of, one or more of the
covered proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business and financial
condition.
Because we are a “controlled company” under the listing standards of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC and the rules of the SEC, our stockholders do not have, and may
never have, certain corporate governance protections that are available to stockholders of companies that are not controlled companies.
SunTx and its affiliates control a majority of the voting power of our outstanding common stock. As a result, we are a “controlled company” under the listing standards of The
Nasdaq Stock Market LLC and SEC rules. As a result, we are not required to comply with certain provisions requiring that (i) a majority of our directors be independent, (ii) the
compensation of our executives be determined by independent directors or (iii) nominees for election to our board of directors be selected by independent directors. Because we
intend to continue to take advantage of some or all of these exemptions, our stockholders may not have the protections that these rules are intended to provide. Our status as a
controlled company could cause our Class A common stock to be less attractive to certain investors or otherwise reduce the trading price of our Class A common stock.
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We do not intend to pay cash dividends on our Class A common stock in the foreseeable future, and therefore only appreciation, if any, of the price of our Class A common
stock will provide a return to our stockholders.
We currently anticipate that we will retain all future earnings, if any, to finance the growth and development of our business. We do not intend to pay cash dividends on our
Class A common stock in the foreseeable future. Any future determination as to the declaration and payment of cash dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors
and will depend upon our financial condition, results of operations, contractual restrictions, capital requirements, business prospects and other factors deemed relevant by our
board of directors. In addition, the BBVA Credit Agreement restricts our ability to pay cash dividends. As a result, only appreciation of the price of our Class A common stock,
which may not occur, will provide a return to our stockholders.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2. Properties.
Our principal executive office is located in Dothan, Alabama, in a building that we own. As of December 11, 2019, we operated (i) 33 HMA plants in Alabama, Florida,
Georgia and North Carolina, (ii) nine quarries in Alabama, Georgia, and Florida, and (iii) one liquid asphalt terminal in Florida. Our HMA plants operate at varying levels of
utilization depending on market conditions. We maintain offices at our HMA plants and quarries as we determine to be appropriate under the circumstances. We consider our
plants and other physical properties, whether owned or leased, to be suitable, adequate, and of sufficient productive capacity to meet the requirements of our business. However,
we routinely evaluate the purchase or lease of additional properties or the consolidation of our properties as our business needs change.
The table below summarizes the locations and the nature of our ownership or leasehold interest in each of our asphalt plants and quarries. We own our liquid asphalt terminal.
Asphalt Plants
Location

Owned

Alabama
Florida
Georgia
North Carolina

8
8
5
—

Quarries
Leased
6
—
1
5

Owned
3
1
1
—

Leased
2
—
2
—

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
Due to the nature of our business, we are involved in routine litigation or subject to other disputes or claims related to our business activities, including, among other things, (i)
workers’ compensation claims, (ii) employment-related disputes and (iii) liability issues or breach of contract or tortious conduct in connection with the performance of services
and provision of materials. We and our affiliates are also subject to government inquiries in the ordinary course of business seeking information concerning our compliance with
government construction contracting requirements and various laws and regulations, the outcome of which cannot be predicted with certainty. In the opinion of our
management, after consultation with legal counsel, none of the pending inquiries, litigation, disputes or claims against us, if decided adversely to us, would have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition, cash flows or results of operations.
As previously disclosed, in February 2019, the Alabama Department of Environmental Management (“ADEM”) issued a consent order related to discharges of dredged or fill
material into wetlands at the Company’s Lambert, Alabama mining site in violation of Section 402 of the Clean Water Act. In response to the consent order, the Company paid
a $115,000 fine and submitted an engineering plan to the ADEM, which is currently under review by the ADEM. The Company does not expect the cost of implementing the
remedial measures in the engineering plan to be material to the Company. To date, the Company has not received any assessments from the EPA related to this matter.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
The information concerning mine safety violations or other regulatory matters required by Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act
and Item 104 of Regulation S-K (17 C.F.R. Part 229.104) is included in Exhibit 95.1 to this report.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
From our inception until April 2018, we maintained a single class of common stock. On April 23, 2018, we amended and restated our certificate of incorporation to effectuate a
dual-class equity structure, which we refer to as the “Reclassification.” The Reclassification resulted in the conversion of each share of our then-outstanding common stock into
25.2 shares of Class B common stock and the initial authorization of Class A common stock for issuance.
Market for Our Common Stock
Our Class A common stock is listed and trades on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “ROAD.” Prior to its listing on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on May
4, 2018, there was no established public trading market for our Class A common stock. There is no established public trading market for our Class B common stock.
Holders
As of December 11, 2019, there were 32,705,418 shares of our Class A common stock outstanding, held by 10 stockholders of record. The actual number of beneficial holders
of our Class A common stock is significantly greater than the number of record holders and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares are held by
banks, brokers and other nominees. The last sale price for a share of our Class A common stock as reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on December 11, 2019 was
$17.11.
As of December 11, 2019, there were 19,076,327 shares of our Class B common stock outstanding, held by 11 stockholders of record.
Dividends
Holders of our Class A and Class B common stock receive dividends if and when declared by our board of directors out of legally available funds. We currently intend to retain
all available funds and any future earnings for use in the operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable
future. Any future determination as to the declaration and payment of dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on then-existing conditions,
including our financial condition, results of operations, contractual restrictions, capital requirements, business prospects and other factors that our board of directors considers
relevant. In addition, the terms of the BBVA Credit Agreement restrict our ability to pay cash dividends to the holders of our common stock unless, after giving effect to such
dividend, we would remain in compliance with the financial covenants and, at the time any such dividend is made, no default or event of default exists or would result from the
payment of such dividend.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, we granted to our non-employee directors a total of 292,534 restricted shares of our Class A common stock under the
Construction Partners, Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan. Two-thirds of the shares issued in connection with these grants will vest on January 1, 2021, and the remaining one-third
of the shares will vest on January 1, 2022. These grants were made for compensatory purposes pursuant to a written plan or contract, a copy which was delivered to each
grantee, in reliance on Rule 701 under the Securities Act.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
During the quarter ended September 30, 2019, we did not purchase any of our equity securities that are registered under Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data.
We are a smaller reporting company, as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act, and therefore are not required to provide the information called for by this Item.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

This discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is intended to assist in understanding and assessing the trends and significant changes in our
results of operations and financial condition. Historical results may not be indicative of future performance. This discussion includes forward-looking statements that reflect
our plans, estimates and beliefs. Such statements involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those contemplated by these forward-looking
statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under the headings “Risk Factors” and “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”
This discussion should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this report. In this discussion, we
use certain non-GAAP financial measures. Explanation of these non-GAAP financial measures and reconciliation to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measures are
included in this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” Investors should not consider non-GAAP financial measures in
isolation or as substitutes for financial information presented in compliance with GAAP.
Overview
We are one of the fastest growing civil infrastructure companies in the United States, specializing in the building and maintenance of transportation networks. Our operations
leverage a highly skilled workforce, strategically located HMA plants, substantial construction assets and select material deposits. We provide construction products and
services to both public and private infrastructure projects, with an emphasis on highways, roads, bridges, airports and commercial and residential sites in the southeastern United
States.
Our public projects are funded by federal, state and local governments and include projects for roads, highways, bridges, airports and other forms of infrastructure. Public
transportation infrastructure projects historically have been a relatively stable portion of state and federal budgets and represent a significant share of the United States
construction market. Federal funds are allocated on a state-by-state basis, and each state is required to match a portion of the federal funds that it receives. Federal highway
spending uses funds predominantly from the Highway Trust Fund, which derives its revenues from fuel taxes and other user fees.
In addition to public infrastructure projects, we provide a wide range of large site work construction and HMA paving services to private construction customers, including
commercial and residential developers and local businesses.
How We Assess Performance of Our Business
Revenues
We derive our revenues predominantly by providing construction products and services for both public and private infrastructure projects, with an emphasis on highways, roads,
bridges, airports and commercial and residential sites. Our projects represent a mix of federal, state, municipal and private customers. We also derive revenues from the sale of
HMA, aggregates, and liquid asphalt cement to customers. Revenues derived from projects are recognized as performance obligations are satisfied over time (formerly known
as the percentage-of-completion method), measured by the relationship of total cost incurred compared to total estimated contract costs (cost-to-cost input method). Changes in
job performance, job conditions and estimated profitability, including those arising from contract penalty provisions and final contract settlements, may result in revisions to
estimated costs and income, and are recognized in the period in which the revisions are determined. Revenues derived from the sale of HMA, aggregates, and liquid asphalt
cement are recognized when risks associated with ownership have passed to the customer.
Gross Profit
Gross profit represents revenues less cost of revenues. Cost of revenues consists of all direct and indirect costs on construction contracts, including raw materials, labor,
equipment costs, depreciation, lease expenses, subcontract costs and other expenses at our HMA plants, aggregate mining facilities, and liquid asphalt cement terminal. Our cost
of revenues is directly affected by fluctuations in commodity prices, primarily liquid asphalt and diesel fuel. From time to time, when appropriate, we limit our exposure to
changes in commodity prices by entering into forward purchase commitments. In addition, our public infrastructure contracts often provide for price adjustments based on
fluctuations in certain commodity-related product costs. These price adjustment provisions are in place for most of our public infrastructure contracts, and we seek to include
similar provisions in our private contracts.
Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization
We carry property, plant and equipment on our balance sheet at cost, net of accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization. Depreciation on property, plant and
equipment is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. Amortization expense is the periodic expense related to leasehold improvements and
intangible assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the life of the underlying asset or the remaining lease term. Our intangible assets were recognized as
a result of certain acquisitions and are generally amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Quarry reserves are depleted in accordance with
the units-of-production method as aggregate is extracted, using the initial allocation of cost based on proven and probable reserves.

24

Table of Contents
General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and personnel costs for our administration, finance and accounting, legal, information systems, human
resources and certain managerial employees. Additional expenses include audit, consulting and professional fees, travel, insurance, office space rental costs, property taxes and
other corporate and overhead expenses.
Gain on Sale of Equipment, net
In the normal course of business, we sell construction equipment for various reasons, including when the cost of maintaining the asset exceeds the cost of replacing it. The gain
or loss on sale of equipment reflects the difference between the carrying value at the date of disposal and the net consideration received from the sale of equipment during the
period.
Interest Expense, net
Interest expense, net primarily represents interest incurred on our long-term debt, such as the Term Loan and the Revolving Credit Facility, as well as the cost of interest swap
agreements and amortization of deferred debt issuance costs. These amounts are partially offset by interest income earned on short-term investments of cash balances in excess
of our current operating needs.
Other Key Performance Indicators — Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin
Adjusted EBITDA represents net income before (i) interest expense, net, (ii) provision for income taxes, (iii) depreciation, depletion and amortization, (iv) equity-based
compensation expense, (v) loss on extinguishment of debt and (vi) certain management fees and expenses, and excludes income recognized in connection with the Settlement
described in Note 20 - Settlement Agreement to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report. Adjusted EBITDA Margin represents Adjusted
EBITDA as a percentage of revenues for each period. These metrics are supplemental measures of our operating performance that are neither required by, nor presented in
accordance with, GAAP. These measures have limitations as analytical tools and should not be considered in isolation or as an alternative to net income or any other
performance measure derived in accordance with GAAP as an indicator of our operating performance. We present Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin because
management uses these measures as key performance indicators, and we believe that securities analysts, investors and others use these measures to evaluate companies in our
industry. Our calculation of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin may not be comparable to similarly named measures reported by other companies. Potential
differences may include differences in capital structures, tax positions and the age and book depreciation of intangible and tangible assets.
The following table presents a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income, the most directly comparable measure calculated in accordance with GAAP, and the
calculation of Adjusted EBITDA Margin for the periods presented (in thousands, except percentages):
For the Fiscal Year
Ended September 30,
Net income
Interest expense, net
Provision for income taxes
Depreciation, depletion and amortization of long-lived assets
Equity-based compensation expense
Settlement income (1)
Management fees and expenses (2)
Adjusted EBITDA

$

Revenues

$

$

Adjusted EBITDA Margin

2019
43,121
1,861
13,909
31,231
957
—
1,252
92,331

$

$

783,238
$
11.8 %

2018
50,791
1,270
10,525
25,321
975
(14,803)
1,457
75,536
680,096
11.1 %

(1)

Represents pre-tax income recognized in connection with the Settlement (see Note 20 - Settlement Agreement to the consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this report).

(2)

Reflects fees and reimbursement of certain travel expenses under a management services agreement with SunTx (see Note 17 - Related Parties to the consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this report).
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Results of Operations — Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2019 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2018
The following table sets forth selected financial data for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 (“fiscal 2019”) and September 30, 2018 (“fiscal 2018”):
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2019
Dollars
(in thousands, except percentages)
Revenues
Cost of revenues

$

Gross profit
General and administrative expenses
Settlement income
Gain on sale of equipment, net

% of
Revenues

783,238
665,285

Dollars

100.0 % $
84.9 %

117,953
(62,724)
—
1,909

Operating income
Interest expense, net
Other income (expense)
Income before provision for income taxes and earnings
from investment in joint venture
Provision for income taxes
Earnings from investment in
joint venture

Change from Fiscal Year
2018 to Fiscal Year 2019

2018

15.1
(8.0)
—
0.2

680,096
580,560

% of
Revenues

$ Change

100.0 % $
85.4 %
14.6
(8.2)
2.2
0.4

%
Change

103,142
84,725

15.2 %
14.6 %

%
%
%
%

18,417
(7,421)
(14,803)
(483)

18.5 %
13.4 %
N/A
(20.2)%

%
%
%
%

99,536
(55,303)
14,803
2,392

57,138
(1,861)
416

7.3 %
(0.2) %
— %

61,428
(1,270)
(101)

9.0 %
(0.2) %
— %

(4,290)
(591)
517

(7.0)%
46.5 %
(511.9)%

55,693
13,909

7.1 %
1.8 %

60,057
10,525

8.8 %
1.5 %

(4,364)
3,384

(7.3)%
32.2 %

1,337

0.2 %

1,259

0.2 %

78

N/A

Net income

$

43,121

5.5 % $

50,791

7.5 % $

(7,670)

(15.1)%

Adjusted EBITDA

$

92,331

11.8 % $

75,536

11.1 % $

16,795

22.2 %

Revenues. Revenues for fiscal 2019 increased $103.1 million, or 15.2%, to $783.2 million from $680.1 million for fiscal 2018. The increase in revenues was primarily due to a
$44.6 million higher backlog at the beginning of fiscal 2019 compared to the beginning of fiscal 2018, the increase in available work in our existing markets, and $51.6 million
of revenue from recent acquisitions, including (i) fiscal 2019 revenue attributable to acquisitions we completed during fiscal year 2019 and (ii) revenue earned during fiscal 2019
attributable to acquisitions that were completed during fiscal 2018 until the one-year anniversary date of such acquisitions.
Gross Profit. Gross profit for fiscal 2019 increased $18.4 million, or 18.5%, to $118.0 million from $99.5 million for fiscal 2018. The higher gross profit was the result of the
15.2% revenue increase and an increase in gross profit margin to 15.1% for fiscal 2019 from 14.6% for fiscal 2018, due to higher utilization of our plants and equipment, as well
as the contribution of the liquid asphalt terminal.
General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses include costs related to our operational offices that are not allocated to direct contract costs and
expenses related to our corporate offices. General and administrative expenses for fiscal 2019 increased $7.4 million, or 13.4%, to $62.7 million from $55.3 million for fiscal
2018. The increase in general and administrative expenses for fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2018 was primarily the result of (i) a $2.6 million increase in overhead expenses
attributable to acquisitions that we completed during or subsequent to fiscal 2018, (ii) $0.7 million in costs related to the Secondary Offering, and (iii) an increase in the cost of
professional services and insurance, reflecting our growth and increased reporting and regulatory requirements as a public company for a full fiscal year. General and
administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue declined 0.2% from fiscal 2018 to fiscal 2019.
Interest Expense, Net. Interest expense, net for fiscal 2019 increased $0.6 million, or 46.5%, to $1.9 million compared to $1.3 million for fiscal 2018. The increase in interest
expense, net reflects a $1.3 million increase in interest expense, partially offset by a $0.7 million increase in interest income. The increase in interest expense was due to (i) an
increase in the average principal debt balance outstanding for fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2018 as a result of borrowing for an acquisition in May 2018 and an increase in
interest rates, and (ii) a $0.6 million charge to interest expense related to a change in the fair value of our interest rate swaps during fiscal 2019, compared to a $0.4 million credit
during fiscal 2018. The increase in interest income was due to the higher average cash balance during fiscal 2019, resulting from proceeds attributable to our IPO in May 2018
and an increase in interest rates earned on our deposits.
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Settlement Income. During fiscal 2018, we recorded income of $14.8 million reflecting the net present value of future payments to be received in connection with the
Settlement. Pursuant to the Settlement, we will receive aggregate net payments of approximately $15.7 million, payable in four equal installments between January 2019 and
July 2020, in exchange for releasing and waiving all current and future claims against a third party.
Provision for Income Taxes. Our effective tax rate increased to 24.4% for fiscal 2019, from 17.2% for fiscal 2018. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”), which was
effective January 1, 2018, included broad and complex changes to the United States tax code, including a reduction in the United States federal corporate income tax rate from
35.0% to 21.0%. As a result of this change, the Company recorded its income tax provision for fiscal 2018 based on a blended U.S. statutory rate of 24.5%, which represents
prorated applicable tax rates before and after the effective date of the Tax Act and the effect of applicable state income taxes. The effective tax rate for fiscal 2019 reflects a
federal income tax provision based on the U.S. statutory tax rate of 21.0% and the effect of applicable state income taxes. The effects of the higher blended U.S. statutory tax
rate of 24.5% for fiscal 2018 compared the U.S. statutory tax rate of 21.0% for fiscal 2019 was offset by (i) a $4.6 million provisional discrete tax benefit related to the Tax Act,
primarily due to an adjustment in our U.S. deferred tax liabilities by the same amount and (ii) a $1.3 million permanent tax benefit resulting from the deduction of the excess of
fair market value of options exercised during fiscal 2018 over the exercise price. No such tax benefits were applicable to fiscal 2019. This net reduction in deferred tax liabilities
also included the estimated impact on the Company’s net state deferred tax assets.
Earnings from Investment in Joint Venture. During fiscal 2019 and 2018, we earned $1.3 million and $1.2 million of pre-tax income, respectively, from our 50% interest in
the earnings of a joint venture. We entered into the joint venture with a third party in November 2017 for the sole purpose of performing a construction project for the Alabama
DOT.
Net Income. Net income decreased $7.7 million, or 15.1%, to $43.1 million for fiscal 2019 compared to $50.8 million for fiscal 2018. This decrease in net income was a result
of (i) the $10.6 million settlement income, net of tax, recognized during fiscal 2018, (ii) higher general and administrative expenses during fiscal 2019 and (iii) an increase in
the effective income tax rate during fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2018. The decrease was partially offset by an increase in gross profit, as described above.
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin. Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin were $92.3 million and 11.8%, respectively, for fiscal 2019, compared to
$75.5 million and 11.1%, respectively, for fiscal 2018. The increase in Adjusted EBITDA primarily results from the increase in gross profit and depreciation for fiscal 2019
compared to fiscal 2018, partially offset by an increase in general and administrative expense and a decline in gain on sale of equipment. The increase in the Adjusted EBITDA
Margin is the result of a higher gross profit percentage and a lower general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue in fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2018,
partially offset by a decline in the gain on sale of equipment. For a description of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin, as well as a reconciliation of Adjusted
EBITDA to net income, see “How We Assess Performance of Our Business.”
Inflation and Price Changes
Inflation had an immaterial impact on our results of operations for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 due to relatively low inflation in the United States in
recent years and our ability to recover increasing costs by obtaining higher prices for our products, including sale price escalator clauses in most of our public infrastructure
sector contracts. Inflation risk varies with the level of activity in our industry, the number, size and strength of competitors and the availability of products to supply a local
market.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flows Analysis
The following table sets forth our cash flows for the periods indicated (in thousands):
For the Fiscal Year
Ended September 30,
2019

2018

Net cash provided by operating activities, net of acquisitions

$

$

Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents

55,274
(60,225)
(13,567)

66,121
(89,592)
95,061

$

(18,518)

$

71,590

27

Table of Contents

Operating Activities
Cash provided by operating activities, net of acquisitions, was $55.3 million for fiscal 2019, a decrease of $10.8 million compared to $66.1 million for fiscal 2018. The decrease
was primarily due to a $7.7 million decrease in net income for fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2018 and a $13.4 million reduction in changes in operating assets and liabilities,
partially offset by a $10.2 million increase in adjustments to reconcile net income to cash flows from operating activities for those same periods. The changes in operating assets
and liabilities included (i) a $20.6 million increase in contracts receivable including retainage for fiscal 2019 compared to a $9.3 million decrease for fiscal 2018 due to higher
overall revenue, (ii) a $8.8 million increase in inventory, of which $6.5 million related to our acquisition and operation of a liquid asphalt terminal and other acquisitions during
fiscal 2019, (iii) a $1.0 million decrease in other current assets for fiscal 2019 compared to a $8.9 million increase for fiscal 2018, primarily due to our recognition of $7.9
million of receivables during fiscal 2018 in connection with Settlement income, (iv) an $8.0 million decrease in other assets for fiscal 2019 compared to a $7.9 million increase
for fiscal 2018, primarily reflecting recognition of receivables in connection with Settlement income during fiscal 2018 and $7.2 million in payments received pursuant to the
Settlement during fiscal 2019, (v) a $7.6 million decrease in net billing in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts for fiscal 2019 compared to a $2.0
million increase for fiscal 2018, primarily due to the timing of performing and closing the projects, and (vi) a $2.1 increase in accrued expenses and other current liabilities for
fiscal 2019 compared to a $4.8 million decrease for fiscal 2018.
Investing Activities
Cash used in investing activities was $60.2 million for fiscal 2019 compared to $89.6 million for fiscal 2018. The decrease reflects (i) a $37.5 million decrease in cash used in
business acquisitions, net of cash acquired during fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2018, (ii) a $2.5 million distribution received from a joint venture investment during fiscal
2019, and (iii) a partial offset by a $10.9 million purchase of a liquid asphalt terminal during fiscal 2019.
Financing Activities
Cash used by financing activities was $13.6 million for fiscal 2019 compared to $95.1 million of cash provided in financing activities during fiscal 2018. Fiscal 2018 included
$98.0 million of proceeds from our IPO, net of offering costs.
BBVA Credit Agreement
We and each of our subsidiaries are parties to the BBVA Credit Agreement. The BBVA Credit Agreement provides for the Term Loan and the Revolving Credit Facility. At
September 30, 2019 and 2018, we had $44.7 million and $57.3 million, respectively, of principal outstanding under the Term Loan, $5.0 million and $5.0 million, respectively,
of principal outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility, and availability of $14.4 million and $14.0 million, respectively, under the Revolving Credit Facility, including
reduction for outstanding letters of credit. The obligations of our subsidiaries under the Term Loan and the Revolving Credit Facility are secured by a first priority security
interest in substantially all of our assets and are guaranteed by the Company, as the ultimate parent company of the borrower entities.
In August 2019, the BBVA Credit Agreement was amended to, among other things, modify the interest rate and fee structure, as well as the repayment schedule and amounts.
Currently, the BBVA Credit Agreement provides for a four-tier escalating interest rate for both the Term Loan and the Revolving Credit Facility that is tied to the London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). The baseline rate for such borrowings is LIBOR plus 1.20%, and the rate may increase up to LIBOR plus 1.70% if the Company’s
consolidated leverage ratio exceeds 2.00%. Prior to the August 2019 amendment, the interest rate on any particular borrowing was calculated based on one of several indices set
forth in the agreement, plus an applied markup of 2.0% to 2.25%. At September 30, 2019 and 2018, the interest rate on outstanding borrowings under the Term Loan and
Revolving Credit Facility was 3.244% and 4.242%, respectively. Principal repayments under the Term Loan are made in quarterly installments in an amount equal to 2.50% of
the original amount borrowed, a reduction from the 5.00% rate that we paid prior to the August 2019 amendment. We pay a commitment fee of 0.20% per annum on the
aggregate unused commitment amount under the Revolving Credit Facility, a reduction from 0.35% prior to the August 2019 amendment, as well as fees with respect to any
letters of credit issued thereunder. As of September 30, 2019, all amounts borrowed under the BBVA Credit Agreement were scheduled to mature on July 1, 2022.
The BBVA Credit Agreement contains usual and customary negative covenants for agreements of this type, including, but not limited to, restrictions on the Company’s ability
to make acquisitions, make loans or advances, make capital expenditures and investments, pay dividends, create or incur indebtedness, create liens, wind up or dissolve,
consolidate, merge or liquidate, or sell, transfer or dispose of assets. The BBVA Credit Agreement also requires the Company to satisfy certain financial covenants, including a
minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.20-to-1.00 and a maximum consolidated leverage ratio of 2.75-to-1.00, subject to certain adjustments. Prior to the August 2019
amendment, the maximum consolidated leverage ratio was 2.00-to-1.00. At September 30, 2019 and 2018, our fixed charge ratio was 4.04-to-1.00 and 1.51-to-1.00,
respectively, and our consolidated leverage ratio was 0.66-to-1.00 and 0.88-to-1.00, respectively. At both September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company was in compliance with
all covenants under the BBVA Credit Agreement.
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From time to time, we have entered into interest rate swap agreements to hedge against the risk of changes in interest rates. On June 30, 2017, we entered into an interest rate
swap agreement with a notional amount of $25.0 million, under which we pay a fixed percentage rate of 2.015% and receive a credit based on the applicable LIBOR rate. On
May 15, 2018, we entered into an additional $11.0 million notional interest rate swap agreement applicable to the $22.0 million amount borrowed under the Term Loan on that
date, under which we pay a fixed percentage rate of 3.01% and receive a credit based on the applicable LIBOR rate. These interest rate swap agreements do not meet the criteria
for hedge accounting treatment in accordance with GAAP. At September 30, 2019 and 2018, the aggregate notional value of these interest rate swap agreements was $21.5
million and $28.7 million, respectively, and the fair value was $(0.3) million and $0.3 million, respectively, which is included within other assets or other liabilities on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The BBVA Credit Agreement was amended subsequent to September 30, 2019. For more information about the amendment, see Note 22 - Subsequent Events to the
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report.
Capital Requirements and Sources of Liquidity
During fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2018, our capital expenditures were approximately $42.5 million and $42.8 million, respectively. Our capital expenditures are typically made
during the same fiscal year in which they are approved. At September 30, 2019, our commitments for capital expenditures were not material to our financial condition or
results of operations on a consolidated basis. For fiscal 2020, we expect total capital expenditures to be $44.0 million to $47.0 million, excluding amounts paid to purchase
certain equipment previously subject to operating leases during the first quarter of fiscal 2020. For more information on these purchases, see Note 22 - Subsequent Events. Our
capital expenditure budget is an estimate and is subject to change. As described further below, we believe that cash flows from operations combined with existing cash on hand
and amounts available under our credit facilities will be sufficient to fund our working capital needs and planned capital expenditures for the next 12 months.
Historically, we have had significant cash requirements in order to organically expand our business into new geographic markets. Our cash requirements include costs related to
increased capital expenditures, purchase of materials and production of materials and cash to fund our organic expansion into new markets. Our working capital needs are
driven by the seasonality and growth of our business, with our cash requirements increasing in periods of growth. Additional cash requirements resulting from our growth
include the costs of additional personnel, production and distribution facilities, enhancing our information systems and, in the future, our integration of any acquisitions and our
compliance with laws and rules applicable to public companies.
We have historically relied upon cash available through credit facilities, in addition to cash from operations, to finance our working capital requirements and to support our
growth. We regularly monitor potential capital sources, including equity and debt financings, in an effort to meet our planned capital expenditures and liquidity requirements.
Our future success will depend on our ability to access outside sources of capital.
We believe that our operating cash flow and available borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility will be sufficient to fund our operations for at least the next 12 months.
However, future cash flows are subject to a number of variables, and significant additional capital expenditures will be required to conduct our operations. There can be no
assurance that operations and other capital resources will provide cash in sufficient amounts to maintain planned or future levels of capital expenditures. In the event that we
make one or more acquisitions and the amount of capital required is greater than the amount we have available for acquisitions at that time, we could be required to reduce the
expected level of capital expenditures and/or seek additional capital. If we seek additional capital, we may do so through borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility, joint
ventures, asset sales, offerings of debt or equity securities or other means. We cannot guarantee that this additional capital will be available on acceptable terms or at all. If we
are unable to obtain the funds we need, we may not be able to complete acquisitions that may be favorable to us or finance the capital expenditures necessary to conduct our
operations.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We enter into operating leases for property and equipment in the normal course of business. See Note 18 - Commitments and Contingencies to our consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this report for additional information. Other than the operating leases described therein, we do not currently have any off-balance sheet
arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on our financial condition, revenue or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital
expenditures or capital resources that would be material to investors.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The discussion of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The
preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We evaluate our estimates
and assumptions on an ongoing basis. The results of our analysis form the basis for making assumptions about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions, and the impact of such differences may be material to
our consolidated financial statements.
Critical accounting policies are those policies that, in management’s view, are the most important in the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations. The notes
to the consolidated financial statements also include disclosure of significant accounting policies. The methods, estimates and judgments that we use in applying our accounting
policies have a significant impact on the results that we report in our consolidated financial statements. These critical accounting policies require us to make difficult and
subjective judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates regarding matters that are inherently uncertain. Our most critical accounting policies and estimates include
those involved in the recognition of revenues and provision for income tax expense. Those critical accounting policies and estimates that require the most significant judgment
are discussed further below.
Revenue Recognition
The majority of our public construction contracts are fixed unit price contracts. Under fixed unit price contracts, we are committed to providing materials or services required by
a contract at fixed unit prices (for example, dollars per ton of asphalt placed). Our private customer contracts are primarily fixed total price contracts, also known as lump sum
contracts, which require that the total amount of work be performed for a single price. Revenues from these construction contracts are recognized as performance obligations are
satisfied over time (formerly known as the percentage-of-completion method), measured by the relationship of total cost incurred compared to total estimated contract costs
(cost-to-cost input method). Under this method, revenues are recognized as costs are incurred in an amount equal to cost plus the related expected profit based on the ratio of
costs incurred to estimated final costs. This cost-to-cost method is used because management considers it to be the best available measure of progress on these contracts.
Contract costs consist of direct costs on contracts, including labor, materials, amounts payable to subcontractors and those indirect costs related to contract performance, such as
equipment costs, insurance and employee benefits. Contract cost is recorded as incurred, and revisions in contract revenues and cost estimates are reflected in the accounting
period when known. Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made in the period in which such losses are determined. Changes in job performance, job
conditions and estimated profitability, including those changes arising from contract change orders, penalty provisions and final contract settlements may result in revisions to
costs and income and are recognized in the period in which the revisions are determined.
Change orders are modifications of an original contract that effectively change the existing provisions of the contract without adding new provisions or terms. Change orders
may include changes in specifications or designs, manner of performance, facilities, equipment, materials, sites and period of completion of the work. Either we or our
customers may initiate change orders. We consider unapproved change orders to be contract variations for which we have a change of scope for which we believe we are
contractually entitled to a higher price, but where a price change associated with the scope change has not yet been agreed upon with the customer. Costs associated with
unapproved change orders are included in the estimated cost to complete the contracts and are treated as project costs as incurred. We recognize revenues equal to costs incurred
on unapproved change orders when realization of price approval is probable. Unapproved change orders involve the use of estimates, and it is reasonably possible that revisions
to the estimated costs and recoverable amounts may be required in future reporting periods to reflect changes in estimates or final agreements with customers. Change orders
that are unapproved as to both price and scope are evaluated as claims. We consider claims to be amounts in excess of agreed contract prices that we seek to collect from our
customers or others for customer-caused delays, errors in specifications and designs, contract terminations, change orders that are either in dispute or are unapproved as to both
scope and price, or other causes of unanticipated additional contract costs. Claims are included in the calculation of revenues when realization is probable and amounts can be
reliably determined. To support these requirements, the existence of the following items must be satisfied: (i) the contract or other evidence provides a legal basis for the claim
or a legal opinion has been obtained, stating that, under the circumstances, there is a reasonable basis to support the claim; (ii) additional costs are caused by circumstances that
were unforeseen at the contract date and are not the result of deficiencies in our performance; (iii) costs associated with the claim are identifiable or otherwise determinable and
are reasonable in view of the work performed; and (iv) the evidence supporting the claim is objective and verifiable, not based on management’s subjective evaluation of the
situation or on unsupported representations. Revenues in excess of contract costs incurred on claims are recognized when an agreement is reached with the customer as to the
value of the claim, which in some instances may not occur until after completion of work under the contract. Costs associated with claims are included in the estimated costs to
complete the contracts and are treated as project costs when incurred.
For the majority of our contracts, upon completion and final acceptance of the services that we were contracted to perform, we receive our final payment upon completion of the
necessary contract closing documents, and our obligations to the owner are complete at that point. The accuracy of our revenues and profit recognition in a given period depends
on the accuracy of our estimates of the revenues
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and costs to finish uncompleted contracts. Our estimates for all of our significant contracts use a highly detailed “bottom up” approach. However, our projects can be highly
complex and, in almost every case, the profit margin estimates for a contract will either increase or decrease to some extent from the amount that was originally estimated at the
time of bid. Because we have a large number of projects of varying levels of size and complexity in process at any given time, these changes in estimates can sometimes offset
each other without materially impacting our overall profitability. However, large changes in revenues or cost estimates can have a significant effect on profitability.
The accuracy of our revenue and profit recognition in a given period depends on the accuracy of our estimates of the cost to complete each project. Cost estimates for all of our
projects use a detailed approach, and we believe our experience allows us to create materially reliable estimates. There are a number of factors that can contribute to changes in
estimates of contract cost and profitability. The most significant of these include:
•

the completeness and accuracy of the original bid;

•

costs associated with scope changes;

•

changes in costs of labor and/or materials;

•

extended overhead and other costs due to owner, weather and other delays;

•

subcontractor performance issues;

•

changes in productivity expectations;

•

site conditions that differ from those assumed in the original bid;

•

changes from original design on design-build projects;

•

the availability and skill level of workers in the geographic location of the project;

•

a change in the availability and proximity of equipment and materials;

•

our ability to fully and promptly recover on affirmative claims and back charges for additional contract costs; and

•

the customer’s ability to properly administer the contract.

The foregoing factors, as well as the stage of completion of contracts in process and the mix of contracts at different margins, may cause fluctuations in gross profit between
periods, and these fluctuations may be significant.
Contracts Receivable, Including Retainage
Contracts receivable are generally based on amounts billed to the customer and currently due in accordance with our contracts. Many of the contracts under which we perform
work contain retainage provisions. Retainage refers to amounts that we have billed to the customer, but are being held for payment by the customer pending satisfactory
completion of the project. Retainage on active contracts is classified as a current asset regardless of the term of the contract and is generally collected within one year of the
completion of a contract. At September 30, 2019 and 2018, contracts receivable included $19.8 million and $16.8 million, respectively, of retainage, which was being
contractually withheld by customers until completion of the associated contracts.
Because the majority of our construction contracts are entered into with federal, state or municipal government customers, credit risk is minimal. We confirm that funds have
been appropriated by the government project owner prior to commencing work on such projects. While most of our public contracts are subject to termination at the election of
the government entity, in the event of any such termination, we are entitled to receive the contract price for completed work and reimbursement of termination-related costs.
Credit risk with private owners is minimized because of statutory mechanic’s liens, which give us high priority in the event of lien foreclosures following financial difficulties
of private owners. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts, which has historically been sufficient to cover accounts that are not collected.
Valuation of Long-Lived Assets and Goodwill
Long-lived assets, which include property, equipment and acquired intangible assets, such as goodwill, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Impairment evaluations involve fair values and management estimates of useful asset lives
and future cash flows. Actual useful lives and cash flows could be different from those estimated by management, and this could have a material effect on our operating results
and financial position. For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, there were no events or changes in circumstances that would indicate a material impairment of
our long-lived assets.
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Goodwill must be tested for impairment at least annually. We performed our most recent annual impairment test of goodwill on July 1, 2019. Our test indicated that there was
no impairment of goodwill. We first evaluate our market capitalization compared to the net assets of the Company overall. Our final determination of valuation is impacted by a
number of factors, but the key factors are the price of our common stock, recently completed transactions from both public companies and private transactions and our
estimated forecast of future cash flows.
The valuation approaches contain uncertainty regarding the estimates used. Our market capitalization could be impacted because we are a controlled company, which impacts
the control premium we apply to the market price of our common stock. One of the largest uncertainties relates to federal, state and local government spending, which
management expects to increase in the upcoming years. There are a number of other uncertainties with respect to our future financial performance that could impact estimated
future cash flows, including those discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” elsewhere in this report. Based on our valuation approaches, we determined that our one reporting
unit substantially exceeded its carrying value, and thus concluded that the carrying value of goodwill was not impaired at July 1, 2019 or 2018. At September 30, 2019 and
2018, we had goodwill with a carrying amount of $38.5 million and $32.9 million, respectively.
Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on the differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities. We
regularly review our deferred tax assets for recoverability and, where necessary, establish a valuation allowance. Valuation allowances are established to reduce deferred tax
assets if we determine that it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized in future periods.
To assess this likelihood, we use historical three-year results of operations, estimates and judgments regarding our future taxable income and consider the jurisdiction in which
the taxable income is generated to determine whether a valuation allowance is required. Such evidence can include our current financial position, results of operations, actual
and forecasted results, the reversal of deferred tax liabilities, tax planning strategies and the current and forecasted business economics of our industry. Additionally, we record
uncertain tax positions at their net recognizable amount, based on the amount that management deems is more likely than not to be sustained upon ultimate settlement with the
tax authorities in jurisdictions in which we operate.
On the basis of our evaluations, at September 30, 2019 and 2018, no valuation allowance was recorded on our net deferred tax assets, and we had no material uncertain tax
positions. If our estimates or assumptions regarding our current and deferred tax items are inaccurate or are modified, these changes could have potentially material impacts on
our earnings.
Accrued Insurance Cost
We carry insurance policies to cover various risks, primarily general liability, automobile liability and workers compensation, under which we are liable to reimburse the
insurance company for a portion of each claim paid, ranging from $100,000 to $500,000 per occurrence. We accrue for probable losses, both reported and unreported, that are
reasonably estimable using actuarial methods based on historic trends and modified, if necessary, by recent events. Changes in our loss assumptions caused by changes in actual
experience would affect our assessment of the ultimate liability and could have an effect on our operating results and financial position up to $500,000 per occurrence for
general liability, automobile liability and workers’ compensation claims.
We provide employee medical insurance under policies that are both fixed-premium, fully-insured policies and self-insured policies that are administered by the insurance
company. Under the self-insured policies, we are liable to reimburse the insurance company for actual claims paid plus an administrative fee. We purchase separate stop-loss
insurance, which limits the individual participant claim loss to amounts ranging from $75,000 to $160,000.
Share-Based Payments and Other Equity Transactions
Our equity incentive plans are administered by the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors. We account for our equity-based compensation plans using a fair valuebased method of accounting, whereby compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the value of the award and is recognized over the service period, which is
typically the vesting period.
Other Accounting Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2 – Significant Accounting Policies and Note 3 – Accounting Standards, to the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, which
are contained in Part II, Item 8 of this report and are incorporated by reference herein.
Emerging Growth Company
The JOBS Act permits an “emerging growth company” like us to take advantage of an extended transition period to comply with new or revised accounting standards applicable
to public companies. We have irrevocably elected to “opt out” of this provision and, as a result, we will comply with new or revised accounting standards as required when they
are adopted.
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Seasonality
The use and consumption of our products and services fluctuate due to seasonality. Our products are used, and our construction operations and production facilities are located,
outdoors. Therefore, seasonal changes and other weather-related conditions, in particular extended snowy, rainy or cold weather in the winter, spring or fall and major weather
events, such as hurricanes, tornadoes, tropical storms and heavy snows, can adversely affect our business and operations through a decline in both the use of our products and
demand for our services. In addition, construction materials production and shipment levels follow activity in the construction industry, which typically occurs in the spring,
summer and fall. Warmer and drier weather during the third and fourth quarters of our fiscal year typically result in higher activity and revenues during those quarters. The first
and second quarters of our fiscal year typically have lower levels of activity due to adverse weather conditions.
Commodity Price Risk
We are subject to commodity price risk with respect to price changes in liquid asphalt and energy, including fossil fuels and electricity for aggregates and asphalt paving mix
production, natural gas for HMA production and diesel fuel for distribution vehicles and production-related mobile equipment. In order to manage or reduce commodity price
risk, we monitor the costs of these commodities at the time of bid and price them into our contracts accordingly. Furthermore, liquid asphalt escalator provisions in most of our
public contracts, and in some of our private and commercial contracts, limit our exposure to price fluctuations in this commodity. In addition, we enter into various firm
purchase commitments, with terms generally less than one year, for certain raw materials.
Interest Rate Risk
We are exposed to interest rate risk on certain of our short- and long-term debt obligations used to finance our operations and acquisitions. We have LIBOR-based floating rate
borrowings under the BBVA Credit Agreement, which expose us to variability in interest payments due to changes in the reference interest rates. From time to time, we use
derivative instruments as hedges against the impact of interest rate changes on future earnings and cash flows. In order to hedge against changes in interest rates and to manage
fluctuations in cash flows resulting from interest rate risk, on June 30, 2017, we entered into an amortizing interest rate swap agreement applicable to $25.0 million outstanding
debt under the Term Loan, for which we pay a fixed rate of 2.015% and receive a credit based on the applicable LIBOR rate. In connection with the amendment to the BBVA
Credit Agreement and the additional borrowing on May 15, 2018, we entered into an additional $11.0 million notional interest rate swap agreement applicable to the $22.0
million additional debt under the Term Loan. Under this additional swap agreement, we pay a fixed percentage rate of 3.01% and receive a credit based on the applicable
LIBOR rate.
At September 30, 2019, we had a total of $49.7 million of variable rate borrowings outstanding. Holding other factors constant and absent the interest rate swap agreements
described above, a hypothetical 1% change in our borrowing rates would result in a $0.5 million change in our annual interest expense based on our variable rate debt at
September 30, 2019.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
We are a smaller reporting company, as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act, and therefore are not required to provide the information called for by this Item.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Construction Partners, Inc.:

Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Construction Partners, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Company) as of September 30, 2019 and 2018, the
related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements
(collectively, the financial statements). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of September 30,
2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our
audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ RSM US LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.

Birmingham, Alabama
December 13, 2019
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CONSTRUCTION PARTNERS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
September 30,
2019

2018

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Contracts receivable including retainage, net
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts

80,619

$

99,137

139,882
12,030

120,291
9,334

34,291
13,144

24,556
14,137

Total current assets

279,966

267,455

Property, plant and equipment, net

205,870

178,692

38,546
3,434

32,919
3,735

Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Investment in joint venture

496

1,659

Other assets
Deferred income taxes, net

2,284
1,173

10,270
1,580

Total assets

$

531,769

$

496,310

$

70,442
31,115

$

63,510
38,738

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts
Current maturities of debt

7,538

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt, net of current maturities
Deferred income taxes, net
Other long-term liabilities
Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock, par value $0.001; 10,000,000 shares authorized at September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018 and no shares issued and
outstanding
Class A common stock, par value $0.001; 400,000,000 shares authorized, 32,597,736 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2019, and
11,950,000 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2018
Class B common stock, par value $0.001; 100,000,000 shares authorized, 22,106,961 shares issued and 19,184,009 shares outstanding at
September 30, 2019, and 42,387,571 issued and 39,464,619 outstanding at September 30, 2018
Additional paid-in capital
Treasury stock, at cost, 2,922,952 shares of Class B common stock, par value $0.001
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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14,773

19,078

17,520

128,173

134,541

42,458

48,115

11,480

8,890

6,108

5,295

60,046

62,300

188,219

196,841

—

—
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22

42

243,452
(15,603)

242,493
(15,603)

115,646

72,525

343,550

299,469

531,769

$

496,310
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CONSTRUCTION PARTNERS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
For the Fiscal Year Ended
September 30,
2019
Revenues

$

Cost of revenues
Gross profit
General and administrative expenses
Settlement income
Gain on sale of equipment, net

2018

783,238

$

680,096

665,285

580,560

117,953
(62,724)

99,536
(55,303)

—
1,909

14,803
2,392

Operating income

57,138

61,428

Interest expense, net
Other income (expense)

(1,861)
416

(1,270)
(101)

Income before provision for income taxes and earnings from investment
in joint venture
Provision for income taxes

55,693
13,909

60,057
10,525

Earnings from investment in joint venture

1,337

Net income

1,259

$

43,121

$

50,791

$
$

0.84
0.84

$
$

1.11
1.11

Net income per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic

51,421,159

45,605,845

Diluted

51,427,220

45,919,648

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSTRUCTION PARTNERS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except share data)
Common Stock
Shares

Balance, September 30,
2017
Reclassification of
common stock
Initial public offering of
Class A common stock,
net of offering costs
Conversion of Class B
common stock to Class A
common stock

Class A Common Stock

Amount

44,987,575

$

Shares

Class B Common Stock

Amount

45

—

(44,987,575)

(45)

—

$

Shares

$

Amount

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Treasury
Stock

Retained
Earnings

—

$ 142,385

$ (11,983)

$ 21,734

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

—

—

$

152,181

—

—

44,987,571

45

—

—

—

—

—

9,350,000

9

—

—

98,000

—

—

98,009

—

—

2,600,000

3

(2,600,000)

(3)

—

—

—

—

Issuance of restricted
shares from treasury
Cashless option exercise

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

(453)
1,586

458
(4,078)

—
—

5
(2,492)

Equity-based
compensation expense
Net income

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

975
—

—
—

—
50,791

975
50,791

Balance, September 30,
2018

—

—

11,950,000

12

42,387,571

42

242,493

(15,603)

72,525

299,469

—

—

20,355,202

20

(20,355,202)

(20)

—

—

—

—

Conversion of Class B
common stock to Class A
common stock
Issuance of stock grant
awards

—

—

292,534

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Stock option exercise
Equity-based
compensation expense

—

—

—

—

74,592

—

3

—

—

3

—

—

—

—

—

—

957

—

—

957

Net income
Balance, September 30,
2019

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

43,121

43,121

—

32,597,736

33

22,106,961

22

$ 243,452

$ (15,603)

$ 115,646

—

$

$

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSTRUCTION PARTNERS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
For the Fiscal Year
Ended September 30,
2019

2018

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

$

Depreciation, depletion and amortization of long-lived assets

43,121

$

50,791

31,231

25,321

109
995

94
604

Gain on sale of equipment
Equity-based compensation expense

(1,909)
957

(2,392)
975

Earnings from investment in joint venture
Deferred income taxes

(1,337)
2,997

(1,259)
(481)

(20,586)
(2,696)

9,273
(2,955)

(8,826)
993

(2,746)
(8,886)

7,986
6,932

(7,787)
7,462

Amortization of deferred debt issuance costs
Provision for bad debt

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Contracts receivable including retainage, net
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities, net of acquisitions

(7,623)

2,041

2,117
813

(4,778)
844

55,274

66,121

(42,479)

(42,804)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of liquid asphalt terminal assets
Proceeds from sale of equipment
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Investment in joint venture
Distributions received from investment in joint venture

(10,848)

—

4,456

4,931

(13,854)
—

(51,319)
(400)

2,500

—

(60,225)

(89,592)

—
—

(5,000)
21,917

(13,001)

(12,361)

—
(569)

(4,940)
(2,569)

—
3

98,009
5

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

(13,567)

95,061

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

(18,518)

71,590

Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments on revolving credit facility
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net of debt issuance costs and discount
Repayments of long-term debt
Payment to seller of pre-acquisition balance due
Payment of treasury stock purchase obligation
Proceeds from initial public offering of Class A common stock, net of offering costs
Proceeds from sale of stock

Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of period
End of period

99,137

27,547

$

80,619

$

99,137

Cash paid for income taxes

$
$

2,639
9,119

$
$

2,336
14,357

Non-cash items:
Property, plant and equipment financed with accounts payable

$

904

$

395

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 - General
Business Description
Construction Partners, Inc. (the “Company”) is a leading infrastructure and road construction company operating in Alabama, Florida, Georgia, North Carolina and South
Carolina through its wholly owned subsidiaries. The Company provides site development, paving, utility and drainage systems services, as well as hot mix asphalt (“HMA”),
aggregates, ready-mix concrete, and liquid asphalt cement supply. The Company executes projects for a mix of private, municipal, state, and federal customers that are both
privately and publicly funded. The majority of the work is performed under fixed unit price contracts and, to a lesser extent, fixed total price contracts.
The Company was formed as a Delaware corporation in 2007 as a holding company for its wholly owned subsidiary, Construction Partners Holdings, Inc. (“CPHI”), a Delaware
corporation incorporated in 1999 that began operations in 2001, to execute an acquisition growth strategy in the HMA paving and construction industry. SunTx Capital Partners
(“SunTx”), a private equity firm based in Dallas, Texas, is the Company’s majority investor and has owned a controlling interest in the Company’s stock since the Company’s
inception.
Management’s Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the recorded amounts of assets, liabilities, stockholders’ equity, revenues and expenses during the reporting period,
and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Estimates are used in accounting for items such as recognition of revenues and
cost of revenues, goodwill and other intangible assets, allowance for doubtful accounts, valuation allowances related to income taxes, accruals for potential liabilities related to
lawsuits or insurance claims, and the fair value of equity-based compensation awards. Estimates are continually evaluated based on historical information and actual experience;
however, actual results could differ from these estimates.
Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All inter-company balances and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.
Common share and per share amounts have been retroactively adjusted for all periods presented to give effect to the Stock Split described in Note 12 - Equity.
Emerging Growth Company
The Company is an “emerging growth company” as defined by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the “JOBS Act”) enacted in April 2012. As an emerging growth
company, the Company could have taken advantage of an exemption that would have allowed the Company to wait to comply with new or revised financial accounting
standards until the effective date of such standards for private companies. However, the Company has irrevocably elected to opt out of such extended transition period, which
means that when a new or revised standard has different effective dates for public and private companies, the Company is required to adopt the standard at the effective date
applicable to public companies that are not emerging growth companies.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash consists principally of currency on hand and demand deposits at commercial banks. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are both readily
convertible to known amounts of cash, and are so near their maturity that they present insignificant risk of changes in value because of changes in interest rates. Cash
equivalents include investments with original maturities of three months or less. The Company maintains demand accounts, money market accounts and certificates of deposit
at several banks. From time to time, account balances have exceeded the maximum available federal deposit insurance coverage limit. The Company has not experienced any
losses in such accounts and regularly monitors its credit risk.
Contracts Receivable Including Retainage, net
Contracts receivable are generally based on amounts billed and currently due from customers, amounts currently due but unbilled, and amounts retained by the customer
pending completion of a project. It is common in the Company’s industry for a small portion of either progress billings or the contract price, typically 10%, to be withheld by
the customer until the Company completes a project to the satisfaction of the customer in accordance with contract terms. Such amounts, defined as retainage, represent a
contract asset and
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are included on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as “Contracts receivable including retainage, net.” Based on the Company’s experience with similar contracts in recent years,
billings for such retainage balances are generally collected within one year of the completion of the project.
The carrying value of contracts receivable including retainage, net of the allowance for doubtful accounts represents their estimated net realizable value. Management provides
for uncollectible accounts through a charge to earnings and a credit to the allowance for doubtful accounts based on its assessment of the current status of individual accounts,
type of service performed, and current economic conditions. Balances that are still outstanding after management has used reasonable collection efforts are written off through a
charge to the allowance for doubtful accounts and an adjustment of the contract receivable.
Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities
Billing practices for the Company’s contracts are governed by the contract terms of each project based on (i) progress toward completion approved by the owner, (ii)
achievement of milestones or (iii) pre-agreed schedules. Billings do not necessarily correlate with revenues recognized under the cost-to-cost input method (formerly known as
the percentage-of-completion method). The Company records contract assets and contract liabilities to account for these differences in timing.
The contract asset, “Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts,” arises when the Company recognizes revenues for services performed under
its construction projects, but the Company is not yet entitled to bill the customer under the terms of the contract. Amounts billed to customers are excluded from this asset and
reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as “Contracts receivable including retainage, net.” Included in costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts are amounts
the Company seeks or will seek to collect from customers or others for (i) errors, (ii) changes in contract specifications or design, (iii) contract change orders in dispute,
unapproved as to scope and price, or (iv) other customer-related causes of unanticipated additional contract costs (such as claims). Such amounts are recorded to the extent that
the amount can be reasonably estimated and recovery is probable. Claims and unapproved change orders made by the Company may involve negotiation and, in rare cases,
litigation. Unapproved change orders and claims also involve the use of estimates, and revenues associated with unapproved change orders and claims are included in the
transaction price for which it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty is resolved. The
Company did not recognize any material amounts associated with claims and unapproved change orders during the periods presented.
The contract liability, “Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts,” represents the Company’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Company has been paid by the customer or for which the Company has billed the customer under the terms of the contract. Revenue for future services
reflected in this account are recognized, and the liability is reduced, as the Company subsequently satisfies the performance obligation under the contract.
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts and billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts are typically
resolved within one year and are not considered significant financing components.
Concentration of Risks
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of contracts receivable including retainage. In the normal course of
business, the Company provides credit to its customers and does not generally require collateral. The Company monitors concentrations of credit risk associated with these
receivables on an ongoing basis. The Company has not historically experienced significant credit losses, due primarily to management’s assessment of customers’ credit ratings.
The Company principally deals with recurring customers, state and local governments and well-known local companies whose reputations are known to management. The
Company performs credit checks for significant new customers and generally requires progress payments for significant projects. The Company generally has the ability to file
liens against the property if payments are not made on a timely basis. No single customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s contracts receivable including
retainage, net balance at September 30, 2019 or September 30, 2018.
Projects performed for various Departments of Transportation accounted for 40.4% and 42.9% of consolidated revenues for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and
2018, respectively. Two customers accounted for more than 10% of consolidated revenues for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, as follows:
% of Consolidated
Revenues
for the Fiscal
Year Ended September 30,
2019
Alabama Department of Transportation
North Carolina Department of Transportation

13.8
13.1
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2018
%
%

15.1
13.3

%
%
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Inventories
The Company’s inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value and are accounted for on an average cost basis or a first-in, first-out cost basis. The cost of
inventory includes the cost of material, labor, trucking and other equipment costs associated with procuring and transporting materials to HMA plants for production and
delivery to customers. Inventories consist primarily of raw materials, including asphalt cement, aggregate and millings that the Company expects to utilize on construction
projects within one year.
Revenues from Contracts with Customers
The Company derives all of its revenues from contracts with its customers, predominantly by performing construction services for both public and private infrastructure
projects, with an emphasis on highways, roads, bridges, airports and commercial and residential developments. These projects are performed for a mix of federal, state,
municipal and private customers. In addition, the Company generates revenues from the sale of construction materials, including HMA, aggregates, liquid asphalt and ready-mix
concrete to third-party public and private customers pursuant to contracts with those customers. The following table reflects, for the periods presented, (i) revenues generated
from public infrastructure construction projects and the sale of construction materials to public customers and (ii) revenues generated from private infrastructure construction
projects and the sale of construction materials to private customers.
% of Consolidated
Revenues
for the Fiscal
Year Ended September 30,
Private
Public

2019

2018

30.7%
69.3%

28.6%
71.4%

Revenues derived from construction projects are recognized over time as the Company satisfies its performance obligations by transferring control of the asset created or
enhanced by the project to the customer. Recognition of revenues and cost of revenues for construction projects requires significant judgment by management, including, among
other things, estimating total costs expected to be incurred to complete a project and measuring progress toward completion. Management reviews contract estimates regularly to
assess revisions of estimated costs to complete a project and measurement of progress toward completion. Revisions in estimates related to amounts recorded in prior periods
resulted in the Company recording net increases in revenues of $3.8 million and $6.9 million during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Management believes the Company maintains reasonable estimates based on prior experience; however, many factors contribute to changes in estimates of contract costs.
Accordingly, estimates made with respect to uncompleted projects are subject to change as each project progresses and better estimates of contract costs become available. All
contract costs are recorded as incurred, and revisions to estimated total costs are reflected as soon as the obligation to perform is determined. Provisions are recognized for the
full amount of estimated losses on uncompleted contracts whenever evidence indicates that the estimated total cost of a contract exceeds its estimated total revenue, regardless of
the stage of completion. When the Company incurs additional costs related to work performed by subcontractors, the Company may be able to utilize contractual provisions to
back charge the subcontractors for those costs. A reduction to costs related to back charges is recognized when estimated recovery is probable and the amount can be reasonably
estimated. Contract costs consist of (i) direct costs on contracts, including labor, materials, and amounts payable to subcontractors and (ii) indirect costs related to contract
performance, such as insurance, employee benefits, and equipment (primarily depreciation, fuel, maintenance and repairs).
Progress toward completion is estimated using the input method, measured by the relationship of total cost incurred through the measurement date to total estimated costs
required to complete the project (cost-to-cost method). The Company believes this method best depicts the transfer of goods and services to the customer because it represents
satisfaction of the Company’s performance obligation under the contract, which occurs as the Company incurs costs. The Company measures percentage of completion based
on the performance of a single performance obligation under its construction projects. Each of the Company’s construction contracts represents a single performance obligation
to complete a defined construction project. This is because goods and services promised for delivery to a customer are not distinct, as the customer cannot benefit from any
individual portion of the services on its own. All deliverables under a contract are part of a project defined by a customer and represent a series of integrated goods and services
that have the same pattern of delivery to the customer and use the same measure of progress toward satisfaction of the performance obligation as the customer’s asset is created
or enhanced by the Company. The Company’s obligation is not satisfied until the entire project is complete.
Revenue recognized during a reporting period is based on the cost-to-cost input method applied to the total transaction price, including adjustments for variable consideration,
such as liquidated damages, penalties or bonuses, related to the timeliness or quality of project performance. The Company includes variable consideration in the estimated
transaction price at the most likely amount to which the
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Company expects to be entitled or the most likely amount the Company expects to incur, in the case of liquidated damages or penalties. Such amounts are included in the
transaction price for which it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty is resolved. The
Company accounts for changes to the estimated transaction price using a cumulative catch-up adjustment.
The majority of the Company’s public construction contracts are fixed unit price contracts. Under fixed unit price contracts, the Company is committed to providing materials or
services required by a contract at fixed unit prices (for example, dollars per ton of asphalt placed). The Company’s private customer contracts are primarily fixed total price
contracts, also known as lump sum contracts, which require that the total amount of work be performed for a single price. Contract cost is recorded as incurred, and revisions in
contract revenue and cost estimates are reflected in the accounting period when known. Changes in job performance, job conditions and estimated profitability, including those
changes arising from contract change orders, penalty provisions and final contract settlements, may result in revisions to estimated revenues and costs and are recognized in the
period in which the revisions are determined.
Change orders are modifications of an original contract that effectively change the existing provisions of the contract and become part of the single performance obligation that
is partially satisfied at the date of the contract modification. This is because goods and services promised under change orders are generally not distinct from the remaining
goods and services under the existing contract, due to the significant integration of services performed in the context of the contract. Accordingly, change orders are generally
accounted for as a modification of the existing contract and single performance obligation. We account for the modification using a cumulative catch-up adjustment. Either the
Company or its customers may initiate change orders, which may include changes in specifications or designs, manner of performance, facilities, equipment, materials, sites and
period of completion of the work.
Revenues derived from the sale of HMA, aggregates, ready-mix concrete, and liquid asphalt are recognized at a point in time, which is when control of the product is
transferred to the customer. Generally, that point in time is when the customer accepts delivery at its facility or receives product in its own transport vehicles from one of the
Company’s HMA plants. Upon purchase, the Company generally provides an invoice or similar document detailing the goods transferred to the customer. The Company
generally offers payment terms customary in the industry, which typically require payment ranging from point-of-sale to 30 days following purchase.
Fair Value Measurements
The Company measures and discloses certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value. The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Inputs used to measure fair value are classified using the following hierarchy:
Level 1. Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access at the measurement date.
Level 2. Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly through corroboration with observable
market data.
Level 3. Inputs are unobservable for the asset or liability and include situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability. The inputs used in the
determination of fair value are based on the best information available under the circumstances and may require significant management judgment or estimation.
The Company endeavors to utilize the best available information in measuring fair value.
The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, contracts receivable including retainage and accounts payable reflected as current assets and current
liabilities on its Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2019 and 2018. Due to the short-term nature of these instruments, management considers their carrying value to
approximate their fair value.
The Company also has term loans and a revolving credit facility, as described in Note 11 - Debt. The carrying value of amounts outstanding under these credit facilities is
reflected as long-term debt, net of current maturities and current maturities of debt on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2019 and 2018. Due to the
variable rate or short-term nature of these instruments, management considers their carrying value to approximate their fair value.
Management applies fair value measurement guidance to its impairment analysis for tangible and intangible assets.
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Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Leasehold improvements for operating leases are
amortized over the lesser of the term of the related lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements. Quarry reserves are depleted in accordance with the units-ofproduction method as aggregate is extracted, using the initial allocation of cost based on proven and probable reserves. Routine repair and maintenance costs are expensed as
incurred. Asset improvements are capitalized at cost and amortized over the remaining useful life of the related asset.
The useful lives of property, plant and equipment categories are as follows:
Category

Estimated Useful Life

Land and improvements
Quarry reserves
Buildings
Plants
Construction equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

Land, unlimited; improvements, 15-25 years
Based on depletion
5 - 39 years
3 - 20 years
3 - 10 years
5 - 10 years
The shorter of 15 years or the remaining lease term

Management periodically assesses the estimated useful life over which assets are depreciated, depleted or amortized. If the analysis warrants a change in the estimated useful
life of property, plant and equipment, management will reduce the estimated useful life and depreciate, deplete or amortize the carrying value prospectively over the shorter
remaining useful life.
The carrying amounts of assets sold or retired and the related accumulated depreciation are eliminated in the period of disposal, and the resulting gains and losses are included in
the results of operations during the same period.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The carrying value of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets subject to amortization is evaluated whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of such assets, or an asset group, may not be recoverable. Events or circumstances that might cause management to perform impairment testing include, but are
not limited to, (i) a significant decrease in the market price of an asset, (ii) a significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used or in its physical
condition, (iii) an accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount originally expected for the acquisition or construction of an asset, (iv) an operating or cash flow
performance combined with a history of operating or cash flow losses or a forecast that demonstrates continuing losses associated with the use of an asset, and (v) an
expectation that an asset will be disposed of significantly before the end of its previously estimated useful life. If indicators of potential impairment are present, management
performs a recoverability test and, if necessary, records an impairment loss. If the total estimated future undiscounted cash flows to be generated from the use and ultimate
disposition of an asset or asset group is less than its carrying value, an impairment loss is recorded in the Company’s results of operations, measured as the amount required to
reduce the carrying value to fair value. Fair value is determined in accordance with the best available information based on the hierarchy described under “Fair Value
Measurements” above. For example, the Company would first seek to identify quoted prices or other observable market data. If observable data is not available, management
would apply the best available information under the circumstances to a technique such as a discounted cash flow model to estimate fair value. Impairment analysis involves
estimates and the use of assumptions in connection with judgments made in forecasting long-term estimated inflows and outflows resulting from the use and ultimate disposition
of an asset, and determining the ultimate useful lives of assets. Actual results may differ from these estimates using different assumptions, which could materially impact the
results of an impairment assessment.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. Other intangible assets consist
of an indefinite-lived name license in connection with a business acquired, and finite-lived assets including a non-compete agreement, customer relationships and construction
backlog, each acquired in business acquisitions. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized, but are reviewed for impairment at least annually, or more
frequently when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. In addition, management evaluates whether events and
circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life. Judgments regarding indicators of potential impairment are based on market conditions and operational performance
of the business.
Annually, on the first day of the Company’s fourth fiscal quarter, management performs an analysis of the carrying value of goodwill at its reporting unit for potential
impairment. In accordance with GAAP, the Company may assess its goodwill for impairment initially using a qualitative approach to determine whether conditions exist to
indicate that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value. If management concludes, based on its assessment of relevant events,
facts and
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circumstances, that it is more likely than not that a reporting unit’s carrying value is greater than its fair value, then a quantitative analysis will be performed to determine
whether there is any impairment. The Company may also elect to initially perform a quantitative analysis instead of starting with a qualitative assessment. Because the
Company has only one reporting unit, a market capitalization calculation can be performed as the first step of the quantitative assessment by comparing the book value of the
Company’s stock (determined by reference to the Company’s stockholders’ equity) to the fair market value of a share of the Company’s stock. If the fair value of the stock is
greater than the calculated book value of the stock, goodwill is deemed not to be impaired, and no further testing is required. If the fair value is less than the calculated book
value, then the Company must take a second step to determine the impairment amount, as described below.
The second step requires comparing the carrying value of a reporting unit, including goodwill, to its fair value, typically using the multiple period discounting method under the
income approach and market approach. The income approach uses a discounted cash flow model, which involves significant estimates and assumptions, including preparation
of revenues and profitability growth forecasts, selection of a discount rate, and selection of a terminal year multiple, to estimate fair value. The market approach could include
applying a control premium to the market price of the Company’s common stock or utilizing guideline public company multiples. Management’s assessment of facts and
circumstances at each analysis date could cause these assumptions to change. If the fair value of the respective reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill is not
considered to be impaired, and no further testing is required. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment charge is recorded to write down
goodwill to its fair value and is recorded in the Company’s results of operations. The Company performed a quantitative assessment of goodwill using the market capitalization
calculation for fiscal years 2019 and 2018 and determined that the fair value of its reporting unit exceeded its carrying value, and thus concluded that the carrying value of
goodwill was not impaired at September 30, 2019 or 2018. Accordingly, no further analysis was required or performed.
Management also annually assesses the carrying value of the Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets other than goodwill on the first day of the fiscal fourth quarter.
Management tests indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment by comparing their carrying value to their estimated fair value. An impairment loss is recorded in the
Company’s results of operations to the extent that the carrying value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds its fair value. Similar to the assessment of goodwill, events
and changes in circumstances could cause management to utilize different assumptions in subsequent evaluations, which could materially impact the results of an impairment
assessment. Management concluded that the carrying value of the Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets other than goodwill was not impaired at September 30, 2019 or
September 30, 2018.
Deferred Debt Issuance Costs
Costs directly associated with obtaining debt financing are deferred and amortized over the term of the related debt agreement. Unamortized amounts related to long-term debt
are reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the related long-term debt liability.
Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income is a measure of net income and all other changes in equity that result from transactions other than transactions with stockholders. Management has
determined that net income is the Company’s only component of comprehensive income. Accordingly, there is no difference between net income and comprehensive income.
Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes includes federal and state income taxes. Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial statement carrying values and their respective tax
bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the fiscal years in which the temporary differences are
expected to be reversed or settled. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.
Management evaluates the realization of deferred tax assets and establishes a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the deferred tax assets
will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are presented on a net basis by taxing authority and classified as non-current on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet. The Company classifies income tax-related interest and penalties as interest expense and other expenses, respectively.
Equity-Based Incentive Plans
Compensation costs related to equity-classified share-based awards are recognized in the consolidated financial statements based on grant date fair value. Compensation cost for
graded-vesting awards is recognized ratably over the respective vesting periods.
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Accrued Insurance Costs
The Company carries insurance policies to cover various risks, including primarily general liability, automobile liability and workers’ compensation, under which it is liable to
reimburse the insurance company for a portion of each claim paid. The amount for which the Company is liable for general liability, automobile liability and workers’
compensation claims ranges from $100,000 to $500,000 per occurrence. Management accrues for probable losses, both reported and unreported, that are reasonably estimable
using actuarial methods based on historic trends modified, if necessary, by recent events. Changes in loss assumptions caused by changes in actual experience would affect the
assessment of the ultimate liability and could have an effect on the Company’s operating results and financial position up to $500,000 per occurrence for general liability,
automobile liability and workers’ compensation claims.
The Company provides employee medical insurance under policies that are both fixed-premium, fully-insured policies and self-insured policies that are administered by the
insurance company. Under the self-insured policies, the Company is liable to reimburse the insurance company for actual claims paid plus an administrative fee. The Company
purchases separate stop-loss insurance that limits the individual participant claim loss to amounts ranging from $75,000 to $160,000.
In addition to the retention items noted above, the Company’s insurance provider requires the Company to maintain a standby letter of credit. This letter of credit serves as a
guarantee by the banking institution to pay the Company’s insurance provider the incurred claim costs attributable to general liability, workers’ compensation and automobile
liability claims, up to the amount stated in the standby letter of credit, in the event that these claims are not paid by the Company (see Note 18 - Commitments and
Contingencies).
Earnings per Share
Basic net income per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing net income attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per common share attributable to common stockholders is the same as basic net income per share attributable
to common stockholders, but includes dilutive unvested stock awards using the treasury stock method.
Segment Reporting and Reporting Units
The Company operates in Alabama, Florida, Georgia, North Carolina and South Carolina through its wholly owned subsidiaries located infour southeastern states. Each of the
Company’s platform operating companies engages in essentially the same business, primarily infrastructure and road construction.
Management determined that the Company functions as a single operating segment, and thus reports as a single reportable segment. This determination is based on rules
prescribed by GAAP applied to the manner in which management operates the Company. In particular, management assessed the discrete financial information routinely
reviewed by the Company’s Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”), its Chief Executive Officer, to monitor the Company’s operating performance and support decisions
regarding allocation of resources to its operations. Specifically, performance is continuously monitored at the consolidated level and at the individual contract level to timely
identify deviations from expected results. Resource allocations are based on the capacity of the Company’s operating facilities to pursue new project opportunities, including
reallocation of assets that are underutilized from time to time at a certain operating facility to another operating facility where additional resources might be required to fully
meet demand. Other factors further supporting this conclusion include substantial similarities throughout all of the Company’s operations with respect to services provided, type
of customers, sourcing of materials and manufacturing and delivery methodologies.
Management further determined that, based on their economic similarities, the Company’s five platform operating companies, representing components, should be aggregated
into one reporting unit for purposes of assessing potential impairment of goodwill in accordance with ASC Topic 350, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other. These legal entities
represent material acquisitions that occurred over time in Alabama, Florida, Georgia and North Carolina pursuant to the Company’s strategic growth strategy. Each platform
company is managed by its president, who has primary responsibility for the respective operating company. Collectively, these presidents are directly accountable to, and
maintain regular contact with, the CODM as a team to discuss operating activities, financial results, forecasts, and operating plans for the Company’s single operating segment.
Note 3 - Accounting Standards
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09,Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which added a new ASC Topic 606 (“ASC
606”). ASC 606 revises and consolidates prior guidance, eliminates industry-specific revenue recognition guidance and establishes a comprehensive principle-based approach
for determining revenue recognition. The core principle of the guidance is that an entity must recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for providing those goods or services. ASC 606 sets forth a five-step
revenue recognition model to be applied consistently to all contracts with customers, except those that
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are within the scope of other topics in the ASC: (i) identify the contract with a customer, (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract, (iii) determine the transaction
price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. The
update also provides guidance regarding the recognition of costs related to obtaining and fulfilling customer contracts. This update also requires quantitative and qualitative
disclosures sufficient to enable users of financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts,
including disclosures on significant judgments made when applying the guidance. The FASB subsequently amended ASC 606 on multiple occasions to, among other things,
delay its effective date and clarify certain implementation guidance.
Management adopted this update for the Company’s fiscal year beginning October 1, 2018, using a modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the Company’s
financial statements are prepared under the revised guidance for the year of adoption, but not for prior years, and the Company recognizes a cumulative adjustment to the
opening balance of retained earnings for contracts that still require performance by the Company at the date of adoption. The adoption of ASC 606 on October 1, 2018 did not
result in a material impact that required recognition of a cumulative adjustment of the opening retained earnings balance for contracts that still required performance at
September 30, 2018. Application of ASC 606 for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019 had the following impact on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at
September 30, 2019 and Consolidated Statement of Income for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019 (in thousands):

At September 30, 2019

As Reported

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts
Inventories
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts

Impact of ASC 606

Without Application of
ASC 606

$
$
$
$

12,030
34,291
19,078
31,115

$
$
$
$

(599)
1,602
(39)
1,167

$
$
$
$

12,629
32,689
19,039
29,948

$
$
$
$

783,238
665,285
13,909
43,121

$
$
$
$

(1,766)
(1,602)
(39)
(125)

$
$
$
$

785,004
666,887
13,948
43,246

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2019
Revenues
Cost of revenues
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
Net income

The Company has refined its accounting policies and related internal controls affected by ASC 606. Management’s assessment of the Company’s construction contracts under
the new standard supports the recognition of revenue over time using the cost-to-cost input method (formerly known as the percentage-of-completion method of accounting),
measured by the relationship of total cost incurred to total estimated contract costs, which is consistent with the Company’s historical revenue recognition practices. As such, the
Company’s construction contracts continue to be recognized over time considering the continuous transfer of control to its customers during the performance of construction
projects. The Company also enhanced its disclosures regarding judgments and estimates used by management in the application of ASC 606 in Note 2 - Significant Accounting
Policies.
In January 2017, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2017-01,Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business (“ASC
805”). The amendments of this update refine the definition of a business. Prior to this update, guidance in ASC 805 defined a business as having an integrated set of assets
along with three elements or activities: inputs, processes, and outputs (collectively referred to as a “set”). ASC 805 provides a framework to assist in the evaluation of whether a
set is a business. If substantially all of the fair value of gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of similar identifiable assets, the set is not a
business. If that threshold is not met, the Company must perform further analysis to determine whether the set is a business. At a minimum, the set must include an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The Company adopted this update for the Company’s fiscal year beginning October 1,
2018 and applied the guidance to acquisitions during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019 as described in Note 4 - Business Acquisitions and Note 8 - Property, Plant and
Equipment.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
The FASB has issued certain ASUs that are applicable to the Company and will be adopted in future periods. The consolidated financial statements and related disclosures for
the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 do not reflect the requirements of this guidance. The following is a brief description of the recently issued ASUs and
management’s current assessment regarding the methods, timing and impact of adoption of such ASUs by the Company in the future.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02,Leases (Topic 842) and subsequently issued related ASUs that require lessees to present right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities on the balance sheet for most leases. The ASU will be effective commencing with the Company’s fiscal quarter ending December 31, 2019. The Company will adopt
the new guidance using a modified retrospective approach, recognizing a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption. The
Company anticipates applying the optional package of practical expedients upon adoption. Based on a preliminary assessment, management expects the adoption of this ASU to
result in the recognition of $9.0 million to $10.0 million of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet, with an immaterial impact to
the opening balance of retained earnings.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15,Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments, which provides
guidance on eight cash flow classification issues: debt prepayment and debt extinguishment costs, settlement of certain debt instruments, contingent consideration payments
made after a business combination, proceeds from the settlement of insurance claims, proceeds from the settlement of corporate-owned life insurance policies, distributions
received from equity method investees, beneficial interests in securitization transactions, and separately identifiable cash flows and application of the predominance principle.
The amendments of this update are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019.
Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. If an entity early adopts the amendments in an interim period, any adjustments must be reflected as of the
beginning of the fiscal year that includes that interim period. The Company expects to adopt this guidance as required and does not expect a material impact to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
Note 4 - Business Acquisitions
The Scruggs Company
On May 15, 2018, the Company acquired all of the common shares and voting interests of The Scruggs Company “( Scruggs”). The acquisition complemented the Company’s
vertically integrated southeastern United States operations, providing new bidding areas in the expanding Georgia market. This acquisition was accounted for as a business
combination in accordance with ASC 805.
Management completed the purchase price allocation for this acquisition during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
were recorded at their estimated fair values based on the methodology described under “Fair Value Measurements” in Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies. The fair values
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, and the estimated useful lives of intangible assets acquired, were as follows (in thousands):
Contracts receivable including retainage
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts
Inventory

$

Other current assets (1)
Property, plant and equipment:
Construction equipment
Quarry reserves
Land and land improvements
Plant
Buildings

17,571
13,986
7,302
6,917
1,552
594
1,100
2,319
(3,646)
(4,589)
(358)
(1,770)
(4,940)
(744)

Backlog intangible (2)
Customer relationship (3)
Goodwill
Accounts payable
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts
Current maturities of long-term debt
Other current liabilities
Payable to seller
Long-term debt, net of current maturities
$
(1) Other
(2)

9,184
1,787
4,323
731

current assets excludes cash acquired.

The estimated useful life of the backlog intangible asset is 17 months.
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(3)

The estimated useful life of the customer relationship intangible is 8 years.

The amount of the purchase price exceeding the net fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed was recorded as goodwill. Under the terms of the Stock
Purchase Agreement, the parties made a Section 338(h)(10) election under the Internal Revenue Code. Accordingly, goodwill, the backlog intangible and customer relationship
intangible assets allocated to the purchase price and the step-up to fair value of property, plant and equipment reflected in the acquisition date balance sheet are deductible by the
Company for income tax purposes. Goodwill primarily represents the assembled work force and synergies expected to result from the acquisition.
The Consolidated Statement of Income for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018 includes $35.8 million of revenue and $3.5 million of net income attributable to the
operations of Scruggs. The following table presents pro forma revenues and net income as though the Company had acquired Scruggs on October 1, 2017 (unaudited, in
thousands):
For the Fiscal Year Ended
September 30, 2018
Pro forma revenues
Pro forma net income

$

735,197
55,558

Pro forma financial information is presented as if the operations of Scruggs had been included in the consolidated results of the Company since October 1, 2017, and gives
effect to transactions that are directly attributable to Scruggs, including adjustments to:
a.

Include the pro forma results of operations of Scruggs for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018.

b.

Include additional depreciation and depletion expense related to the fair value of acquired property, plant and equipment and quarry reserves, as applicable, as if such
assets were acquired on October 1, 2016, and the Company’s depreciation and depletion methodologies were consistently applied to such assets.

c.

Include interest expense under the Term Loan, defined in Note 11 - Debt, as if the $22.0 million borrowed to partially finance the purchase price was borrowed on
October 1, 2016. Interest expense calculations further assume that no principal payments were made applicable to the $22.0 million borrowed during the period from
October 1, 2016 through September 30, 2018, and that the interest rate in effect on the date the Company made the additional $22.0 million borrowing on May 15, 2018
was in effect for the period from October 1, 2016 through September 30, 2018.

Pro forma information is presented for informational purposes and may not be indicative of revenue or net income that would have been achieved if the Company had acquired
Scruggs on October 1, 2017.
Alabama Acquisition
On July 12, 2019, a subsidiary of the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of an HMA manufacturing plant and paving company located near Gadsden, Alabama.
The acquired business is expected to benefit from synergies resulting from its proximity to the Company’s preexisting operations in northeast Alabama, including an aggregates
quarry. The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination in accordance with ASC 805. The purchase price of $5.0 million was paid from cash on hand at closing.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at their estimated fair values based on the methodology described under “Fair Value Measurements” in Note 2
- Significant Accounting Policies. The amounts allocated were not material to the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet. The amount of the purchase price exceeding the net
fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed was recorded as goodwill in the amount of approximately $2.4 million, which is deductible for income tax
purposes. Goodwill primarily represents the assembled work force and synergies expected to result from the acquisition.
The results of operations since the July 12, 2019 acquisition date attributable to this acquisition are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements and were not
material to the Consolidated Statements of Income for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019. Pro forma results of operations as if the acquisition had been consummated on
October 1, 2018 would not be material to the Consolidated Statements of Income.
The Company recorded certain costs to effect the acquisition as they were incurred, which are reflected as general and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statements
of Income in the amount of $0.1 million for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019.
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Florida Acquisition
On February 28, 2019, a subsidiary of the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of an HMA and ready-mix concrete business located in Okeechobee, Florida. This
transaction enables the Company to serve new markets in south central Florida through an expanded geographic presence in the state. The acquisition was accounted for as a
business combination in accordance with ASC 805. The purchase price of $8.9 million was paid from cash on hand at closing.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at their estimated fair values based on the methodology described under “Fair Value Measurements” in Note 2
- Significant Accounting Policies. The amounts allocated were not material to the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet. The purchase price exceeding the net fair value of
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed was recorded as goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets, including customer relationships and customer backlog, in
the amount of $3.2 million, which is deductible for income tax purposes. Goodwill primarily represents the assembled work force and synergies expected to result from the
acquisition.
The results of operations since the February 28, 2019 acquisition date attributable to this acquisition are included in the consolidated financial statements since the acquisition
date and were not material to the Consolidated Statements of Income for the year fiscal ended September 30, 2019. Pro forma results of operations as if the acquisition had been
consummated on October 1, 2018 would not be material to the Consolidated Statements of Income.
The Company recorded certain costs to effect the acquisition as they were incurred, which are reflected as general and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statements
of Income in the amount of $0.1 million for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019.
Note 5 - Contracts Receivable Including Retainage, net
Contracts receivable including retainage, net consisted of the following at September 30, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands):
September 30,
2019
Contracts receivable
Retainage

$

2018
121,050
19,835

$

104,541
16,848

140,885
(1,003)

Allowance for doubtful accounts
$

Contracts receivable including retainage, net

139,882

121,389
(1,098)
$

120,291

The following is a summary of changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts balance during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands):
For the Fiscal Year Ended
September 30,
2019

2018

Balance at beginning of period
Charged to bad debt expense
Write-off of contracts receivable including retainage

$

1,098
995
(1,090)

$

1,734
604
(1,240)

Balance at end of period

$

1,003

$

1,098

Retainage receivables have been billed, but are not due, until contract completion and acceptance by the customer.
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Note 6 - Contract Assets and Liabilities
Costs and estimated earnings compared to billings on uncompleted contracts at September 30, 2019 and 2018 consisted of the following (in thousands):
September 30,
2019
Costs on uncompleted contracts
Estimated earnings to date on uncompleted contracts

$

2018
900,880
123,256

$

743,322
95,155

1,024,136
(1,043,221)

Billings to date on uncompleted contracts
$

Net billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts

838,477
(867,881)

(19,085)

$

(29,404)

Significant changes to balances of costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings (contract asset) and billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings (contract liability) on
uncompleted contracts from September 30, 2018 to September 30, 2019 are presented below (in thousands):
Costs and Estimated
Earnings in Excess of
Billings on
Uncompleted Contracts

Net Billings in Excess of
Costs and Estimated
Earnings on Uncompleted
Contracts

Billings in Excess of Costs
and Estimated Earnings on
Uncompleted Contracts

September 30, 2018
Changes in revenue billed, contract price or cost estimates

$

9,334
2,696

$

(38,738)
7,623

$

(29,404)
10,319

September 30, 2019

$

12,030

$

(31,115)

$

(19,085)

At September 30, 2019, the Company had unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied performance obligations under construction project contracts representing approximately $481.1
million in aggregate transaction price. The Company expects to earn revenue as it satisfies its performance obligations under those contracts in the amount of approximately
$386.2 million during the fiscal year ending September 30, 2020 and approximately $94.9 million thereafter.
Note 7 - Other Assets
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following at September 30, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands):
September 30,
2019
Settlement receivable
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets

51

2018

$

7,706
3,043
2,395

$

7,874
4,989
1,274

$

13,144

$

14,137
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Other Assets
Other assets consisted of the following at September 30, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands):
September 30,
2019

2018

Settlement receivable
Notes receivable
Other assets

$

—
2,124
160

$

7,224
2,561
485

Total other assets

$

2,284

$

10,270

Note 8 - Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment at September 30, 2019 and 2018 consisted of the following (in thousands):
September 30,
2019
Construction equipment
Plants
Land and improvements
Quarry reserves
Buildings
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

$

Total property, plant and equipment, gross
Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization
Construction in progress

214,500
92,279
34,365
20,678
15,458
4,864
1,135

2018
$

383,279
(177,927)
518
$

Total property, plant and equipment, net

205,870

190,420
79,563
29,624
20,908
12,416
4,422
765
338,118
(160,795)
1,369

$

178,692

On February 28, 2019, the Company acquired a liquid asphalt terminal located in Panama City, Florida. The purchase price of $10.9 million was paid from cash on hand on the
acquisition date. The Company uses the terminal to receive, store and process liquid asphalt primarily for use in its construction projects. The transaction was accounted for as
an asset acquisition in accordance with ASC 805. Accordingly, the purchase price and direct costs of $0.1 million incurred to complete the transaction were allocated to asset
categories based on their relative fair value at the date of acquisition.
Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense related to property, plant and equipment for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 was $30.1 million and
$24.8 million, respectively.
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Note 9 - Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
The following presents goodwill activity during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands):
Balance at September 30, 2017
Additions

$

30,600
2,319

Balance at September 30, 2018
Additions

32,919
5,627
$

Balance at September 30, 2019

38,546

A summary of other intangible assets at September 30, 2019 and 2018 is as follows (in thousands):
September 30,
2019
Useful
Life
Indefinite-lived:
License
Definite-lived:
Customer relationship
Acquired construction backlog
Non-compete agreements

Indefinite

Gross
$

$

—

1,645
820
1,520

8 years
7-17 months
5 years

Total intangible assets

2,000

$

5,985

2018

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value
$

(229)
(820)
(1,502)
$

(2,551)

2,000

Gross
$

2,000

1,416
—
18
$

3,434

Accumulated
Amortization
$

—

1,100
594
1,500
$

5,194

Net Book
Value
$

2,000

(52)
(157)
(1,250)
$

(1,459)

1,048
437
250
$

3,735

Total amortization expense related to definite-lived intangible assets was $1.1 million and $0.5 million for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Estimated future total amortization expense related to definite-lived intangible assets is as follows (in thousands):
Fiscal Year

Estimated Amortization Expense

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

$

210
210
210
210
206
388

Total

$

1,434

Note 10 - Liabilities
Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following at September 30, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands):
September 30,
2019
Accrued payroll and benefits
Treasury stock purchase obligation
Accrued insurance costs
Other current liabilities

2018

15,173
—
1,761
2,144
$

Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities
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12,802
569
1,750
2,399
$

17,520
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Other Long-Term Liabilities
Other long-term liabilities consisted of the following at September 30, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands):
September 30,
2019
Accrued insurance costs
Other
Total other long-term liabilities

2018

$

5,358
750

$

4,826
469

$

6,108

$

5,295

Note 11 - Debt
The Company maintains various credit facilities from time to time to finance acquisitions, the purchase of real estate, construction equipment, plants and other fixed assets, and
for general working capital purposes. Debt at September 30, 2019 and 2018 consisted of the following (in thousands):
September 30,
2019
Long-term debt:
BBVA Term Loan
BBVA Revolving Credit Facility
Other long-term debt

$

Total long-term debt
Deferred debt issuance costs
Debt discount
Current maturities of long-term debt

2018
44,700
5,000
563

$

50,263
(263)
(4)
(7,538)
$

Long-term debt, net of current maturities

42,458

57,300
5,000
964
63,264
(362)
(14)
(14,773)

$

48,115

BBVA Credit Agreement
The Company and each of its subsidiaries are parties to a credit agreement with BBVA USA (formerly known as Compass Bank), as agent, issuing bank and a lender, and
certain other lenders (as amended, the “BBVA Credit Agreement”). The BBVA Credit Agreement provides for a term loan (the “Term Loan”) and a revolving credit facility (the
“Revolving Credit Facility”). At September 30, 2019 and 2018, there was $44.7 million and $57.3 million, respectively, of principal outstanding under the Term Loan, $5.0
million and $5.0 million, respectively, of principal outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility, and availability of $14.4 million and $14.0 million, respectively, under the
Revolving Credit Facility, including reduction for outstanding letters of credit. The obligations of the borrower entities under the Term Loan and the Revolving Credit Facility
are secured by a first priority security interest in substantially all of the Company’s assets and are guaranteed by the Company, as the ultimate parent company of the borrower
entities.
In August 2019, the BBVA Credit Agreement was amended to, among other things, modify the interest rate and fee structure, as well as the repayment schedule and amounts.
Currently, the BBVA Credit Agreement provides for a four-tier escalating interest rate for both the Term Loan and the Revolving Credit Facility that is tied to the London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). The baseline rate for such borrowings is LIBOR plus 1.20%, and the rate may increase up to LIBOR plus 1.70% if the Company’s
consolidated leverage ratio exceeds 2.00%. Prior to the August 2019 amendment, the interest rate on any particular borrowing was calculated based on one of several indices set
forth in the agreement, plus an applied markup of 2.0% to 2.25%. At September 30, 2019 and 2018, the interest rate on outstanding borrowings under the Term Loan and
Revolving Credit Facility was 3.24% and 4.24%, respectively. Principal repayments under the Term Loan are made in quarterly installments in an amount equal to2.50% of the
original amount borrowed, a reduction from the 5.00% rate that the Company paid prior to the August 2019 amendment. The Company pays a commitment fee of0.20% per
annum on the aggregate unused commitment amount under the Revolving Credit Facility, a reduction from 0.35% prior to the August 2019 amendment, as well as fees with
respect to any letters of credit issued thereunder. As of September 30, 2019, all amounts borrowed under the BBVA Credit Agreement were scheduled to mature on July 1,
2022.
The BBVA Credit Agreement contains usual and customary negative covenants for agreements of this type, including, but not limited to, restrictions on the Company’s ability
to make acquisitions, make loans or advances, make capital expenditures and investments, pay dividends, create or incur indebtedness, create liens, wind up or dissolve,
consolidate, merge or liquidate, or sell, transfer or dispose of assets. The BBVA Credit Agreement also requires the Company to satisfy certain financial covenants, including a
minimum fixed
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charge coverage ratio of 1.20-to-1.00 and a maximum consolidated leverage ratio of 2.75-to-1.00, subject to certain adjustments. Prior to the August 2019 amendment, the
maximum consolidated leverage ratio was 2.00 to 1.00. At September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company’s fixed charge coverage ratio was 4.04-to-1.00 and 1.51-to-1.00,
respectively, and the Company’s consolidated leverage ratio was 0.66-to-1.00 and 0.88-to-1.00, respectively. At both September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company was in
compliance with all covenants under the BBVA Credit Agreement.
From time to time, the Company has entered into interest rate swap agreements to hedge against the risk of changes in interest rates. On June 30, 2017, the Company entered
into an interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of $25.0 million, under which the Company pays a fixed percentage rate of 2.02% and receives a credit based on
the applicable LIBOR rate. On May 15, 2018, the Company entered into an additional $11.0 million notional interest rate swap agreement applicable to the $22.0 million
amount borrowed under the Term Loan on that date, under which the Company pays a fixed percentage rate of 3.01% and receives a credit based on the applicable LIBOR rate.
These interest rate swap agreements do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting treatment in accordance with GAAP. At September 30, 2019 and 2018, the aggregate notional
value of these interest rate swap agreements was $21.5 million and $28.7 million, respectively, and the fair value was $(0.3) million and $0.3 million, respectively, which is
included within other liabilities or other assets on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The BBVA Credit Agreement was amended subsequent to September 30, 2019. For more information about the amendment, see Note 22 - Subsequent Events.
Acquired Debt
In connection with the acquisition of Scruggs, the Company assumed $1.1 million of debt that had been used to finance equipment purchases and was collateralized by the
purchased equipment. These loans, included in other long-term debt in the table above, include (i) three zero-interest notes having an aggregate estimated fair value at the
acquisition date of approximately $0.4 million (determined in accordance with the methodology described under “Fair Value Measurements” in Note 2 - Significant Accounting
Policies) that require monthly payments and have maturity dates between February 2020 and May 2020, and (ii) approximately $0.7 million in other loans with fixed interest
rates ranging from 4.50% to 5.95% that require monthly payments and have maturity dates ranging from 2019 through 2023.
The scheduled contractual repayment terms of long-term debt at September 30, 2019 were as follows:
Fiscal Year

Amount

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Total

$

7,538
7,346
35,357
22
—

$

50,263

Interest expense was $3.3 million and $2.0 million for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Amortization of deferred issuance costs and debt
discounts included in interest expense was $0.1 million for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Note 12 - Equity
Reclassification of Common Stock and Initial Public Offering

On April 23, 2018, the Company amended and restated its certificate of incorporation to effectuate a dual class common stock structure consisting of Class A common stock
and Class B common stock. Each share of common stock issued at that time was split into 25.2 shares (the “Stock Split”) and reclassified as Class B common stock (the
“Reclassification”), resulting in 41,817,537 shares of Class B common stock outstanding and 3,170,034 shares of Class B common stock held by the Company in treasury. All
share and per share amounts have been retroactively adjusted for all periods presented to give effect to the Reclassification and Stock Split.
Shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock are identical in all respects, except with respect to voting rights, conversion rights and transfer restrictions
applicable to shares of Class B common stock. The holders of Class A common stock are entitled to one vote per share, and the holders of Class B common stock are entitled to
ten votes per share. The holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock vote together as a single class on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders,
including the election of directors, unless otherwise required by applicable law or the Company’s certificate of incorporation or bylaws. Shares of Class B common stock are
convertible into shares of Class A common stock at any time at the option of the holder or upon any transfer, subject to certain limited exceptions. In addition, upon the election
of the holders of a majority of the then-outstanding shares
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of Class B common stock, all outstanding shares of Class B common stock will be converted into shares of Class A common stock. Once converted into shares of Class A
common stock, shares of Class B common stock will not be reissued. Class A common stock is not convertible into any other class of the Company’s capital stock.
On May 8, 2018, the Company completed its IPO, in which the Company and certain selling stockholders sold a total of11,250,000 shares of Class A common stock at a price
of $12.00 per share, less underwriting discounts and commissions. Of these shares, 9,000,000 were sold by the Company and 2,250,000 were sold by holders of Class B
common stock, which shares upon sale automatically converted into 2,250,000 shares of Class A common stock. On May 24, 2018, the underwriters of the IPO partially
exercised their over-allotment option to purchase an additional 700,000 shares of Class A common stock at a price of $12.00 per share, less underwriting discount and
commissions. Of these shares, 350,000 were sold by the Company and 350,000 were sold by holders of Class B common stock, which shares upon sale automatically converted
into 350,000 shares of Class A common stock.
Conversion of Class B Common Stock to Class A Common Stock
During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, certain stockholders of the Company converted a total of 20,355,202 shares of Class B common stock into shares of Class A
common stock on a one-for-one basis. Following the conversions, there were 32,597,736 shares of Class A common stock and19,184,009 shares of Class B common stock
outstanding.
Restricted Stock Awards and Options
During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, certain employees of the Company exercised non-plan options granted in 2010, resulting in the purchase of768,984 shares of
Class B common stock at a price of $5.70 per share. These shares were issued from treasury shares at an average cost of $3.64 per share. The transaction was executed as a net
exercise. In addition, the Company sold to certain employees a total of 126,000 restricted shares of common stock at a purchase price of $0.04 per share, which shares were
converted to shares of Class B common stock in connection with the Reclassification. All such shares vested during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018.
During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, the Company awarded a total of 292,534 restricted shares of Class A common stock to its non-employee directors under the
Construction Partners, Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Equity Incentive Plan”). In addition, an employee of the Company exercised an option to purchase 74,592 shares of
Class B common stock at an exercise price of $0.0357 per share.
Additional information about these transactions is set forth in Note 14 - Equity-Based Compensation.
Amendment to the Equity Incentive Plan
On May 24, 2019, the Company adopted an amendment to the Equity Incentive Plan relating to exceptions from the $750,000 limit on the aggregate dollar value of equitybased awards granted during any calendar year to a non-employee director. Prior to the adoption of the amendment, the limit could be multiplied by two with respect to awards
granted in the calendar year in which a non-employee director first joined the Company’s board of directors. The amendment changed the period within which the aggregate
value of equity-based awards may be multiplied by two to be the calendar year in which a non-employee director is first granted equity-based awards under the Equity
Incentive Plan.
Secondary Offering of Class A Common Stock
In September 2019, certain stockholders of the Company (the “Selling Stockholders”) completed an underwritten secondary offering (the “Secondary Offering”) of5,000,000
shares of Class A common stock at a public offering price of $14.25 per share. The Company did not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares by the Selling Stockholders
and, pursuant to a registration rights agreement with the Selling Stockholders, incurred approximately $0.7 million in expenses in connection with the Secondary Offering.
Registration Rights Agreement
The Company is a party to a registration rights agreement (the “Registration Rights Agreement”) with certain of the Company’s directors and officers and affiliates of SunTx
(collectively, the “RRA Holders”). Under the Registration Rights Agreement, the RRA Holders have “demand” registration rights, meaning that the Company must register
under the Securities Act shares of the Company’s common stock owned by such RRA Holders upon their demand under certain circumstances, and “piggyback” registration
rights, meaning that, if the Company proposes to register an offering of securities, it generally must give written notice to the RRA Holders to allow each to include its shares in
the registration. In general, the Company must pay all out-of-pocket expenses in connection with a registration under the Registration Rights Agreement, including filing and
registration fees, printing costs, fees and expenses of the Company’s legal counsel and independent registered public accountants and fees and expenses for one legal counsel for
the applicable RRA Holders. The RRA Holders whose shares are registered must pay all incremental selling expenses relating to any offering, such as underwriters’
commissions and discounts, brokerage fees, underwriter marketing costs and any additional legal counsel that they may engage. As of September 30, 2019, a total of
33,075,417 shares of the Company’s common stock were subject to the registration rights
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agreement, of which 14,225,000 shares had been previously registered but not yet sold. The Registration Rights Agreement expires on May 4, 2023.
Note 13 - Earnings Per Share
As discussed in Note 12 - Equity, the Company has Class A common stock and Class B common stock. Because the only difference between the two classes of common stock
is related to voting rights, we have not presented earnings per share under the two class method, as the earnings per share are the same for both Class A common stock and Class
B common stock.The following table summarizes the weighted-average number of basic common shares outstanding and the calculation of basic earnings per share for the
periods presented (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2019
Numerator
Net income attributable to common shareholders
Denominator
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding, basic

2018

$

43,121

$

50,791

51,421,159
$

Net income per common share attributable to common shareholders, basic

0.84

45,605,845
$

1.11

The following table summarizes the calculation of the weighted-average number of diluted common shares outstanding and the calculation of diluted earnings per share for the
periods presented (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2019
Numerator
Net income attributable to common stockholders
Denominator
Weighted average number of basic common
shares outstanding, basic
Effect of dilutive securities:
2010 non-plan stock option agreement options
2018 restricted stock grants
Weighted average number of diluted common
shares outstanding:
Net income per diluted common share attributable
to common stockholders

$

$

2018
43,121

$

50,791

51,421,159

45,605,845

—
6,061

272,915
40,888

51,427,220

45,919,648

0.84

$

1.11

Note 14 - Equity-Based Compensation
Restricted Stock Awards and Options
On February 23, 2018, the Company sold to certain employees a total of 126,000 restricted shares of common stock at a purchase price of $0.04 per share, which shares were
issued from treasury shares and converted to shares of Class B common stock in connection with the Reclassification. The Company recorded proceeds of $5,000 from the sale.
Half of the shares vested immediately on February 23, 2018, and the remaining half of the shares vested on July 1, 2018. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, the
Company recorded compensation expense in connection with these grants in the amount of $1.0 million, which is reflected as general and administrative expenses on the
Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income. The Company also recorded a reduction to additional paid-in capital of approximately $0.5 million, representing the cost of
treasury shares issued in excess of the purchase price paid by the employees. The grant date fair value of the shares was estimated to be $7.78 per share. At September 30, 2018,
there was no unrecognized compensation expense related to the sale of these shares.
During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, the Company awarded a total of 292,534 restricted shares of Class A common stock to its non-employee directors under the
Equity Incentive Plan in lieu of cash compensation. The grants are classified as equity awards.
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The aggregate grant date fair value of these restricted stock awards was $3.8 million. The grants will vest as to two-thirds of the underlying shares on January 1, 2021 and as to
the remaining one-third of the underlying shares on January 1, 2022. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, the Company recorded $0.5 million of compensation
expense in connection with these grants, which is reflected as general and administrative expenses in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income. At September 30,
2019, there was approximately $3.2 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to these awards.
Option Exercises
In June 2018, certain employees of the Company exercised options to purchase a total of768,984 shares of Class B common stock at a price of $5.70 per share. The options
were granted in 2010 pursuant to a non-plan option agreement and were classified as equity awards. The shares were issued from the Company’s treasury at an average cost of
approximately $3.64 per share. The transaction was executed as a cashless exercise, through which the Company concurrently repurchased from the option holders a total of
521,902 shares of Class B common stock at a price of $13.17 per share (the closing price for a share of Class A common stock on the exercise date) in order to fund the exercise
price for the options and satisfy the statutory federal, state and payroll tax withholding requirements applicable to the employees in connection with the exercise. The net result
was an increase of 247,082 shares of Class B common stock outstanding. Of the aggregate repurchase price, the Company recorded the total exercise price of approximately
$4.4 million as additional paid-in capital and withheld and submitted to applicable taxing authorities approximately $2.5 million in satisfaction of the employees’ tax
obligations.
In August 2019, an employee of the Company exercised an option to purchase 74,592 shares of Class B common stock at a price of $0.0357 per share. The option was granted
in March 2017 pursuant to a non-plan option agreement. The option was fully vested upon the date of grant, but, until the option agreement was subsequently amended, the
option was exercisable only during the ten-day period immediately preceding a change in control of the Company. In August 2019, the Company and the employee amended the
option agreement to (i) adjust the number of underlying shares and exercise price of the option to account for the Stock Split and Reclassification; (ii) reduce the exercise price
(as adjusted) for the shares underlying the option; (iii) make the option immediately exercisable; and (iv) provide that the option would expire on the earlier of December 31,
2019 or the occurrence of one of the other expiration events set forth in the option agreement. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, the Company recorded
approximately $0.4 million of compensation expense in connection with the option amendment, which is reflected in general administrative expenses on the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Income. At September 30, 2019, there was no unrecognized compensation expense related to the option.

Note 15 - Provision for Income Taxes
The Company files a consolidated United States federal income tax return and income tax returns in various states. Management evaluated the Company’s tax positions based
on appropriate provisions of applicable enacted tax laws and regulations and believes that they are supportable based on their specific technical merits and the facts and
circumstances of the transactions.
The provision for income taxes for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 consisted of the following (in thousands):
For the Fiscal Year Ended
September 30,
2019
Current
U.S. Federal
State
Total current

$

Deferred
U.S. Federal
State
Total deferred

2018
9,780
1,132

$

10,912

11,006

2,203
794

(1,003)
522

2,997

Provision for income taxes

$

58

9,380
1,626

13,909

(481)
$

10,525
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Differences exist between income and expenses reported on the consolidated financial statements and those deducted for U.S. federal and state income tax reporting.The
Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities consisted of the following temporary difference tax effects at September 30, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands):
September 30,
2019
Deferred tax assets
Allowance for bad debt
Amortization of finite-lived intangible assets
State net operating loss
Accrued insurance claims
Total deferred tax assets, net

$

Deferred tax liabilities
Amortization of goodwill
Property, plant and equipment
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities, net

2018
425
487
1,330
1,332

$

3,574

3,840

(4,278)
(9,525)
(78)

(3,925)
(7,162)
(63)

(13,881)

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)

$

444
499
1,695
1,202

(10,307)

(11,150)
$

(7,310)

The Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2019 and 2018 include gross deferred tax assets of $3.6 million and $3.8 million, respectively. In assessing the realization of
deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred
tax assets depends on the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences are deductible. Management considers the scheduled
reversal of deferred tax liabilities (including the impact of available carryback and carryforward periods), projected taxable income, and tax-planning strategies in making this
assessment. Based on the weight of all evidence known and available as of the balance sheet date, management believes that these tax benefits are more likely than not to be
realized in the future. To the extent that management does not consider it more likely than not that a deferred tax asset will be recovered, a valuation allowance is established.
Income taxes payable have been reduced by fuel tax credits of $0.3 million for each of the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018. The remaining amount of goodwill
expected to be deductible for tax purposes was $19.0 million and $14.9 million at September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
The following is a reconciliation of net deferred tax assets (liabilities) to amounts reflected on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2019 and 2018 (in
thousands):
September 30,
2019
Asset: Deferred income taxes, net
Liability: Deferred income taxes, net
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)

2018

$

1,173
(11,480)

$

1,580
(8,890)

$

(10,307)

$

(7,310)

At September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company had a state net operating loss carryforward of $31.6 million and $38.3 million, respectively. The state net operating loss credit
carryforwards expire in varying amounts between the fiscal years ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2030.
The U.S. statutory federal income tax rate applicable to the Company was 21% during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019. On December 22, 2017, the U.S. government
enacted comprehensive tax legislation known as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”). The Tax Act included broad and complex changes to the U.S. tax code, including a
reduction in the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21% effective January 1, 2018. The Company completed its accounting for the income tax effects of the Tax
Act during fiscal 2018 and recorded a discrete tax benefit of $4.6 million related to the Tax Act, primarily due to an adjustment in the Company’s deferred federal income tax
liabilities by the same amount as a result of the reduction in the U.S. federal corporate tax rate. This net reduction in deferred tax liabilities also included the estimated impact on
the Company’s net state deferred tax assets. Accordingly, the Company recorded its income tax provision for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018 based on a blended U.S.
federal statutory tax rate of 24.5%, which was based on a proration of the applicable tax rates before and after the effective date of the Tax Act, and the effect of applicable state
income taxes. The federal statutory rate of 21% applies for fiscal years beginning after September 30, 2018. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, the Company also
realized a $2.3 million permanent tax
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benefit, including $1.4 million resulting from the deduction of the excess fair market value of options exercised by certain employees of the Company over the exercise price.
The following table reconciles income taxes based on the U.S. federal statutory tax rate to the Company’s income before provision for income taxes for the fiscal years ended
September 30, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands):
For the Fiscal Year Ended
September 30,
2019
Provision for income tax at federal statutory rate
State income taxes
Change in deferred federal income taxes due to Tax Act
Permanent differences
Other
Provision for income taxes

2018

$

11,976
1,521
—
319
93

$

15,023
1,622
(4,552)
(2,282)
714

$

13,909

$

10,525

Uncertain Tax Positions
ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”), prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement model for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax
position taken, or expected to be taken, in a tax return and provides guidance on derecognition classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and
transition.
The Company is subject to tax audits in various jurisdictions in the United States. Tax audits, by their nature, are often complex. In the normal course of business, the Company
is subject to challenges from the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and other tax authorities regarding amounts of taxes due. These challenges may alter the timing or amount of
taxable income or deductions, or the allocation of income among tax jurisdictions. As part of the calculation of the provision for income taxes on earnings, management
determines whether the benefits of the Company’s tax positions are at least more likely than not to be sustained upon audit based on the technical merits of the tax position. For
tax positions that are more likely than not to be sustained upon audit, management accrues the largest amount of the benefit that is more likely than not to be sustained. Such
accruals require management to make estimates and judgments with respect to the ultimate outcome of a tax audit. Actual results could vary materially from these estimates.
The Company performed an analysis of its tax positions and determined that no uncertain tax positions existed at September 30, 2019 or 2018. Accordingly, there was no
liability for uncertain tax positions at September 30, 2019 or 2018. Based on the provisions of ASC 740, the Company had no material unrecognized tax benefits at September
30, 2019 or 2018. Due to the utilization of net operating loss carryforwards, the Company’s federal income tax returns for fiscal years ended September 30, 2013 through
September 30, 2019 are subject to examination. Various state income tax returns for fiscal years ended September 30, 2011 through September 30, 2019 are also subject to
examination.

Note 16 - Employee Benefit Plans
The Company offers a 401(k) retirement plan covering substantially all employees who are at least 18 years old and have more than one year of service. The Company makes
discretionary employer contributions, subject to IRS safe harbor rules. Employer contributions charged to earnings during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018
were $2.9 million and $2.3 million, respectively.

Note 17 - Related Parties
On December 31, 2017, the Company sold an indirect wholly owned subsidiary to an immediate family member of a Senior Vice President of the Company (“Purchaser of
subsidiary”) in consideration for an interest-bearing note receivable in the amount of $1.0 million, which approximated the net book value of the disposed entity. At September
30, 2019, $0.1 million and $0.7 million was reflected on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet within other current assets and other assets, respectively, representing the
remaining balances on this note receivable. In connection with this transaction, the Company also received an interest-bearing note receivable from the disposed entity
(“Disposed entity”) on December 31, 2017 in the amount of $1.0 million representing certain accounts payable of the disposed subsidiary that were paid by the Company. At
September 30, 2019, $0.1 million and $0.7 million was reflected on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet within other current assets and other assets, respectively,
representing the remaining balances on this note receivable. Remaining principal and interest payments are scheduled to be made in periodic installments during fiscal year 2020
through fiscal year 2026.
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From time to time, the Company conducts or has conducted business with the following related parties:
•

On January 30, 2015, a subsidiary of the Company entered into a master services subcontract with Austin Trucking, LLC (“Austin Trucking”), an entity owned by an
immediate family member of a Senior Vice President of the Company. Pursuant to the agreement, Austin Trucking performs subcontract work for the subsidiary of the
Company, including trucking services.

•

From time to time, a subsidiary of the Company provides construction services to various companies owned by family members of a Senior Vice President of the
Company (“Construction Services”).

•

Prior to its acquisition by the Company, a current subsidiary of the Company advanced funds to an entity owned by an immediate family member of an officer of the
Company in connection with a land development project. The obligations of the borrower entity to repay the advances are guaranteed by a separate entity owned by the
same family member of the officer. Amounts outstanding under the advances do not bear interest and must be repaid in full no later than March 17, 2021
(“Land Development Project”).

•

On June 1, 2014, the Company entered into an access agreement with Island Pond Corporate Services, LLC (“Island Pond”), which provides a location for the Company
to conduct business development activities from time to time on a property owned by the Executive Chairman of the Company’s Board of Directors.

•

The Company rents and purchases vehicles from an entity owned by a family member of a Senior Vice President of the Company (“Vehicles”).

•

Family members of a Senior Vice President of the Company provide consulting services to a subsidiary of the Company (“Consulting Services”).

•

A law firm previously owned by a family member of a Senior Vice President of the Company provided legal services to a subsidiary of the Company (“Legal Services”).

•

A subsidiary of the Company leased office space for its Dothan, Alabama office from H&K, Ltd. (“H&K”), an entity partially owned by a Senior Vice President of the
Company. The office space was originally leased through early 2020, but the subsidiary terminated the lease in June 2019 and paid $15,000 to H&K as consideration for
the early termination. Under the lease agreement, the Company paid a fixed minimum rent per month.

•

A subsidiary of the Company leased office space for its Montgomery, Alabama office from H&A Properties LLC (“H&A”), an entity partially owned by two Senior
Vice Presidents of the Company. Under the lease agreement, the Company paid a fixed minimum rent per month. In September 2018, the subsidiary purchased this
office from H&A for $0.5 million.

•

Entities owned by immediate family members of a Senior Vice President of the Company perform subcontract work for a subsidiary of the Company, including trucking
and grading services (“Subcontracting Services”)

•

The Company is party to a management services agreement with SunTx, under which the Company pays SunTx $0.25 million per fiscal quarter and reimburses certain
travel expenses and other out-of-pocket expenses.
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The following table presents revenues earned and expenses incurred by the Company during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, and accounts receivable and
accounts payable balances at September 30, 2019 and 2018, related to transactions with the related parties described above (in thousands):
Revenue Earned (Expense Incurred)

Accounts Receivable (Payable)

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2019
Purchaser of subsidiary
Disposed entity
Land Development Project
Subcontracting Services
Construction Services
Island Pond
Vehicles
Consulting Services
Legal Services
H&K
H&A
SunTx

$

September 30,

2018
—
—
—
(19,491)
5,936
(320)
(1,491)
(265)
—
(78)
—
(1,252)

$

(1)
(2)
(2)
(2)
(2)
(2)
(2)
(2)

2019
—
—
—
(13,245)
1,753
(320)
(1,149)
(272)
(58)
(84)
(61)
(1,457)

(1)

Cost is reflected as cost of revenues on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income.

(2)

Cost is reflected as general and administrative expenses on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income.

$

(1)
(2)
(2)
(2)
(2)
(2)
(2)
(2)

2018
756
846
774
(1,238)
2,434
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

850
937
774
(790)
2,863
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Note 18 - Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases
The Company leases office premises and equipment. Where leases contain escalation clauses or concessions, such as rent holidays and landlord/tenant incentives or allowances,
the impact of such adjustment is recognized on a straight-line basis over the minimum lease period. Certain leases provide for renewal options and require the payment of real
estate taxes or other occupancy costs, which are also subject to escalation clauses. Operating lease expense amounted to approximately $9.4 million and $11.2 million for the
fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, which is primarily included in cost of revenues in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Future minimum obligations under non-cancelable operating leases at September 30, 2019 were as follows (in thousands):
Fiscal Year

Amount

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

$

6,537
3,043
1,041
351
255
58

Total

$

11,285

Subsequent to September 30, 2019, the Company paid approximately $10.0 million to purchase certain assets previously subject to operating leases. Future minimum lease
payments of $4.1 million related to these items are reflected in the table above. See Note 22 - Subsequent Events.
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Litigation, Claims, and Assessments
From time to time, the Company is subject to inquiries or audits by taxing authorities arising from its operations, covering a wide range of matters that arise in the ordinary
course of business, such as income taxes and other types of taxes. Each of these matters is subject to various uncertainties, and it is possible that some of these matters may not
be resolved in the Company’s favor. The Company is also involved in other legal and administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. The outcomes of
these inquiries and legal proceedings are not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations on an individual basis, although
adverse outcomes in a significant number of such ordinary course inquiries and legal proceedings could, in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
financial condition and results of operations.
Letters of Credit
Under the Revolving Credit Facility, the Company has a total capacity of $30.0 million that may be used for a combination of cash borrowings and letter of credit issuances. At
September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company had aggregate letters of credit outstanding in the amount of $10.9 million and $11.8 million, respectively, primarily related to
certain insurance policies as described in Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies.
Note 19 - Joint Venture
In November 2017, one of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries entered into a joint venture agreement (the “JV”) with a third party for the sole purpose of bidding on and
performing a construction project for the Alabama Department of Transportation. The Company and the third party each own a 50% partnership interest in the JV and share
revenue and expenses equally. The JV is jointly managed by representatives of the Company and the third party, and all labor, material and equipment required to perform the
contract is subcontracted, with both of the participants of the JV performing some portion of the subcontracted work.
The Company accounts for this joint venture as an equity method investment in accordance with GAAP. At September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company’s investment in the JV
was $0.5 million and $1.7 million, respectively, which is reflected as “Investment in joint venture” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. During the fiscal years
ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company recognized $1.3 million of pre-tax income, representing its 50% interest in the earnings of the JV, which is reflected as
“Earnings from investment in joint venture” on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income. The income tax impact attributable to the Company’s investment in the JV
is included within the provision for income taxes in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income.
Note 20 - Settlement Agreement
On April 19, 2018, certain of the Company’s subsidiaries entered into settlement agreements with a third party arising from an interruption event not directly related to the
Company’s business that the Company does not expect to reoccur (the “Settlement”). The Settlement provides for the Company’s subsidiaries to receive aggregate net payments
of approximately $15.7 million in four equal installments between January 2019 and July 2020, in exchange for releasing and waiving all current and future claims against the
third party. The Company recorded a pre-tax gain of $14.8 million during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018 related to the Settlement. The subsidiaries received
approximately $7.9 million in installment payments during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019. Future payments are reflected on the Company’s Consolidated Balance
Sheets at September 30, 2019 as other current assets in the amount of $7.8 million.
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Note 21 - Condensed Financial Statements of Registrant

CONSTRUCTION PARTNERS, INC.
PARENT COMPANY ONLY
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
September 30,
2019
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investment in subsidiaries
Due from subsidiaries
Other assets
Total current assets

$

2018

31,610
313,277
1,020
551

$

346,458
606

Property, plant and equipment
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Treasury stock purchase obligation
Due to subsidiaries
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities

53,352
247,944
545
1,226
303,067
131

$

347,064

$

303,198

$

—
400
1,231

$

569
800
183

1,631

1,552

Long-term liabilities:
Due to subsidiaries
Total long-term liabilities

1,883

2,177

1,883

2,177

Total liabilities

3,514

3,729

—

—

33

12

22
243,452
(15,603)
115,646

42
242,493
(15,603)
72,525

Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, par value $0.001; 10,000,000 shares authorized at September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018 and no shares issued and
outstanding
Class A common stock, par value $0.001; 400,000,000 shares authorized, 32,597,736 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2019, and
11,950,000 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2018
Class B common stock, par value 0.001; 100,000,000 shares authorized, 22,106,961 shares issued and 19,184,009 shares outstanding at
September 30, 2019, and 42,387,571 issued and 39,464,619 outstanding at September 30, 2018

Additional paid-in capital
Treasury stock, at cost, 2,922,952 shares of Class B common stock, par value $0.001

Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity

343,550

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

See note to condensed financial statements of parent company.
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CONSTRUCTION PARTNERS, INC.
PARENT COMPANY ONLY
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
For the Fiscal Year Ended
September 30,
2019
Equity in net income of subsidiaries
Equity-based compensation expense
General and administrative expenses
Interest income, net
Income before provision for income taxes

$

2018

45,631
(957)
(3,369)
373

$

41,678
1,443

Income tax benefit
Net income
Net income per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

65

49,070
1,721

$

43,121

$

50,791

$
$

0.84
0.84

$

1.11

51,421,159
51,427,220

See note to condensed financial statements of parent company.

51,515
(975)
(1,542)
72

1.11
45,605,845
45,919,648
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CONSTRUCTION PARTNERS, INC.
PARENT COMPANY ONLY
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
For the Fiscal Year Ended
September 30,
2019
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:
Amortization of deferred debt issuance costs
Equity-based compensation expense
Equity in net income of subsidiaries
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Other current assets
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

$

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Investment in subsidiary
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Change in amounts due to (from) subsidiaries, net
Payment of treasury stock purchase obligation
Proceeds from initial public offering of Class A common stock, net of offering costs
Proceeds from sale of stock
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of period
End of period

2018

43,121

$

6
957
(45,631)

6
975
(51,515)

675
1,049

969
(3,369)

177

(2,143)

(475)
(19,703)

(131)
(34,155)

(20,178)

(34,286)

(1,175)
(569)
—
3

(6,994)
(2,569)
98,009
5

(1,741)

88,451

(21,742)

52,022

53,352
$

50,791

31,610

1,330
$

53,352

See note to condensed financial statements of parent company.
Note to Condensed Financial Statements of Parent Company
These condensed parent company-only financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Rule 12-04, Schedule I of Regulation S-X, as the restricted net assets of the
subsidiaries of Construction Partners, Inc. (as defined in Rule 4-08(e)(3) of Regulation S-X) exceed 25% of the consolidated net assets of the Company. The ability of
Construction Partners, Inc.’s operating subsidiaries to pay dividends is restricted by the terms of the credit facilities described in Note 11 - Debt.
These condensed parent company-only financial statements have been prepared using the same accounting principles and policies described in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements, with the exception that the parent company accounts for its subsidiaries using the equity method. These condensed parent company-only financial
statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto.

Note 22 - Subsequent Events
Amendments to BBVA Credit Agreement
On October 1, 2019, the Company and each of its wholly owned subsidiaries entered into an amendment to the BBVA Credit Agreement that, among other things, (i) added
Bank of America, N.A. as a party in connection with the assignment by BBVA to Bank of America of certain of its lending obligations under the BBVA Credit Agreement; (ii)
increased the aggregate amount of the Term Loan commitment by the lenders of $10,000,000, to $54,700,000; (iii) provided for a Term Loan advance to the Company in the
aggregate amount of $10,000,000, with the proceeds to be used solely for the purpose of buying out certain operating lease obligations; and (iv) extended the maturity date for
the outstanding term loan advances from July 1, 2022 to October 1, 2024. In order to hedge
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against the risk of changes in interest rates on this advance, on October 1, 2019, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of
$5.9 million, under which the Company pays a fixed percentage rate of 1.58% and receives a credit based on the applicable LIBOR rate.
On October 18, 2019, the parties further amended the BBVA Credit Agreement to correct a clerical error that had previously transposed the formulas for calculating annual
maintenance fees and issuance fees for letters of credit. As a result of this amendment, (i) the annual maintenance fee for each letter of credit is the greater of $600 or the
applicable letter of credit fee rate of the aggregate average daily undrawn amount, and (ii) the fee for issuing each letter of credit is equal to the product obtained by multiplying
the face amount of such letter of credit by 0.20%.
Florida Acquisition
On October 1, 2019, a subsidiary of the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of an HMA manufacturing plant and paving company located in Palm City, Florida.
The acquired business is expected to benefit from geographic synergies resulting from its proximity to the Company’s current operations in central Florida, including its
Okeechobee, Florida operation, which the Company acquired in February 2019. The acquisition will be accounted for as a business combination in accordance with ASC 805.
The purchase price of $17.3 million was paid from cash on hand at closing.
The provisional allocation of the purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based on their estimated fair values at the acquisition date, was determined in
accordance with the methodology described under Fair Value Measurements above in Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies. The purchase price exceeding the preliminary
net fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed will be recorded as goodwill in the amount of $6.9 million, which is deductible for income tax purposes.
Goodwill primarily represents the assembled workforce and synergies expected to result from the acquisition. Upon finalizing the accounting for this transaction, management
expects to ascribe value to other identifiable intangible assets, including customer relationships and customer backlog, which will reduce the preliminary amount allocated to
goodwill.
Secondary Offering — Exercise of Over-Allotment Option
On October 21, 2019, the underwriters of the Secondary Offering of the Company’s Class A common stock described above in Note 12 - Equity exercised their option to
purchase from the Selling Stockholders a total of 750,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock at a price of $14.25 per share, before selling commissions and
discounts. The Company did not receive any proceeds from the Secondary Offering or the underwriters’ exercise of their over-allotment option.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of September 30, 2019. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that, as of September 30, 2019, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that material information that we are required
to disclose in reports that we file under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC rules and forms and that
information that we are required to disclose in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d -15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, our management conducted
an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013)” issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on that evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting
was effective as of September 30, 2019.
Attestation Report of Registered Public Accounting Firm
We are an emerging growth company, as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act, and therefore are not required to provide an attestation report of our registered public
accounting firm with respect to our internal control over financial reporting.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
We have concluded that the material weaknesses identified by management in connection with the preparation of financial statements for prior periods, including those related
to information technology general controls, closing and financial reporting processes, and accounting for significant and unusual transactions, have been remediated. Other than
the changes implemented to remediate such material weaknesses, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended
September 30, 2019 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9B. Other Information.
None.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the proxy statement for the 2020 annual meeting of stockholders of the Company to be filed by the
Company with the SEC under the Exchange Act (the “2020 Proxy Statement”). We intend to file the 2020 Proxy Statement on or about January 23, 2020, but in any event
within 120 days after September 30, 2019.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.
The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the 2020 Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the 2020 Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the 2020 Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.
The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the 2020 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a)

Documents Filed as Part of this Report.
(1)

Financial Statements.

The consolidated financial statements of Construction Partners, Inc. and its subsidiaries and the parent-only financial statements of Construction Partners, Inc. included
herein at Item 8 are as follows:
•

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm — RSM US LLP

•

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2019 and 2018

•

Consolidated Statements of Income for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018

•

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018

•

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018

•

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018

•

Parent Company Only Condensed Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2019 and 2018

•

Parent Company Only Condensed Statements of Income for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018

•

Parent Company Only Condensed Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018

•

Note to Condensed Financial Statements of Parent Company

(2)

Financial Statement Schedules.

The financial statement schedules required to be included pursuant to this Item are not included herein because they are not applicable or the required information is
shown in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto, which are incorporated by reference at Item 15(a)(1) above.
(3)

Exhibits.

The exhibits to this report are listed in the exhibit index below.
(b)

Description of Exhibits.
The following exhibits are filed or furnished with this report, as applicable, or incorporated by reference:
Exhibit
Number
3.1

Description
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Construction Partners, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Amendment No. 2 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed on April 27, 2018)

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Construction Partners, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Amendment No. 2 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed on April 27, 2018)

4.1

Form of Class A Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 333-224174) filed on April 23, 2018)

4.2

Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 8, 2007, by and among Construction Partners, Inc. (f/k/a SunTx CPI Growth Company, Inc.) and certain
security holders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed on April
6, 2018)

4.3*
10.1†

Description of Construction Partners, Inc.’s Class A common stock
Form of Indemnification Agreement, by and between Construction Partners, Inc. and each of its directors and executive officers (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed on April 23, 2018)
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Exhibit
Number
10.2

Description
Credit Agreement, dated June 30, 2017, by and among Construction Partners Holdings, Inc. (f/k/a Construction Partners, Inc.), Wiregrass Construction
Company, Inc., Fred Smith Construction, Inc., FSC II, LLC, C.W. Roberts Contracting, Incorporated and Everett Dykes Grassing Co., Inc., as
Borrowers, the financial institutions party thereto from time to time, and Compass Bank, as Agent, Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed on April 6, 2018)

10.2A

Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated June 30, 2017, by and among Construction Partners Holdings, Inc. (f/k/a Construction Partners, Inc.),
Wiregrass Construction Company, Inc., Fred Smith Construction, Inc., FSC II, LLC, C.W. Roberts Contracting, Incorporated, and Everett Dykes
Grassing Co., Inc., as Borrowers, Compass Bank, as Agent for Lenders and as a Lender and Issuing Bank, and ServisFirst Bank, as a Lender
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed on April 6, 2018)

10.2B

Loan Modification Agreement and Amendment to Loan Documents, dated November 14, 2017, by and among Construction Partners Holdings, Inc.
(f/k/a Construction Partners, Inc.), Wiregrass Construction Company, Inc., Fred Smith Construction, Inc., FSC II, LLC, C.W. Roberts Contracting,
Incorporated, and Everett Dykes Grassing Co., Inc., as Borrowers, Construction Partners, Inc. (f/k/a SunTx CPI Growth Company, Inc.), as Guarantor,
Compass Bank, as Agent for Lenders and as a Lender and Issuing Bank, and ServisFirst Bank, as a Lender (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4
to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed on April 6, 2018)

10.2C

Loan Modification Agreement and Amendment to Loan Documents, dated December 31, 2017, by and among Construction Partners Holdings, Inc.
(f/k/a Construction Partners, Inc.), Wiregrass Construction Company, Inc., Fred Smith Construction, Inc., FSC II, LLC, C.W. Roberts Contracting,
Incorporated, and Everett Dykes Grassing Co., Inc., as Borrowers, Construction Partners, Inc. (f/k/a SunTx CPI Growth Company, Inc.), as Guarantor,
Compass Bank, as Agent for Lenders and as a Lender and Issuing Bank, and ServisFirst Bank, as a Lender (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5
to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed on April 6, 2018)

10.2D

Loan Modification Agreement and Amendment to Loan Documents, dated May 15, 2018, by and among Construction Partners Holdings, Inc. (f/k/a
Construction Partners, Inc.), Wiregrass Construction Company, Inc., Fred Smith Construction, Inc., FSC II, LLC, C.W. Roberts Contracting,
Incorporated, Everett Dykes Grassing Co., Inc. and The Scruggs Company, as Borrowers, Construction Partners, Inc. (f/k/a SunTx CPI Growth
Company, Inc.), as Guarantor, Compass Bank, as Agent for Lenders and as a Lender and Issuing Bank, and ServisFirst Bank, as a Lender
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38479) filed on May 25, 2018)

10.2E

Loan Modification Agreement and Amendment to Loan Documents, dated August 30, 2019, by and among Construction Partners Holdings, Inc. (f/k/a
Construction Partners, Inc.), Wiregrass Construction Company, Inc., Fred Smith Construction, Inc., FSC II, LLC, C.W. Roberts Contracting,
Incorporated, Everett Dykes Grassing Co., Inc. and The Scruggs Company, as Borrowers, Construction Partners, Inc. (f/k/a SunTx CPI Growth
Company, Inc.), as Guarantor, and BBVA USA (f/k/a Compass Bank), as Agent, Lender and Issuing Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6
to the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38479) filed on August 30, 2019)
Loan Modification Agreement and Amendment to Loan Documents, dated October 1, 2019, by and among Construction Partners Holdings, Inc. (f/k/a
Construction Partners, Inc.), Wiregrass Construction Company, Inc., Fred Smith Construction, Inc., FSC II, LLC, C.W. Roberts Contracting,
Incorporated, Everett Dykes Grassing Co., Inc. and The Scruggs Company, as Borrowers, Construction Partners, Inc. (f/k/a SunTx CPI Growth
Company, Inc.), as Guarantor, BBVA USA (f/k/a Compass Bank), as Agent for the Lenders and as a Lender and Issuing Bank, and Bank of America,
N.A,, as a Lender (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38479) filed on October 1, 2019)
Loan Modification Agreement and Amendment to Loan Documents, dated October 18, 2019, by and among Construction Partners Holdings, Inc. (f/k/a
Construction Partners, Inc.), Wiregrass Construction Company, Inc., Fred Smith Construction, Inc., FSC II, LLC, C.W. Roberts Contracting,
Incorporated, Everett Dykes Grassing Co., Inc. and The Scruggs Company, as Borrowers, Construction Partners, Inc. (f/k/a SunTx CPI Growth
Company, Inc.), as Guarantor, BBVA USA (f/k/a Compass Bank), as Agent for the Lenders and as a Lender and Issuing Bank, and Bank of America,
N.A., as a Lender (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38479) filed on October 21, 2019)
Construction Partners, Inc. (f/k/a SunTx CPI Growth Company, Inc.) 2016 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of Option Agreement, Option Grant
Notice, Restricted Stock Award Agreement and Restricted Stock Award Grant Notice thereunder (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed on April 6, 2018)

10.2F

10.2G

10.3†

10.4†

Construction Partners, Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement
on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed on April 23, 2018)

10.4A†

First Amendment to the Construction Partners, Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q (File No. 001-38479) filed on August 9, 2019)
Form of Stock Option Award under the Construction Partners, Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed on April 6, 2018)

10.4B†
10.4C†

Form of Restricted Stock Award under the Construction Partners, Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed on April 6, 2018)
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Exhibit
Number
10.4D†

Description
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award under the Construction Partners, Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to
the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed on April 6, 2018)

10.4E†

Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Award (Stock-Settled) under the Construction Partners, Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed on April 6, 2018)

10.4F†

Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Award (Cash-Settled) under the Construction Partners, Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed on April 6, 2018)

10.5

Management Services Agreement, dated October 1, 2006, by and between Construction Partners Holdings, Inc. (f/k/a Construction Partners, Inc.) and
SunTx Capital Management Corp. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed
on April 6, 2018)

10.5A

Amendment to Management Services Agreement, dated October 1, 2013, by and between Construction Partners Holdings, Inc. (f/k/a Construction
Partners, Inc.) and SunTx Capital Management Corp. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No.
333-224174) filed on April 6, 2018)

10.6†

Employment and Non-Compete Agreement, effective as of July 1, 2014, by and between FSC II, LLC and F. Julius Smith III (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed on April 6, 2018)

10.7†

Form of Construction Partners, Inc. (f/k/a SunTx CPI Growth Company, Inc.) Non-Plan Stock Option Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.16 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed on April 6, 2018)

10.7A†
10.8†
10.8A†
14.1

Form of Construction Partners, Inc. (f/k/a SunTx CPI Growth Company, Inc.) First Amendment to Non-Plan Stock Option Award Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed on April 6, 2018)
Option Agreement, dated March 7, 2017, between Construction Partners, Inc. (f/k/a SunTx CPI Growth Company, Inc.) and F. Julius Smith, III
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-224174) filed on April 6, 2018)
First Amendment to Option Agreement, dated August 30, 2019, between Construction Partners, Inc. (f/k/a SunTx CPI Growth Company, Inc.) and F.
Julius Smith, III (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38479) filed on August 30, 2019)
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-38479) filed on
December 14, 2018)

21.1*

List of Significant Subsidiaries of Construction Partners, Inc.

23.1*

Consent of RSM US LLP

31.1*

Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended

31.2*

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

32.1**

Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

32.2**

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

95.1*

Mine Safety Disclosures

101.INS*
101.SCH*
101.CAL*
101.DEF*
101.LAB*
101.PRE*
104*
†
*
**

Inline XBRL Instance Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)
Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.
Filed herewith.
Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on this 13th day of December, 2019.
CONSTRUCTION PARTNERS, INC.
By:

/s/ Charles E. Owens
Charles E. Owens
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
and on the dates indicated.
Name and Signature
/s/ Charles E. Owens

Title

Date

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

December 13, 2019

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

December 13, 2019

Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

December 13, 2019

Todd K. Andrews
/s/ Ned N. Fleming, III

Executive Chairman of the Board and Directors

December 13, 2019

Director

December 13, 2019

Director

December 13, 2019

Director

December 13, 2019

Director

December 13, 2019

Director

December 13, 2019

Charles E. Owens
/s/ R. Alan Palmer
R. Alan Palmer
/s/ Todd K. Andrews

Ned N. Fleming, III
/s/ Craig Jennings
Craig Jennings
/s/ Mark R. Matteson
Mark R. Matteson
/s/ Michael H. McKay
Michael H. McKay
/s/ Stefan L. Shaffer
Stefan L. Shaffer
/s/ Noreen E. Skelly
Noreen E. Skelly
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Exhibit 4.3
DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
As of September 30, 2019, Construction Partners, Inc. (the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our”) had one class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended: our Class A common stock, $0.001 par value per share (“Class A Common Stock”).
Description of Capital Stock
The following is a description of the material terms of our capital stock. It does not purport to be complete and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by our
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the “Certificate of Incorporation”), our Amended and Restated Bylaws, or any supplement or amendment thereto (the
“Bylaws”), and the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (“DGCL”). Copies of the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws have been filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission as Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2, respectively, to our Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Authorized Capital Stock
Under the Certificate of Incorporation, our authorized capital stock consists of:
•

400,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock;

•

100,000,000 shares of Class B common stock, par value $0.001 per share (“Class B Common Stock”); and

•

10,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share.

As of September 30, 2019, we had 32,597,736 shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding, 19,184,009 shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding and no shares of
undesignated preferred stock issued or outstanding. As of September 30, 2019, we had reserved approximately 1,707,466 million additional shares of Class A Common Stock
for issuance under our various stock and compensation incentive plans. Unless our board of directors determines otherwise, we will issue all shares of our capital stock in
uncertificated form.
Class A Common Stock
Dividend Rights
The holders of Class A Common Stock are entitled to receive dividends at the same rate if, as and when declared by our board of directors, out of our legally available
assets, in cash, property, shares of our common stock or other securities, after the payment of dividends required to be paid on our outstanding preferred stock, if any.
Voting Rights
The holders of Class A Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share. The holders of Class B Common Stock are entitled to ten votes per share. The holders of
Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock vote together as a single class on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders, including the election of directors, unless
otherwise required by applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation or the Bylaws. The holders of Class A Common Stock do not have cumulative voting rights in the election
of directors.

Liquidation Rights
Upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up or upon a sale or disposition of all or substantially all of our assets, the assets legally available for distribution to our
stockholders will be distributable ratably among the holders of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock treated as a single class, subject to the prior satisfaction of
all outstanding debts and other liabilities and the preferential rights and liquidation preferences to be paid on our outstanding preferred stock, if any.
Modification of Rights
The Certificate of Incorporation provides that we will not amend, alter, repeal or waive certain provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, or adopt any provision
inconsistent therewith or effect any reclassification of the shares of Class A Common Stock, unless such action is first approved by the affirmative vote or written consent of the
holders of a majority of the then-outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock, voting as a separate class, and, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the holders of Class A
Common Stock will have no right to vote thereon. However, this provision is subject to any other vote required by applicable law, and under Section 242(b)(2) of the DGCL,
holders of Class A Common Stock would be entitled to vote as a class upon a proposed action, whether or not entitled to vote by the Certificate of Incorporation, if such action
would increase or decrease the par value of Class A Common Stock, or alter or change the powers, preferences or special rights thereof so as to affect them adversely.
Other Matters
The holders of Class A Common Stock have no sinking fund or redemption provisions, or conversion or preemptive rights. All outstanding shares of Class A Common
Stock are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. Class A Common Stock is not convertible into any other shares of our capital stock.
Exchange Listing
The Class A Common Stock is listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC under the symbol “ROAD.”
Preferred Stock
The Certificate of Incorporation authorizes our board of directors to establish one or more series of preferred stock. Unless required by law or by any rules adopted by
The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC, these authorized shares of preferred stock will be available for issuance without further action by our stockholders. Our board of directors is
able to determine, with respect to any series of preferred stock, the terms and rights of such series, including dividend rights, voting rights, conversion rights, terms of
redemption, liquidation rights and any other relative rights, powers and preferences, and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof, of such series.
We could issue a series of preferred stock that, depending on its terms, may impede or discourage an acquisition attempt or other transaction that some, or a majority,
of our stockholders might believe to be in their best interests or in which they might receive a premium over the market price for their shares of Class A Common Stock.
Additionally, the issuance of preferred stock may adversely affect the holders of Class A Common Stock by restricting dividends on Class A Common Stock, diluting the
voting power of Class A Common Stock or subordinating the liquidation rights of Class A Common Stock. As a result of these or other factors, the issuance of preferred stock
could have an adverse impact on the market price of our Class A Common Stock.
Certain Provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws
The Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Company contain certain provisions that may delay, defer or prevent a change in control of the Company.

Dual Class Structure
The Certificate of Incorporation provides for a dual class structure, under which each share of our Class A Common stock has one vote per share and each share of our
Class B Common Stock has ten votes per share.
Authorized but Unissued Capital Stock
The Certificate of Incorporation authorizes shares of Class A Common Stock, Class B Common Stock and preferred stock that are unissued and unreserved.
Classified Board
The Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws classify the Board of Directors into three classes of directors as nearly equal in number as possible, each of which will
serve for three years, with one class of directors being elected each year.
Removal of Directors; Vacancies
The Certificate of Incorporation provides that directors may be removed with or without cause upon the affirmative vote of a majority in voting power of all thenoutstanding shares of stock entitled to vote thereon, voting together as a single class; provided, however, that once no shares of our Class B Common Stock remain outstanding,
directors may only be removed for cause, and then only by the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66 2/3% in voting power of all the then-outstanding shares of stock entitled
to vote thereon, voting together as a single class. In addition, the Certificate of Incorporation provides that, subject to the rights granted to one or more series of preferred stock
then outstanding, if any, any vacancies on our board of directors may be filled only by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors, even if less than a quorum,
by a sole remaining director or by the stockholders; provided, however, that once no shares of our Class B Common Stock remain outstanding, any newly created directorship
on our board of directors that results from an increase in the number of directors and any vacancy occurring on our board of directors may only be filled by a majority of the
directors then in office, even if less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director and not by stockholders.
Special Meetings
The Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws provide that special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by the Chairman of the board of directors, Chief
Executive Officer, the board of directors or at the request of the holders of 25% of the Class B Common Stock. The Bylaws prohibit the conduct of any business at a special
meeting other than as specified in the notice for such meeting.
Advance Notice Requirement
The Bylaws establish advance notice procedures with respect to stockholder proposals and the nomination of candidates for election as directors, other than
nominations made by or at the direction of our board of directors or a committee thereof. In order for any matter to be “properly brought” before a meeting, a stockholder will
have to comply with advance notice requirements and provide us with certain information. Generally, to be timely, a stockholder’s notice must be received at our principal
executive offices not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the first anniversary date of the immediately preceding annual meeting of stockholders. The Bylaws also
specify requirements as to the form and content of a stockholder’s notice. The Bylaws allow the chairman of the meeting at a meeting of the stockholders to adopt rules and
regulations for the conduct of meetings that may have the effect of precluding the conduct of certain business at a meeting if such rules and regulations are not followed.

Business Combinations
The Certificate of Incorporation contains provisions providing that we may not engage in certain “business combinations” with any “interested stockholder” for a
three-year period following the time that such stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless:
•

prior to such time, our board of directors approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in such stockholder becoming an interested
stockholder;

•

upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in such stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, such stockholder owned at least 85% of our voting stock
outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding certain shares; or

•

at or subsequent to such time, the business combination is approved by our board of directors and by the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66 2/3% of our
outstanding voting stock that is not owned by such stockholder.

No Cumulative Voting
The Certificate of Incorporation does not authorize cumulative voting.
Limitation of Liability of Directors
The Certificate of Incorporation generally provides that, to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, no director shall be liable to the Company or its stockholders for
monetary damages for breach of certain fiduciary duties as a director. Under the DGCL, a director’s liability may not be eliminated:
•

for any breach(es) of the director’s duty of loyalty to us or to our stockholders;

•

for acts or omissions not in good faith or that involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;

•

for certain unlawful dividend payments or stock redemptions or repurchases; and

•

for any transaction from which the director derives an improper personal benefit.

•

The effect of this provision is to restrict the rights of the Company and its stockholders to recover monetary damages against a director for breach of certain fiduciary
duties as a director.

Supermajority Voting
The Certificate of Incorporation and the Bylaws provide that our board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter, amend, change, add to, rescind or repeal, in
whole or in part, the Bylaws without a stockholder vote in any matter. For as long as shares of our Class B Common Stock remain outstanding, any alteration, amendment,
change, addition, rescission or repeal of the Bylaws by our stockholders requires the affirmative vote of a majority in voting power of the outstanding shares of our stock present
in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote on such alteration, amendment, change, addition, rescission or repeal. Once no shares of our Class B Common Stock
remain outstanding, any alteration, amendment, change, addition, rescission or repeal of the Bylaws by our stockholders requires the affirmative vote of the holders of at least
66 2/3% in voting power of all the then-outstanding shares of our stock entitled to vote thereon, voting together as a single class.
The Certificate of Incorporation provides that once no shares of our Class B common stock remain outstanding, certain provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation
may be altered, amended, changed, added to, rescinded or repealed only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 66 2/3% in voting power of all the then-outstanding
shares of our stock entitled to vote thereon, voting together as a single class.

Exhibit 21.1
Construction Partners, Inc.
List of Subsidiaries
Subsidiary

Jurisdiction of Incorporation/Formation

Construction Partners Holdings, Inc.
C.W. Roberts Contracting, Inc.
Everett Dykes Grassing Co., Inc.
Fred Smith Construction, Inc.
FSC II, LLC
The Scruggs Company
Wiregrass Construction Company, Inc.

Delaware
Florida
Georgia
North Carolina
North Carolina
Georgia
Alabama

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (No. 333-224974) on Form S-8 and the Registration Statement (No. 333-232555) on Form S-3 of
Construction Partners, Inc. of our report dated December 13, 2019, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Construction Partners, Inc. and subsidiaries, appearing in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Construction Partners, Inc. for the year ended September 30, 2019.

/s/ RSM US LLP

Birmingham, Alabama
December 13, 2019

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Charles E. Owens, certify that:
1.
2.
3.
4.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Construction Partners, Inc. for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019;
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a)

5.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: December 13, 2019

By:

/s/ Charles E. Owens
Charles E. Owens
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, R. Alan Palmer, certify that:
1.
2.
3.
4.

5.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Construction Partners, Inc. for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019;
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: December 13, 2019

By:

/s/ R. Alan Palmer
R. Alan Palmer
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Construction Partners, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Charles E. Owens, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1)

the Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: December 13, 2019

By:

/s/ Charles E. Owens
Charles E. Owens
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Construction Partners, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, R. Alan Palmer, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1)

the Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: December 13, 2019

By:

/s/ R. Alan Palmer
R. Alan Palmer
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 95.1
Mine Safety Disclosures
The operation of our aggregates mines is subject to regulation by the federal Mine Safety and Health Administration (“MSHA”) under the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act
of 1977, 30 U.S.C. § 801 et seq. (the “Mine Act”). Set forth below is the required information regarding certain mining safety and health matters for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2019. Citations and orders may be contested and appealed, and in that process, may be reduced in severity and amount, and are sometimes dismissed. The table
below includes references to specific sections of the Mine Act.
The information in the table below is presented by mine, consistent with the manner in which we maintain safety and compliance information about our mining operations.

Mine Name / ID
Riverbend Sand / 09-01023
Montgomery Sand / 09-00737
Baldree Sand / 09-01166
Coosa / 01-03327
Skyline / 01-03158
Lambert / 01-03363
Hickory Bend / 01-03403
Allstate / 01-03406
Total

(A)
(B)
(C)
(D)
(E)
(F)
(G)
(H)

(A)

(B)

(C)

(D)

(E)

(F)

(G)

Section
104 S&S

Section
104(b)

Section
104(d)

Section
110(b)(2)

Section
107(a)

Proposed
Assessments

Fatalities

—
1
1
—
—
1
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

3

—

—

—

—

(H)
Pending
Legal
Action

$
$
$
$
$
$

—
242
561
788
363
846
118
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

2,918

—

—

The total number of violations of mandatory health or safety standards that could significantly and substantially contribute to the cause and effect of a coal or other
mine safety or health hazard under Section 104 of the Mine Act for which the operator received a citation from the MSHA.
The total number of orders issued under Section 104(b) of the Mine Act.
The total number of citations and orders for unwarrantable failure of the mine operator to comply with mandatory health or safety standards under Section 104(d) of the
Mine Act.
The total number of flagrant violations under Section 110(b)(2) of the Mine Act.
The total number of imminent danger orders issued under Section 107(a) of the Mine Act.
The total dollar value of proposed assessments from the MSHA under the Mine Act.
The total number of mining-related fatalities.
Any pending legal action before the Federal Mine Safety and Health Review Commission involving the applicable mine(s).

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, our aggregates mines did not receive any written notices of a pattern of violations, or the potential to have such a pattern of
violations, under Section 104(e) of the Mine Act.

